Investigation of prey ingestion and digestion in the ciliate predator *Tetrahymena pyriformis* and the impact on growth

Oliver Ga Tae Wong

A thesis submitted to Lancaster University in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree MSc (research) Biomedical Science (by research)



September 2017

Declaration

This dissertation is entirely my own work and has not been submitted in full or in part for the award of a higher degree at any other educational institution.

No sections of this thesis have been published.

Word count: 35,320 words

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people who contributed in some way to the work described in this thesis. First and foremost, I thank my academic advisor and supervisor Dr Jackie Parry for her support and patience, and also her contribution towards helping me developing the work and ideas for this dissertation. My thanks also extends to all that have supported me during my lab time, notably Janice Drinkall.

I would also like to thank all that are close to me. But most importantly my parents, David and Anita, for their unlimited support, and Louise for her love and patience. Thank you!

Table of Contents

Declaration		I
Acknowledge	ments	II
Table of Cont	tents	III
List of Figure	s	VII
List of Tables	;	IX
Abstract		1
Chapter 1.	Introduction	3
1.1. Prot	ists	3
1.1.1	Amoebae	4
1.1.2	Flagellates	5
1.1.3	Ciliates	6
1.2 Eco	logical significance	8
1.2.1	Microbial loop	8
1.2.2	Role in pathogenesis	. 10
1.3 Pha	gocytosis	. 13
1.3.1	Phagocytes in the immune system	. 13
1.3.1.1	Opsonised phagocytosis	. 14
1.3.1.2	2 Non-opsonised phagocytosis	. 16
1.3.2	Phagocytosis in protists	. 18
1.3.3	Factors that affect phagocytosis	. 20
1.4 Dige	estion	. 23
1.4.1	Vacuole passage time	. 23
1.4.2	Digestive vacuole (phagosome) maturation	. 24
1.4.2.1	Acidification and condensation (Phase-II)	. 25
1.4.2.2	2 Lysosomal fusion and digestion (Phase-III)	. 27
1.4.2.3	B Defecation competent (Phase-IV)	. 30
1.4.2.4	Membrane recycling	. 31
1.5 The	result of phagocytosis	. 32
1.6 Aim	S	. 33
Chapter 2.	Materials and methods	. 34
2.1. Prep	paration and maintenance of organisms/FLMs	. 34
2.1.1	Fluorescently-labelled microspheres (FLMs)	. 34
2.1.2	Routine maintenance of heterotrophic bacteria	. 34
2.1.3	Transforming bacteria to express the Red Fluorescing Protein (RFP)	. 36
2.1.4	Heat-killed-DTAF-stained heterotrophic bacteria ('Dead')	. 37
2.1.5	Live autotrophic bacteria ('Pico')	. 39

2.1.6 The ciliate Tetrahymena pyriformis	39
2.2. Counting cells/FLMs	40
2.2.1 Counting non-fluorescent bacteria	40
2.2.2 Counting fluorescent prey	40
2.2.3 Counting Tetrahymena pyriformis	41
2.2.4 Counting prey within Tetrahymena pyriformis digestive vacuoles	41
2.3. Particle sizing	42
2.3.1 FLM volumes	42
2.3.2 Bacterial biovolumes (Pico, RFP-bacteria and DTAF-stained bacteria)	42
2.4. Ingestion-only experiments	43
2.4.1 Ingestion at 2x10 ⁷ particles/ml	43
2.4.2 Ingestion at different bacterial concentrations	43
2.5. Pulse-chase experiments – ingestion and digestion	44
2.5.1 Experimental protocol	44
2.5.2 Parameter determination	44
2.5.2.1 Vacuole passage time (VPT)	44
2.5.2.2 Ingestion and egestion rates	45
2.5.2.3 Digestion rate and digestion period	46
2.6. Growth experiments	47
2.7. Statistics	48
2.7.1 T-test	48
2.7.2 Error	48
Chapter 3. Results	49
3.1. Red Fluorescent Protein (RFP) transformations	49
3.2. Digestive vacuole processing using pulse-chase experiments	51
3.3. Phase 1: Ingestion	53
3.3.1 Effect of prey biovolume on digestive vacuole formation and content	53
3.3.2 Effect of prey state on digestive vacuole formation and content	56
3.3.2.1 General overview of between-prey state analysis	56
3.3.2.2 Effect of bacterial strain within each prey state	57
3.3.2.2.1 FLMs	57
3.3.2.2.2 Picos	60
3.3.2.2.3 Live bacteria	61
3.3.2.2.4 Dead bacteria	63
3.3.2.3 Effect of bacterial concentration within each prey state	67
3.3.2.4 Effect of time on digestive vacuole formation and content	71
3.4. Phase 2: Prey digestion	74
3.4.1 Digestive period	74

3.4.2	3.4.2 Digestion Rates	
3.4.3	Effect of vacuole content on digestion	80
3.5. Gro	wth	
3.5.1	Effect of bacterial concentration and species/strain	85
3.5.2	Effect of bacterial prey state	87
3.5.3	Effect of digestion rate	88
Chapter 4.	Discussion	89
4.1. Ingest	ion of prey	90
4.1.1	Effect of prey biovolume	90
4.1.2	Effect of live bacterial type - heterotrophic vs autotrophic	93
4.1.3	Effect of prey species/strain	97
4.1.4	Effect of prey state - live vs dead vs inert	100
4.1.4.	1 Heat-killing bacterial cells	100
4.1.4.	2 Effect on digestive vacuole content	101
4.1	4.2.1 Receptor-mediated uptake of live cells	102
4.1	4.2.2 Receptor-mediated uptake of heat-killed cells	106
4.1	4.2.3 Non-specific-receptor-mediated uptake of inert particles	109
F	_Ms	109
L	ve and Dead Bacteria	111
4.1.4.	3 Effect on digestive vacuole formation rate	113
4.1.4.	4 Cross talk between proposed ingestion pathways	116
4.2 Dig	estion of prey	117
4.2.1	Phagosome maturation	117
4.2.2	Effect of prey species/strain	119
4.2.3	Effect of prey state – Live vs Dead prey	120
4.2.3.	1 Effect on total prey digestion and digestion rate	120
4.2.3.	2 Effect on digestion period	121
4.2.3.	3 Prey recognition within the digestive vacuole	123
4.3 Gro	wth	126
4.3.1	Effect of prey species/strain	126
4.3.2	Effect of prey state – Live vs Dead	126
4.3.3	Effect of prey biovolume	127
4.3.4	From digestion to division	127
4.4 Cor	nclusions	129
4.4.1	Ingestion conclusions	129
4.4.2	Digestion conclusions	130
4.4.3	Growth conclusions	131
Appendix A.	Media recipes	132

Appendix B.	5-([4,6-Dichlorotriazin-2-yl]amino) fluorescein (DTAF) staining	136
Appendix C.	Data and analysis	137
References		143

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 An interpretation of the 'microbial loop' described by Azam et al. (1983)
Figure 1.2 Two types of phagocytosis16
Figure 1.3 Cross section of the oral apparatus (OA) structure in Tetrahymena adapted from Smith (1982) 19
Figure 1.4 Feeding the ciliate Paramecium caudatum with yeast cells stained with different dyes27
Figure 2.1 Example of a graph produced by a pulse-chase experiment using indigestible FLMs
Figure 3.1 A typical pulse chase graph where T. pyriformis was fed fluorescently-labelled microspheres (FLMs)
at a concentration of 2x10 ⁷ particles/ml
Figure 3.2 Analysis of prev biovolume against each of the three parameters $(n=73)$: A) prev per cell. B) vacuoles
ner cell () nrev ner vacuale 54
Figure 3.3 Analysis of prev biovolume against prev/vacuale for the four prev states A) FLMs_B) Dead_C) Live
and D) Pico after 5 min of T puriformis feeding
Figure 3.4 Anglysis of prev biovolume against prev biovolume/vacuale after 5 min of T. pyriformis feeding 56
Figure 3.4 Analysis of prey biovolume against prey biovolume/vacuole after 5 min of 1. pyrijomns jecung
Figure 3.5 Prey per cell (A), vacuoles per cell and prey per vacuole (B) data jor 1. pyrijorniis jeeding jor 5 min on
FLMS
Figure 3.6 Prey per cell (A), vacuoles per cell and prey per vacuole (B) data for 1. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on
20 strains of Synechococcus (Picos)
Figure 3.7 Prey per cell data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on 20 strains of Synechococcus (Picos) with the
least favoured strain on the left and the most favoured strain on the right
Figure 3.8 Prey per cell (A), vacuoles per cell and prey per vacuole (B) data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on
12 live RFP-fluorescing strains of bacteria
Figure 3.9 Prey per vacuole data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on 12 strains of Live RFP-fluorescing
bacteria
Figure 3.10 Vacuoles per cell (A), prey per vacuole (B) and prey/cell (C) data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min
on four strains of bacteria in both Live and Dead states
Figure 3.11 Vacuale per cell data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on Live (REP) and Dead (DTAF) bacteria 66
Figure 3.12 Prev per vacuale data for T pyriformis feeding for 5 min on Dead (DTAE) bacteria 66
Figure 3.12 Previous cell (Δ) vacuales per cell (B) and prev/vacuale (C) data for T invitarmis feeding for 5 min
on various concentrations (cells/ml) of S aureus Live and Dead. Pico 3 and Pico 20
Figure 2.14 Changes in provided (A) vacuales (cell /P) and provided (C) when T, puriformis foods on S, guraus
(Live and Dead) and Dise strains 2. E and 20 (st Ev106 prov/ml) for 20 min
(Live and Dead) and Pico Strains 5, 5 and 20 (at 5x10 ⁻ prey/ini) Joi 20 min
Figure 3.15 Processing of algestible S. enterica (12694) RFP (12694 RFP by T. pyriformis overlaid by the
processing of indigestible FLMs
Figure 3.16 Example of how digestion rates (as prey/vacuole/min) were calculated for Salmonella enterica
(12694) RFP using the linear decline in prey/vacuole over time between 6.5 min and the end of the digestive
period76
Figure 3.17 Three ways 'digestion' can be presented: (A) as prey/vac/min; (B) as μ m ³ /vac/min; (C) as % loss of
prey/vacuole/min
Figure 3.18. Digestion rates for 12 Live RFP bacteria
Figure 3.19 Total digestion (%) in the digestive period against prey/vacuole for T. pyriformis when fed (A) Live
prey or (B) Live and Dead prey; total digestion (%) in the digestive period against biovolume of prey/vacuole for
T. pyriformis when fed (C) Live prey; or (D) Live and Dead prey.
Figure 3.20. Digestion rate (%/cell/min) in the digestive period against prev/vacuole for T. pyriformis when fed
(A) Live prev or (B) Live and Dead prev: diaestion rate (%/cell/min) in the diaestive period against biovolume of
rev/vacuole for T pyriformis when fed (C) Live prev: or (D) Live and Dead prev 82
Figure 3.21. Biovolume of prev in digestive vacuales us biovolume of enclosed prev digested for both Live and
Dend nrow
Deux prey
rigure 5.22. Example of now growth rates were calculated for Pseudomonas deruginosa KFP using the linear
Increase in Ln ceiis/mi over time
Figure 3.23. Specific growth rates for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on Live bacteria at an initial prey
concentration of 2x10' cells/ml

Figure 3.25 Specific growth rates for T. pyriformis feeding on four strains of bacteria in both Live and Dead states
Figure 3.26 Digestion rates against (A) specific growth rates and biovolume of enclosed prey digested against specific growth rates (B) for T. pyriformis feeding on 12 Live prey at 2x10 ⁷ cells/ml in both digestion and growth experiments
Figure 4.1 Data from Gonzalez et al. (1990b) showing the relationship between bacterial biovolume and clearance rates for (A) flagellates and (B) ciliates
cell/min for 5 minutes
Figure C.2. Double-reciprocal plot used to find Ks (-y intercept) and Vmax (Slope) of prey/vac for five prey 141

Figure C.3. Regression analysis of specific growth rates against (A) digestion rates, (B) prey biovolume, (C) total digestion, (D) digestive vacuole biovolume when T. pyriformis was fed live bacterial prey at 2x10⁷ cells/ml...142

List of Tables

		~	
	4		
	ı		
	I		
1	I		

Table 1.1 Receptors involved in opsonic and non-opsonic phagocytosis in immune cells. 14
Table 1.2 The four phases of Paramecium multimicronucleatum digestive vacuole (DV) processing suggested by
Fok et al. (1982)
Table 1.3 Colour of stained yeast cells at different pH. 26
Table 2.1 Fluorescently-labelled microspheres (Fluoresbrite™ Polyscience Inc.) used in this study
Table 2.2 Heterotrophic bacterial strains used in this study together with their source, incubation temperature
and any antibiotic additions to the Lysogeny Bertani agar (LB) (see Appendix A)
Table 2.3 Heterotrophic bacterial strains heat-killed and DTAF-stained together with their source and cell
biovolumes after staining (see Section 2.3.2)
Table 2.4 Synechococcus strains used in this study together with their source, strain, laboratory code and cell
biovolume (see Section 2.3.2)
Table 3.1 Antibiotic susceptibility profiles of all bacterial strains involved in transformation experiments
Table 3.2 Antibiotic sensitivity profile of recipient Enterobacter cloacae and red fluorescent protein (RFP)
expressing Enterobacter cloacae
Table 3.3 FLM ingestion rates, vacuole formation rates, FLM egestion rates and vacuole egestion rates for
Tetrahymena pyriformis when fed 0.49μm diameter indigestible FLMs at 2x10 ⁷ particles/ml
Table 3.4 Mean biovolumes of the four prey states (FLM, Pico, Live and Dead)
Table 3.5 The effect of four prey states (FLM, Dead, Live and Pico) on prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole
Table 3.6 Mean values of prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole at maximum and at 2x10 ⁷ prey/ml when T.
pyriformis feeds for 5 min on S. aureus Live and Dead, Pico 3 and Pico 20.
Table 3.7 Digestion periods of 12 Live and 7 Dead prey when fed to T. pyriformis at a concentration of 2x10 ⁷
cells/ml
Table 3.8 Specific growth rates of twelve Live and seven Dead bacterial prey when fed to T. pyriformis at the
concentration of 2x10 ⁷ or 2x10 ⁸ cells/ml
Table C.1. All prey used in ingestion experiments together with their state, source and strain
Table C.2. Data and analysis of four prey states when fed to T. pyriformis for 5 min: live and indigestible (Pico),
live and digestible (Live), dead and digestible (Dead) and inert and (FLM) for four parameters: prey per cell
(P/C), vacuoles per cell (V/C), prey per vacuole (P/V) and bio-volume. A) Raw data for 77 prey. B) Mean,
standard deviation (SD) and standard error of the mean (SEM) for each of the prey states and each parameter.
<i>C)</i> T-test results (P values) for the four parameters between each of the four prey states
Table C.3. Maximum and Ks (cells/ml) values for vacuoles/cell, prey/cell and ingestion rate (prey/cell/min)
when T. pyriformis feeds for 5 min on Live and Dead S. aureus, Pico 3 and Pico 20

Abstract

This study evaluated the effect of four prey states on ingestion, digestive vacuole (DV) formation, digestion and growth in the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. The prey included several strains of live RFP-expressing heterotrophic bacteria (Live), heatkilled-DTAF-stained heterotrophic bacteria (Dead), live autotrophic Synechococcus species (Pico) together with fluorescently-labelled microspheres (FLMs). Prey biovolume did not affect ingestion rates over the 5 minute period tested, therefore the effect of the different prey states could be directly compared. Live heterotrophic bacteria were able to quickly upregulate DV formation rate; something not demonstrated by any other prey. All prey, except FLMs, showed controlled vacuole filling over a 20 minute period whereby new DVs contained an equivalent number of prey to those in older vacuoles. Live heterotrophic and autotrophic prey yielded a significantly lower maximum number of prey/vacuole compared to Dead cells, and whereas significant differences in prey/vacuole between bacterial species were discerned for Dead species, no such differences were evident for Live species. It was hypothesised that ingestion of prey is receptor-mediated and that the predominant pathway into the ciliate for Live prey is the lectin-receptor-based route, and that for inert prey is the non-specific-receptor-mediated route, with a yet unidentified route for Dead prey.

Using pulse-chase experiments, the digestion of Live and Dead heterotrophic bacteria were found to be equivalent, i.e. *ca.* 50% of ingested cells within a DV were digested. There was however a very strong relationship (for both prey states) between biovolume of prey in the vacuole and the total biovolume of prey digested in that vacuole implying that larger prey cells might lead to higher ciliate specific growth rates. This was not found to be the case. No relationship between ciliate specific growth rate was discerned with prey biovolume, or even digestion rates, as % prey/vacuole/min over the digestion period (where there is a linear decline in prey due to digestion). The

digestion period (DP) was considerably shorted with Dead cells and it was hypothesised that, due to an incomplete suite of ligands, DVs did not go through the complete sequence of fusion events with lysosomes.

Digestion of prey had little effect on ciliate growth rates. However there was no obvious relationship between growth rate and any parameter tested. This suggests that digestion and growth are too far removed with regards to cellular processes.

In conclusion, the findings suggest that there are two prey recognition systems in *T*. *pyriformis*, one which recognised prey particles and leads to ingestion, and a second, present in the DV, which recognises the type of prey enclosed within it and leads to digestion behavioural changes.

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Protists

Protists are a group of unicellular eukaryotic organisms that are diverse, both morphologically and physiologically, with cell sizes that are extremely variable and can range from 1 to 5000µm. Some have 'animal-like' behaviours such as motility and predation (heterotrophs) playing an important role in food-web dynamics and nutrient recycling, while others exhibit the fundamental plant characteristic of autotrophism. Protists are ubiquitous worldwide and can be found in even the most physically or chemically extreme habitats, for example the low temperatures of lakes in Antarctica (Vincent and James, 1996, Laybourn-Parry et al., 1997) and in the extremely high temperatures of hot springs (Uyemura, 1936, Dombrowski, 1961).

The classification of protists has previously been problematic due to identification errors, rigid classification criteria and ambiguous characteristics amongst other issues (Adl et al., 2005, 2007). Modern methodologies such as the use of molecular data and phylogenomic approaches have vastly improved the knowledge of the relationships among lineages within the protists (Restrepo et al., 2016). This has greatly improved the classification and provided phylogenetic trees detailing the evolution history of protists (Restrepo et al., 2016).

There are more than 60,000 known protist species, although the estimated potential number of species is much higher (Adl et al., 2007, Hogg, 2013), many of which have been of interest to researchers and have long served as model organisms in laboratories. This is because, amongst other reasons, they are small and inexpensive to cultivate in large numbers, have short generation times, are easily manipulated in experiments and are genetically stable over many generations (Montagnes et al., 2012). In addition, many research interests focus on disease-causing protists that are exclusively parasitic. For example, trypanosomiasis (sleeping sickness) causing

parasitic flagellates *Trypanosoma brucei gambiense* and *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense* (Welburn et al., 2001); amoebic dysentery causing *Entamoeba histolytica* (Gonzalez-Ruiz et al., 1994); and the balantidiasis causing ciliate *Balantidium coli* (Poudyal et al., 2011).

Free-living heterotrophic protists, for ease, can however be divided into three groups based on their mode of motility; amoebae, flagellates and ciliates.

1.1.1 Amoebae

Amoebae have the most diverse cell size and can range from 40µm (e.g. *Vahlkampfia caledonica*) to 5000 µm (e.g. *Pelomyxa palustris*) (Anderson et al., 1997, Chistyakova and Frolov, 2011). They are known for having pseudopodia which are used for locomotion and for feeding by forming digestive vacuoles (DVs) around their prey (Laybourn-Parry, 1984). Even so, pseudopodia of different amoebae can be highly diverse. Depending on whether they have a skeletal structure or not, amoebae are crudely divided into two groups: the naked amoebae and the testate amoebae. Naked amoebae lack any form of exoskeleton whereas testate amoebae retain a shell-like exoskeleton with a single chamber and a single opening. It may comprise many different materials, including calcium, chitin, silicon dioxide and agglutinated materials like small particles of sand (Anderson, 1987).

Amoebae are major grazers of bacterial biofilms due to their limited ability to feed when not attached to a surface (Pickup et al., 2007a). Furthermore, amoebae are able to encourage the formation of biofilms by attaching to surfaces and secreting organic nutrients that bacteria can utilise (Khan and Panjwani, 2000), in turn, creating a perfect feeding ground for themselves. If attached to large biofilm aggregates that have broken off the surface, they would then be able to translocate and feed in more different environments including drinking water (Hoffmann and Michel, 2001), swimming pools (Rivera et al., 1993) and hospital water networks (Rohr et al., 1998). Biofilms are notorious for harbouring pathogenic bacteria (e.g. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Vibrio*

cholera and *Legionella pneumophila*) (Hall-Stoodley and Stoodley, 2005, Gómez-Lus et al., 2013) and the presence of amoebae in such water sources suggests the presence of biofilms and therefore a potential risk to human health.

1.1.2 Flagellates

In older classifications, flagellated protozoa were grouped into the plant-like Phytomastigophorea and animal-like Zoomastigophorea. However these groups are known to be highly polyphyletic and members are placed in many different eukaryotic groups. This is because flagellates are a morphologically and physiologically diverse group with a cell size generally ranging from 5 to 20µm (Arndt and Mathes, 1991, Patterson, 1996). They are uninucleate and can be autotrophic (e.g. *Dunaliella* sp.), parasitic (e.g. *Trypanosoma*), symbiotic (e.g. termite gut flagellates) or free-living (e.g. *Cercomonas* sp.) (Schuster and Pollak, 1978, Biddanda and Pomeroy, 1988, Brune, 2014).

Flagellates have at least one, but can have up to eight, flagella for locomotion and food capturing (Sleigh, 1989, Patterson, 1996). The different modes of feeding include filter feeding (e.g. *Monosiga ovata*), direct interception (e.g. *Ochromonas* sp.) and raptorial feeding (e.g. *Rhynchomonas nasuta*) (Boenigk and Arndt, 2000a, 2000b). Flagellates employ different modes of locomotion including gliding and free-swimming forms, although some can be temporarily or permanently attached to a substrate which is a behaviour that has been shown to be advantageous in the feeding process (Christensen-Dalsgaard and Fenchel, 2003).

They appear in great numbers, often exceeding 1000 cells per ml at the surfaces of water columns, and they are major grazers of planktonic bacteria (Patterson et al., 1993), responsible for transferring significant amounts of nutrients from bacteria to higher trophic levels in the food web (Arndt et al., 2000).

1.1.3 Ciliates

Ciliates are the largest (over 7,000 identified species) and most complex group of protists with a large size range of 20-4000µm. Some species (e.g. *Stentor, Spirostomum* and *Bursaria truncatella*) that exceed 1 mm in length can be seen without a microscope (Applewhite and Morowitz, 1966, Corliss, 2013). As the name suggests, ciliates are characterised by their complex cortex covered by either simple cilia or compound ciliary structures. This orderly matrix of cilia is functionally similar to flagella and is involved in locomotion (by beating in coordination) as well as feeding. Ciliate are divided into two feeding groups, filter feeders (e.g. *Tetrahymena, Vorticella*) and diffusion feeders (*Podophrya*). In the former, cilia and ciliary structures near the cytostome ('mouth') are able to create feeding currents that direct prey towards the cytostome where prey can be ingested into DVs (Laybourn-Parry, 1984, Patterson, 1996, Hogg, 2013). Diffusion feeders rely on prey to swim towards them and stick to their feeding tentacles (Finlay and Esteban, 1998). Finally, both types of feeders have a cytoproct where undigested food is egested.

Ciliates show nuclear dimorphism where they possess one macronucleus that governs normal cell function and one or more micronuclei involved in replication of DNA during asexual reproduction (Herrick, 1994). Ciliates typically reproduce asexually by homothetogenic binary fission where the parent cell gives rise to two daughter cells by a fission plane that is transverse to the cell's long axis (i.e. anterior–posterior axis) (Foissner, 2010). However, they also have the ability to reproduce sexually by conjugation or autogamy (i.e. self-fertilization) (Lynn, 2008).

Ciliates have been showed to graze bacteria at quicker rates than flagellates (Sherr et al., 1991). In addition to this, and due to their small size, they (and flagellates) can have similar generation times to their prey. This allows them to adequately control bacterial populations in a range of environments and they are a very important

component of the food web (Berninger et al., 1991, Hobbie, 1994, Sherr and Sherr, 1994, Finlay and Esteban, 1998, Lischke et al., 2016).

1.2 Ecological significance

Protists are ubiquitous in aqueous and terrestrial environments, colonising natural and man-made habitats worldwide (Fenchel, 2013). Compared to multicellular organisms, these single cell organisms can readily evolve physiological and behavioural adaptations to the changing environments and cope with extreme physical, chemical and biological conditions, e.g. in highly polluted water treatment plants (Curds and Cockburn, 1970a, Curds and Cockburn, 1970b, Curds, 1973). They are also suggested to play a role in the decomposition of polluting agents of organic origin, given their role in bacterial grazing and the decomposition process (Ribblett et al., 2005).

The importance of protists in natural environments is due to their role as a link between bacteria and higher predators in the food chain, channelling large amounts of nutrients such as carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus to higher trophic levels through the microbial loop (Azam et al., 1983) (discussed further in Section 1.2.1).

Finally, the parasitic nature of some protists, as well as the ability to allow pathogenic bacteria to harbour within them, has caused significant interest in terms of the health of humans and indeed animals (discussed further in Section 1.2.2).

1.2.1 Microbial loop

Bacterial-grazing heterotrophic protists play a very important role in the microbial loop (Figure 1.1) where 10-50% of carbon is fixed by photosynthetic plankton being utilised by bacteria (Fuhrman and Azam, 1982). Protists prevent nutrients from being trapped at the microbial level and bridge the transfer of energy from prokaryotes up the food web (Azam et al., 1983). In addition, protists contribute to the microbial loop by promoting organic matter decomposition and increased rates of nutrient turnover. Due to a loss of CO₂ during respiration, they actively pump nitrogen and phosphorus out of the cells in the form of NH₄ and PO₄ to maintain a cellular C:N:P ratio of 50:10:1 (Sherr et al., 1983, Fagerbakke et al., 1996, Dolan, 1997). Along with the egestion of carbon

rich spent DVs, protists actively recycle nutrients as dissolved organic matter to the bacterial and phytoplankton communities (Johannes, 1964, Nagata and Kirchman, 1992, Dolan, 1997, Twining and Fisher, 2004).



Figure 1.1 An interpretation of the 'microbial loop' described by Azam et al. (1983). Black arrows represent the flow of energy up the food chain. Grey arrows represent the recycling of materials into dissolved organic matter (DOM), which is also secreted by phytoplankton, to be used by bacteria (Azam et al., 1983).

Protists are able to consume large amounts of bacteria, with reports of up to 80% bacterial production clearance (i.e. 80% of bacterial population growth is grazed) (Sherr et al., 1989). Grazing of bacteria and algae keeps them in a sustained growing state with a cell density below their optimum population concentration (carrying capacity). However, there is a lower prey threshold density below which protists cannot feed and this prevents these predators from completely eliminating their prey (Taylor, 1977, Sieburth, 1984, Iriberri et al., 1995).

Selective grazing of bacteria has been observed, where protists graze on preferred prey over others when presented with both (Andersson et al., 1986, Gonzalez et al., 1990b, Epstein and Shiaris, 1992, Šimek and Chrzanowski, 1992, Strom and Loukos, 1998, Thurman et al., 2010b). Even though the reasons as to why they present such

behaviour is unknown, selective grazing can cause profound effects on bacterial communities (Sherr et al., 1989, Strom and Loukos, 1998, Fu et al., 2003, Thurman et al., 2010b, Dopheide et al., 2011a) by changing bacterial morphology (Jürgens and Matz, 2002) and community composition (Hahn and Höfle, 2001, Matz and Jürgens, 2003).

Ciliates are estimated to be 20% of plankton biomass which allows high rates of bacteria grazing and also the potential to be an important food source for larger organisms (Berk et al., 1977). Indeed, in aquatic environments protists (in particular ciliates) are grazed on by rotifers (Arndt, 1993, Gilbert and Jack, 1993) and crustaceans, and are a significant element of their diet (Strachan, 1980). It has also been suggested that some copepods actively select ciliates as their food source and they can comprise *ca.* 30% of their daily carbon intake (Berk et al., 1977, Calbet and Saiz, 2005). In soil, protists are exposed to a number of other predators, including earthworms (Mieen, 1963, Bonkowski and Schaefer, 1997) and nematodes (Anderson et al., 1977, Dash et al., 1980).

1.2.2 Role in pathogenesis

Protists can directly play a significant role in human pathogenesis. For example, the parasitic protist *Plasmodium* causes malaria which is responsible for 438,000 deaths per year, most being children (WHO, 2015). *Trypanosoma brucei* causes sleeping sickness and is one of the most neglected infectious diseases with approximately 70 million people at risk of infection (Simarro et al., 2012).

On the other hand, the indirect role of protists in pathogenesis is also very significant. As mentioned in Section 1.2.1, grazing keeps the bacterial population under control, however some pathogenic bacteria are able survive the protist's digestion process (e.g. *Legionella*, *Mycobacterium*) (Meena, 2010, Medie et al., 2011, Escoll et al., 2013). Because some bacteria have been found to associate with protists (Winiecka-Krusnell and Linder, 2001, Molmeret et al., 2005, Matsuo et al., 2010, Smith et al., 2012)

protists have been termed the 'Trojan horses' of the microbial world (Barker and Brown, 1994). Bacteria have been seen to be free-living within the cytoplasm with no surrounding membranes (i.e. not inside DVs), or surviving and dividing within DVs and eventually egested unharmed (Newsome et al., 1985, Abu Kwaik, 1996a, Brieland et al., 1997, Abu Kwaik et al., 1998, Lau and Ashbolt, 2009, Matsuo et al., 2010, Smith et al., 2012, Raghu Nadhanan and Thomas, 2014).

Not only can pathogens such as *Legionella pneumophila* (Brieland et al., 1997, Gao et al., 1997, Escoll et al., 2013) and *Salmonella enterica* (Brandl et al., 2005) exploit protists as hosts, it has been shown that *L. pneumophila* cells gain greater infectivity (Cirillo et al., 1994) and are more resistant to certain biocides and disinfectants after being though the protist's DVs (Barker et al., 1992). The protists intracellular environment is therefore thought to be a training ground for pathogenic bacteria, i.e. if a bacterium is able to avoid digestion in protists and exploit them as a host, there is a good likelihood of doing the same to macrophages in the immune system. There are similarities in the intracellular infections of macrophages and protists by *L. pneumophila* (Horwitz, 1983, Swanson and Isberg, 1993, Bozue and Johnson, 1996, Abu Kwaik, 1996b, Gao et al., 1997) and therefore the tools necessary for macrophage infection by *L. pneumophila* are thought to have been obtained while they co-evolved with protists (Gao et al., 1997, Molmeret et al., 2005, Escoll et al., 2013). Moreover, protists have the potential to act as a vector by introducing large numbers of *L. pneumophila* into the human body (Molmeret et al., 2005).

On the other hand, the mechanisms of uptake of *L. pneumophila* by macrophages and protists are different. The uptake of *L. pneumophila* by macrophages is triggered by binding to the complement receptors and is mediated by microfilament-dependent phagocytosis (Payne and Horwitz, 1987). The uptake by amoebae is mediated by a microfilament-independent mechanism and is sensitive to methylamine, an inhibitor of receptor-mediated endocytosis (King et al., 1991). The receptors involved seem to vary

between different protists. For example, Harb et al. (1998) showed the ability of *L. pneumophila* to attach and invade different protozoan hosts by adapting different mechanisms, whereby the uptake by *Vermamoeba* (*Hartmannella*) *vermiformis*, but not by *Acanthamoeba polyphaga*, was dramatically blocked by galactose and N-acetyl-Dgalactosamine, and mutants that could not invade *A. polyphaga* could still invade *V. vermiformis*.

1.3 Phagocytosis

Ciliates and other phagocytes ingest prey via a process known as phagocytosis. Phagocytosis is the clathrin-independent and actin-dependent process by which a cell engulfs large extracellular particles to form an intercellular vesicle known as a digestive vacuole (DV) (Cardelli, 2001). This membrane bound compartment has an isolated microenvironment separate to the surrounding cytosol, allowing the contents to be digested by a series of biochemical changes. The phagosome then fuses with the plasma membrane and any undigested material is egested from the cell via exocytosis (Desjardins et al., 1994b).

1.3.1 Phagocytes in the immune system

The ability to internalise particles is a key mechanism of the innate immunity. "Professional phagocytes" (coined by Rabinovitch [1995]), which include macrophages, monocytes and polymorphonuclear granulocytes, are involved with the uptake and degradation of microorganisms, damaged or apoptotic cells, cell debris and pollutants. They are therefore important in fighting infectious agents, inflammation and tissue homeostasis (Rabinovitch, 1995, Aderem and Underhill, 1999, Zhang et al., 2002, Johnsen and Horvitz, 2016).

There has been ongoing interest in how phagocytes are able to identify the nature and location of the pathogen and trigger a targeted immune response. The large combinations of different phagocytes and 'prey' means the process can differ greatly. However, it is possible to present a general sequence of events that are involved.

Initially, contact of the particle with the plasma membrane of the phagocyte provides an opportunity for a ligand-receptor interaction and for the phagocyte to assess the chemical profile/identity of the particle (Rabinovitch, 1995). Next, the dynamic movement of the plasma membrane interacts with the whole surface of the particle,

assessing the physical size and shape. Finally, the particle is engulfed by the phagocyte to form an internal phagosome (Underhill and Goodridge, 2012).

There are two ways professional phagocytes engulf particles: opsonised phagocytoses (see Section 1.3.1.1) and non-opsonised phagocytosis (see Section 1.3.1.2). They also have a variety of receptors, for example opsonic receptors (e.g. Fc receptors) and non-opsonic receptors (e.g. lectin-like recognition molecules such as CD169) (Klaas and Crocker, 2012, Flannagan et al., 2015) (Table 1.1).

Type of phagocytosis	Receptors	Targets	
	Fc receptors	Antibody-opsonised particles	
Opsonic phagocytosis	Complement receptors	Complement-opsonized particles	
	α5β1 integrin	Fibronectin	
	Dectin 1*	β-glucan	
Non-opsonic	Scavenger receptor A	Bacteria (diverse charged molecules)	
phagocytosis	αVβ5 integrin	Apoptotic cells	
	Mannose receptors*	Mannose/Mannan	

Table 1.1 Receptors involved in opsonic and non-opsonic phagocytosis in immune cells. Adapted from Underhill and Goodridge (2012). * indicates lectin receptors.

1.3.1.1 Opsonised phagocytosis

In opsonised phagocytosis, particles are surrounded by and bound to naturally occurring soluble opsonins. The opsonin coating facilitates the attachment and internalization of the particle by 'marking' them, allowing professional phagocytes to indirectly recognise them and initiate phagocytosis (Czop et al., 1978, Hart et al., 2004, van Kessel et al., 2014).

The mechanisms of opsonised internalization of particles are complex and can vary depending on the target and its location. In general, opsonisation refers to coating with either immunoglobulin molecules (i.e. antibodies) that are specific for the antigen present on the surface of the particle, or complement proteins (e.g. C3b) (van Kessel et al., 2014). These two opsonins trigger the Fcγ receptor IIA (FcR) mediated uptake and Complement receptor (CR) mediated uptake, respectively (Table 1.1). FcR

initiates 'reaching' phagocytosis while CR initiates 'sinking' phagocytosis (Figure 1.2) (Underhill and Goodridge, 2012, Wolf and Underhill, 2014).

FcR-mediated phagocytosis is initiated when a particle coated with antibodies comes into contact with a phagocyte. The close proximity allows the Fc domain of the antibody to bind to the transmembrane surface receptors (i.e. FcR) on the phagocyte plasma membrane, causing FcR cross linking, and triggers a signaling cascade necessary for phagocytosis (Greenberg and Grinstein, 2002, Swanson and Hoppe, 2004). This includes the phosphorylation of tyrosines within the immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motif of FcR, leading to recruitment of proteins and lipid kinases (Swanson and Hoppe, 2004). After a series of downstream signals, actin filament polymerization extends the membrane outwards (i.e. 'reaches') and around the particle to form a phagosome (Caron et al., 2000, May and Machesky, 2001) (Figure 1.2).

Similarly, CR-mediated phagocytosis is initiated when a particle coated with complement comes into contact with a phagocyte. First, the phagocyte forms an actinrich protrusion pedestal that first pushes the particle away (Lee et al., 2011). Endosomes containing Complement Receptor of the Immunoglobulin superfamily (CRig) are transported to and fuse with the plasma membrane at the site of contact (Stuart and Ezekowitz, 2005). These receptors ensure a strong binding with the particle. After a cascade of activation events (including RhoA GTPase), a different form of phagocytosis from Fc mediated phagocytosis occurs in which the particle 'sinks' into the cell (Brown, 1992, Richards and Endres, 2014) (Figure 1.2). Again, the actin cytoskeletal system is vital for the formation of the phagosome (Patel and Harrison, 2008).



Figure 1.2 Two types of phagocytosis. 1) "Reaching" phagocytosis initiated by Fc receptors, plasma membrane extends outward to engulf the particle. 2) "Sinking" phagocytosis initiated by complement receptors. The particle depresses into the cell membrane. Both types of phagocytosis require an actin cytoskeleton and actin polymerization. Diagram adapted from Underhill and Goodridge (2012).

1.3.1.2 Non-opsonised phagocytosis

The mechanisms involved in non-opsonised phagocytosis are much less understood. As the name suggests, it is the uptake of particles that does not require them to first be coated with certain proteins for recognition. This type of phagocytosis is more akin to that carried out by protists.

Currently there has been no definitive answer as to whether non-opsonised phagocytosis employs "reaching" or "sinking" phagocytosis (Figure 1.2) and indeed there have been observations of both occurring. Gilberti and Knecht (2015) showed that when a macrophage takes in silica particles by non-opsonised phagocytosis, the actin rich protrusions do not extend and surround the particles. Using scanning electron microscope images, Lu et al. (2016) showed that the phagocytosis of nonopsonised latex beads by macrophages did not require the formation of extension of phagocytic cup. Both suggest "sinking" phagocytosis. On the other hand, Gilberti et al. (2008) showed that macrophages extend pseudopods to capture non-opsonised crystalline silica particles in a "reaching" style phagocytosis.

A few receptors have been suggested to be involved in this non-specific binding phagocytic process (Table 1.1). Firstly, the Dectin-1 receptor is expressed on myeloid phagocytes (including macrophages) and has an important role in defending against fungal infections (Ferwerda et al., 2009, Saijo et al., 2007). It detects β -glucans in fungal cell walls and is thus not involved in the phagocytosis of bacteria (Goodridge et al., 2009, Kerrigan and Brown, 2010). However, another lectin (the mannose receptor) which is expressed abundantly on macrophages (Lasky et al., 1989, Stahl, 1992, Martinez-Pomares, 2012) can and does recognise a variety of bacteria (Shepherd et al., 1984, Saraiva et al., 1987, Ezekowitz et al., 1991, Allavena et al., 2004, Taylor et al., 2005a, 2005b, Zhao et al., 2015).

The scavenger receptor (SR) family, in particular Scavenger Receptor-A (SR-A) (Taylor et al., 2005b, Platt et al., 1998), have been shown to be involved in the phagocytosis of non-opsonised and non-biological particles (Kobzik, 1995, Palecanda et al., 1999, Arredouani et al., 2005, Hamilton et al., 2006). However, the exact mechanism by which these receptors bind particles that are devoid of surface receptors is unclear but it has been suggested that hydrophobicity may play an important role (Kobzik, 1995, Gilberti et al., 2008). Even so, macrophages are still able to ingest particles regardless of the inhibition of SR-A (Kobzik, 1995).

Certain ligands may be hidden or masked within the inner membrane, protected by the outer cell wall and require membrane disruption in order to be recognised and bound to. For example, Chung and Kocks (2011) using the scavenger receptor Eater (expressed on phagocytes in *Drosophila melanogaster*) showed that the receptor was only able to attach to Gram-negative bacterial cells (*Escherichia coli, Serratia marcescens* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*) that had undergone membrane disruption treatment (e.g. heat or ethanol inactivation). The attachment to Gram-positive cells did

not require membrane disruption, suggesting that the Eater ligand is peptidoglycan (or ligands within it). The peptidoglycan layer is a distinguishing feature between Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. Gram-negative bacteria have a thin peptidoglycan layer over which exists an extensive lipopolysaccharide (LPS) outer membrane whereas Gram-positive bacteria have a thick peptidoglycan layer and do not possess an outer membrane (Silhavy et al., 2010). This means that peptidoglycan is 'available' to Eater in live Gram-positive cells but it is masked in live Gram-negative bacteria. Another difference between these two bacterial groups is that because Gram-positive bacteria do not have an outer membrane, all the surface proteins and ligands are either anchored into the inner membrane (e.g. using membrane-spanning helices) or are covalently bound to the peptidoglycan (Scott and Barnett, 2006).

Once the particles are bound to the phagocyte, they activate generic phagocytosis machinery, involving receptor clustering at the binding site (Gilberti and Knecht, 2015). Unlike FcR and CR mediated uptake, non-opsonised phagocytosis activates both Rac1 and RhoA GTPase. In addition, non-opsonised uptake depends on both the actin and microtubule cytoskeleton. Microtubules are shown to be involved in an early stage of phagocytosis as well as required for the activation of RhoA, Rac1 GTPase and PI3Kinase (Gilberti and Knecht, 2015).

1.3.2 Phagocytosis in protists

In filter feeding ciliates such as *Paramecium* and *Tetrahymena*, phagocytosis is used as a feeding mechanism where extracellular food particles are ingested via the oral apparatus into the cell to form a DV. This oral apparatus is well studied (Smith, 1982). However, literature on the molecular mechanism of phagocytosis is much more limited.

Tetrahymena has one oral apparatus at the anterior end of the cell. This oral apparatus mainly consists of three membranelles, an undulating membrane and oral ribs that are between the previous two, all of which consist of ciliated and non-ciliated basal bodies (Figure 1.3) (Elliott and Clemmons, 1966, Frankel, 1999). The oral ribs create a

crescent shaped funnel into the cell and at the end of the funnel is a cytostome, a cytopharynx and a cytosomal lip, which is a projection supported by microtubules and is able to close the opening of the cytostome. Finally, a deep fibre extends from the cell cortex into the cytoplasm (Elliott and Clemmons, 1966, Elliott and Kennedy, 1973).



Figure 1.3 Cross section of the oral apparatus (OA) structure in Tetrahymena adapted from Smith (1982). The close up figure shows the right surface of the oral apparatus lined with the oral ribs (OR). This curves into the cavity and funnels down towards the cytosome (Cy). The cytostome then connects to the cytopharynx and receiving vacuole. The oral ribs are also separate by the undulating membrane (UM) and the three membranelles (M1, M2 and M3). M1 is located next to the left surface. M2 is positioned in the centre and is in line with the cytostome. M3 is positioned by the right wall (Smith, 1982).

By using the cilia on the oral membranes to create water currents, *Tetrahymena* cells are able to funnel water-borne food particles towards the cytostome (Elliott and Kennedy, 1973, Nilsson, 1979). Ingestion is initiated by the contact of the collected food particles in the oral apparatus and cytostome. The exact mechanism by which phagocytosis is initiate is unknown. However, this step is actin-dependent (Williams et al., 2006) and some proteins have been suggested to be involved. First, lectins (i.e. proteins that bind carbohydrates) play a role in prey recognition and attachment (Harb et al., 1998, Wilks and Sleigh, 2004, Roberts et al., 2006, Wootton et al., 2007). Also,

cytoplasmic dynein (Dyh1) (Lee et al., 1999) and Ca²⁺/Calmodulin (CaM) signalling (Gonda et al., 2000, Ladenburger and Plattner, 2011) have also been suggested to act as regulators. Actin and Ca²⁺/CaM signalling are also important for ciliary movement in food collection (Nilsson, 1979, Suzuki et al., 1982, Kink et al., 1990, Ladenburger and Plattner, 2011, Plattner, 2015).

Jacobs et al. (2006) carried out an analysis of the *Tetrahymena* phagosome proteome and compared it to other phagocytes (*Entamoeba histolytica* and mouse macrophages). Twenty-eight of the 453 proteins identified have been implicated in the other two phagocytes, for example Rab7 GTPase, vacuolar ATPase and lysosomal acid lipase/gastric lipase. This indicates that key aspects of phagocytosis have been conserved during evolution and that the mechanism in *Tetrayhymena* could closely resemble that of other phagocytes. Non-opsonised phagocytosis in professional phagocytes seems to most closely matched to that of protists and similarities may be drawn between the two. Firstly, protists do not require the particles to first be opsonised before recognition and phagocytosis, and secondly, lectins (e.g. mannose receptor) have been shown to be involved in the attachment and phagocytosis of particles in both phagocyte types (Wootton et al., 2007, Klaas and Crocker, 2012, Flannagan et al., 2015).

1.3.3 Factors that affect phagocytosis

A number of factors affect the ingestion of prey by protists. The most obvious one is prey concentration (Jürgens and DeMott, 1995, Boenigk and Arndt, 2000a, Thurman et al., 2010a, Yoo et al., 2010, Li et al., 2011), whereby higher prey concentration induces a higher chance of prey-predator contact and thus increases ingestion. This behaviour has been reported in ciliates (e.g. *T. pyriformis* and *Oxyrrhis marina*) (Thurman et al., 2010a, Li et al., 2011), choanoflagellates (e.g. *Monosiga ovata),* kinetoplastids (e.g. *Rhynchomonas nasuta*) (Boenigk and Arndt, 2000a) and flagellates (e.g. *Bodo saltans* and *Spumella* sp.) (Jürgens and DeMott, 1995).

The physiological state and feeding/growth history of the protist can also affect feeding. For example, Hatzis et al. (1994) demonstrated feeding heterogeneity in *T. pyriformis*, showing that stationary phase ciliate populations exhibit more uniform feeding behaviour than exponential cells and that starved cells feed at higher rates than well-fed cells.

Next, the characteristics of the prey themselves can also affect feeding, specifically their size and nature. Size-selective grazing in protists has been reported to occur (Šimek and Chrzanowski, 1992, Jürgens and Šimek, 2000, Jürgens and Matz, 2002, Jürgens et al., 2008), but the most convincing studies are those using inert particles (which do not possess any ligands) as <u>only</u> size is being measured in these cases. In such studies, ciliates have been shown to ingest larger particles over smaller particles cells (Šimek and Chrzanowski, 1992, Jürgens and Šimek, 2000, Jürgens and Matz, 2002, Jürgens et al., 2008). Macrophages on the other hand have a distinct preference for *ca.* 1µm rod shaped particles, compared to spheres and ellipsoid particles with equal volumes Doshi and Mitragotri (2010); a size and shaper similar to live bacterial cells.

Reports on selective feeding in protists based on prey strain have been mixed but in general, evidence is stronger for it occurring in flagellates compared to ciliates (Jezbera et al., 2005, Zwirglmaier et al., 2009, Thurman et al., 2010a). Selectivity has been accredited to receptors (Wootton et al., 2007), prey motility (Matz and Jürgens, 2005), prey hydrophobicity (Monger et al., 1999, Matz and Jürgens, 2001) and prey food quality (C:N:P ratio) (John and Davidson, 2001, Shannon et al., 2007).

Lastly, ingestion can also be affected by the type of prey particle, i.e. whether the prey are inert, heat-killed or live etc. and although many experiments have utilised heatkilled-5-(4,6-Dichlorotriazinyl) Aminofluorescein (DTAF)-stained bacteria (Sherr et al., 1988, Gonzalez et al., 1990a, Gonzalez et al., 1993, Starink et al., 1994, Parry et al., 2001, Pickup et al., 2007c, Thurman et al., 2010a, Bochdansky and Clouse, 2015),

results might not truly reflect the ingestion of their live counterpart (Peruń et al., 2016). This is because the preparation of DTAF-stained prey involves subjecting the bacterial cells to high heat (60°C) which not only kills the cells but also irreversibly changes the physical and biochemical characteristics of the bacteria (Katsui et al., 1981). Therefore the state of the prey cells must also be considered in feeding experiments.

1.4 Digestion

1.4.1 Vacuole passage time

Prey digestion in protists has mainly been studied with pulse-chase experiments (Mueller et al., 1965, Fok and Shockley, 1985, Sherr et al., 1988, Dolan and Simek, 1998, Jürgens and Šimek, 2000, Jacobs et al., 2006, Dixon, 2010, Thurman et al., 2010a), focusing on the macro level (i.e. interactions between bacterial prey and protistan predators) as opposed to the micro level (i.e. biochemical and molecular interactions). A pulse-chase experiment begins by adding fluorescent prey to a protistan culture so that feeding occurs ('the pulse') and fluorescently DVs are formed. Then follows the 'chase', whereby the mixture is diluted to stop ingestion of the fluorescent prey and this halts the formation of fluorescent DVs. The content of the fluorescent DVs can then be monitored over time.

Prey such as fluorescently-labelled microspheres cannot be digested and remain in the DVs until they are egested. This allows the identification of the life span of the vacuoles inside the cells, known as the vacuole passage time (VPT). Digestion of (potentially-digestible) prey is only monitored within this VPT as this ensures that any loss of prey in the DV is solely due to digestion and not egestion. Beyond the VPT, it is difficult to distinguish whether the loss of prey is due to digestion, egestion or both (Thurman et al., 2010a).

The VPT can be affected by feeding history, protist species and vacuole queuing (Thurman et al., 2010a). Vacuoles are processed in the order they are formed and because egestion can only occur at the cytoproct, vacuoles must queue and wait to be egested (Ricketts and Rappitt, 1976, Thurman et al., 2010a). This queuing behaviour is thought to be responsible for varying VPTs within a given species (Fok et al., 1982, Fok and Shockley, 1985, Dixon, 2010, Thurman et al., 2010a).

1.4.2 Digestive vacuole (phagosome) maturation

The surface composition of newly formed DVs in macrophages are identical to that of the cell's surface membrane (Muller et al., 1980a, 1980b). This means that DVs inherently lack the microbicidal and degradative capacity required for prey digestion. However, these capabilities are acquired subsequently by a process called 'phagosome maturation' which is a sequence of membrane fusion and fission events with components of the endocytic compartment (Pauwels et al., 2017). Phagosome membranes are selectively fusogenic and acquired surface proteins which allows the phagosome to selectively interact with the next endosome in the maturation sequence (Desjardins et al., 1997, Maniak, 2003). This is achieved party due to the molecular differences in surface proteins and the fact that fusion mechanisms vary with regards to the proteins or conditions involved (Mayorga et al., 1991, Jahraus et al., 1998). DV maturation particularly includes fusion events between the DV and acidosomes (to reduce the DV pH) and lysosomes (to provide the enzymes for digestion).

There is only one model, for the ciliate *Paramecium multimicronucleatum*, which describes the events within a DV during one VPT (Table 1.2) (Fok et al., 1982). This four stage model suggests that after a ciliate DV is formed (in Phase-I) it goes through rapid acidification and condensation (in Phase-II) to kill its contents and prepare the DV for membrane fusion with lysosomes. Thereafter it fuses with lysosomes and begins digestion (in Phase-III). After digestion has ended the vacuoles are thought to be inert whilst awaiting defecation (Phase-IV) (Fok et al., 1982).

Phase	DV pH	DV size	Acid phosphatase activity
I – DV formation	Neutral	-	No
II – Acidification & Condensation	Rapid acidification	Rapid decrease	No
III – Lysosomal fusion & digestion	Neutral	Increase	Yes
IV – Defecation competent	Neutral	Slight decrease	No

Table 1.2 The four phases of Paramecium multimicronucleatum digestive vacuole (DV) processing suggested by Fok et al. (1982).

1.4.2.1 Acidification and condensation (Phase-II)

Immediately after the formation of a DV the size of the DV reduces and numerous acidosomes can be found attached to its membrane (Ishida et al., 1997). The attached acidosomes are able to move with the DV and only fuse with it when it is released from the oral region and begins to move towards the posterior of the cell. Microfilaments, which are ubiquitous in the spaces between acidosomes and DV membranes (Allen and Fok, 1983b), appear to be vital to this fusion event (Allen and Fok, 1983a). After fusion, acidosomes release their vacuolar content (H+) into the DV and also transfer the ability to acquire H+ to the DVs (Allen and Fok, 1983a, 1983b, Ishida et al., 1997). Acidification is achieved partly by the action of vacuolar ATP-ase (V-ATPase) (Pitt et al., 1992, Fok et al., 1993, Clarke et al., 2002, Yates et al., 2005), a protein complex that is able to translocate protons across membranes to create a potential gradient (Nishi and Forgac, 2002).

A clear understanding of how the pH changes inside the DVs would be useful but only a few studies have attempted this. The general method used in studies with polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Jensen and Bainton, 1973), macrophages (Geisow et al., 1981), *Tetrahymena* (Nilsson, 1977) and *Paramecium* (Muller and Törö, 1962, Fok et al., 1982) has been to feed the cells with yeast cells stained with sulfonphathalein indicator dyes (neutral red, bromocresol purple, bromocresol green and bromocresol blue) and exploit their pH sensitive colour changing properties (Table 1.3).

The reduction in DV pH, and timings, vary greatly between the aforementioned studies. In macrophages and leukocytes DVs took 15 to 20 minutes to reach their lowest pH level (pH 5.4 and pH 4.0, respectively) (Jensen and Bainton, 1973, Geisow et al., 1981). In *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Nilsson (1977) showed that the lowest pH value (pH 3.5-4.0) was reached at 1 hour. This was much longer than that recorded for *Paramecium multimicronucleatum* (Muller and Törö, 1962, Fok et al., 1982) where the pH of DVs reduced to pH 3.0 within 5 minutes of formation (Figure 1.4). Even faster

was *Paramecium bursaria* where maximum acidity (pH 2.4-3.0) was achieved at 30 seconds (Kodama and Fujishima, 2005).

рН	Neutral red	Bromocresol purple	Bromocresol green	Bromocresol blue
7.0	Red amber	Blue	Blue	
6.5	Red	Blue green	Blue green	
6.0	Red	Green	Blue green	
5.5		Yellow green	Green	
5.0		Yellow	Green	Blue
4.5			Light green	Blue green
4.0			Yellow green	Green
3.5			Yellow	Yellow green
3.0				Yellow
			· · · · · ·	

Table 1.3 Colour of stained yeast cells at different pH. The observations from Fok et al. (1982), Jensen and Bainton (1973) were combined to produce this table.

The use of pH-sensitive dyes may be informative but these methods are not without issues. Qualitative approaches were used to deduce the DV pH, i.e. comparing photographs of the DV colour to those of isolated stained yeast cells at different pH values. This cannot provide accurate pH values and indeed the mentioned studies did not even agree on a colour profile for pH change. Newer techniques such as the use of dextran-linked pH-sensitive fluorescent dyes (e.g. fluorescein and Oregon green 514) are now available and have been used to investigate the pH within DVs in *Plasmodium,* where a lowest DV pH of 3.7 (with a large range of pH 3.7-6.5) was recorded (Saliba et al., 2003, Hayward et al., 2006). Using the same dye, Klonis et al. (2007) recorded a pH of *ca.* 5.5 for the same parasite. It therefore seems that even though methodologies in measuring the pH of DVs have advanced, the accuracy of these measurements are still problematic..


1.4.2.2 Lysosomal fusion and digestion (Phase-III)

Acidification of the DV in Phase-II changes the membrane surface markers and this allows lysosomes to fuse with the DV in Phase-III (Fok et al., 1982, Fok and Shockley, 1985). For example, lamp proteins which are a family of glycosylated membrane proteins that are required for a functioning endocytic pathway (Huynh et al., 2007) are not found on the plasma membrane. However, they are shown to be acquired to the DV's membrane surface soon after formation and are incrementally transferred to the DV surface (Pitt et al., 1992, Desjardins et al., 1994b). Also, Rab5 and Rab7 are proteins that play an important role in the DV maturation process (Gorvel et al., 1991, Desjardins et al., 1994b, Duclos et al., 2000, Roberts et al., 2000). Rab5 and Rab7

have been shown to be associated with early endosomes and late endosomes respectively (Chavrier et al., 1990) and are acquired by the DVs rapidly after formation (Vieira et al., 2003). Indeed, the modification of DV membrane markers plays a cruicial role in regulating the orderly interactions and fusion events between the endolytic organelles (Maniak, 2003). However, quantitative proteomic approaches have suggested that a linear pathway of maturation is an oversimplification and that there is either significant cross-talk between endocytic organelles or that DV maturation occurs over many parallel pathways (Rogers and Foster, 2008).

There are two types of fusion described between DVs and lysosomes, 'complete fusion' and 'kiss and run fusion' (Desjardins, 1995). Complete fusion occurs when the lysosome completely fuses with the DV so the membranes and cytosolic contents of both vesicles are combined. Contrarily, 'kiss and run' fusion is an incomplete transfer of membrane and cytosolic content as lysosomes only fuse to the DV temporarily and then is pinched off. However, materials are able to be transferred in this short period of time (Desjardins, 1995). The fact that vacuole size increases during Phase-III (Table 1.2) suggests complete fusion between DVs and the endolytic vesicles. However, there have been studies showing 'kiss and run fusion' events between DVs and lysosomes in macrophages (Wang and Goren, 1987, Duclos et al., 2000) and indeed other protists (e.g. *Leishmania*) (Desjardins and Descoteaux, 1997). It is therefore likely that the fusion events in ciliates are also a mixture of both fusion methods.

Fusion events are achieved with the support of the cell's cytoskeletal system. The polymerization of actin allows the locomotion of endolytic vesicles in the form of gliding or crawling. Indeed, many actin-binding proteins are found to associate with the DV after its formation (Desjardins et al., 1994a) and interact with actin filaments and microtubules that protrude from the DV membrane surface to help guide its movement (Mitchison and Cramer, 1996). This also facilitates the aggregation of such endosomal machinery and DVs for membrane fusion (Defacque et al., 2000, Jahraus et al., 2001).

DV fusion with lysosomes ultimately results in the release of enzymes into DVs. There is a large library of enzymes involved, including proteases, lipases, phosphatases and glycosidases including nucleotide transferase, acid phosphatases, phosphoric monoester, glycoside, peptidyl amino acid and sulphuric ester hydrolases (Fok and Paeste, 1982, Fok et al., 1984, Fok and Shockley, 1985). Of these, acid phosphatase activity has been used as a marker to determine whether there are active enzymes within DVs in ciliates (Muller and Törö, 1962, Elliott and Clemmons, 1966, Fok et al., 1982, Fok and Shockley, 1985). Using this marker, enzymes have only been recorded in Phase-III (Table 1.2) during which the pH steadily rises. Optimum conditions (e.g. pH) for each of the enzymes are often different so it is highly possible that enzyme delivery into DVs occurs in a sequential fashion by fusion with lysosomes containing different enzymes. This is something that has been observed in macrophage phagosome maturation (Tjelle et al., 2000, Vieira et al., 2002).

While VPT denotes the total life span of DVs inside the cells, the digestive period (DP) denotes the period within the VPT where prey are actively being killed and then digested inside the DV. The DP includes Phases I to III of the DV processing model suggested by Fok et al. (1982). And even though VPT can be variable for a given species (due to vacuole queuing), at a given temperature and for a given prey, the length of the DP has been reported to be constant. Capriulo and Degnan (1991) showed that the DP of the ciliate *Fibrea salina* was consistently *ca*. 63-73 min when feeding *Rhodomonas lens* at 23°C. Fok and Shockley (1985) reported a *ca*. 45 min DP for *T. thermophila* when fed at 24°C. *Paramecium caudatum* showed a DP of 21 min for at an unreported temperature (Fok et al., 1982), while the ciliate *Uronema marina* was reported to have a DP of 25 minutes when fed at 22°C (Sherr et al., 1988). Lastly, Thurman et al. (2010a) showed that the DP for *T. pyriformis* feeding on heat-killed DTAF-stained *Mesorhizobium* sp., at 23°C, was consistently 20 min.

1.4.2.3 Defecation competent (Phase-IV)

The last phase (Phase IV) of DV processing is the defecation competent phase (Table 1.2). Once the DVs have completed digestion they enter Phase-IV and become 'inert' and of neutral pH. They lack the presence of acid phosphatase and their membrane is absent of any V-ATPase (see Section 1.3.1) (Fok et al., 1982, Ishida et al., 1997). The length of this Phase seems to vary greatly (Fok et al., 1982, Fok et al., 1984, Verni and Gualtieri, 1997, Thurman et al., 2010a). For example, Fok et al. (1982) reported defecation of *P. caudatum* started at 20-60 minutes after DV formation while Thurman et al. (2010a) reported that *T. pyriformis* has a defecation competent phase of *ca.* 35-50 minutes. Eventually the DVs fuse with the plasma membrane and egest its contents at the cytoproct (Allen and Wolf, 1979).

During Phase-IV, bacteria that have survived the digestive process are no longer in a hostile environment and may be able to recover, replicate and even undergo conjugation with other surviving cells (Schlimme et al., 1997, Matsuo et al., 2010, Smith et al., 2012). One study showed that when fed to *T. pyriformis*, as much as 90% of ingested *E. coli* K12 could be egested unharmed within faecal pellets (Schlimme et al., 1997). In order to gain enough energy and nutrients from these prey, it seems that protists may be required to compensate for this by ingesting and processing the egested prey (coprotrophy). This re-ingestion and re-digestion process would assure that the prey were fully digested and absorbed. Indeed this has been suggested to occur in *T. pyriformis*. When fed heat-killed-DTAF-stained prey the faecal pellets observed were too large (*ca.* 20µm diameter) to be re-ingested, resulting in a low cell yield. However, when fed with the live counterpart, there was little aggregation of any egested prey and subsequently low yield was not observed (Parry et al., 2001).

1.4.2.4 Membrane recycling

Membrane is a limited resource to the cell, and therefore it is important that the cell is able to recycle such materials back to the cytostome for further DV formation (Allen, 1974, Allen and Fok, 1980). In ciliates, the size of DVs changes dramatically during the VPT. Soon after formation, the DV shrinks to *ca.* 50% its original size and the pH rapidly decreases (Phase II in Table 1.2). The shrinkage is achieved by removal of large amounts of vacuole membrane material by endocytic-like processes (Fok et al., 1982, Laybourn-Parry et al., 1997). Several mechanisms of membrane recycling have been proposed, including (i) retrieval at the cytoproct by endocytosis (Allen and Fok, 1980); (ii) fusing with lysosomes (Allen and Fok, 1984); (iii) directly (i.e. where an endosomes are incorporated into other organelle's surface membrane by exocytosi) (Allen, 1974, Allen and Wolf, 1979). Lastly, along with vacuole membrane, other materials (e.g. acid phosphatases, lysosomal membranes and surface V-ATPase) are also recycled from the DVs (Allen and Fok, 1984).

1.5 The result of phagocytosis

Prey consumption is tightly linked to growth and it is known that prey concentration positively correlates with growth rate up to a maximum (Fenchel, 1980, Jonsson, 1986, Weisse et al., 2002, Kimmance et al., 2006, Pickup et al., 2007b, Li et al., 2011). For filter feeders in particular, assuming that they have a maximum water processing rate (volume of water it can process per unit time [clearance rate]), increasing the number of prey within that volume of water would logically increase the prey consumption rate, therefore increasing growth (Fenchel, 1980).

Temperature also affects growth rate. It is commonly known that growth rates increase with temperature up to a maximum (Müller and Geller, 1993, Montagnes and Franklin, 2001, Weisse et al., 2001, Weisse et al., 2002, Atkinson et al., 2003, Kimmance et al., 2006, Rose and Caron, 2007, Rose et al., 2009, Li et al., 2011). Studies have shown both a linear (Cossins and Bowler, 1987, Montagnes and Franklin, 2001, Weisse et al., 2001) and an exponential (Choi and Peters, 1992, Lomas and Glibert, 1999, Rose and Caron, 2007) growth response to temperature change. However, in a review that compared 36 available studies, Montagnes et al. (2003) suggested that growth rate usually responds linearly to temperature. It was cited that the errors produced from the simplification of exponential and assumptions made when applying the exponential function to limited data was the reason for results that seem to be exponential.

The type and quality of prey also affects growth (Hansen, 1992, Thurman et al., 2010b). For example, Thurman et al. (2010b) showed that even though *T. pyriformis* ingested different prey at the same rate, the yield (in terms of ciliate-cell/prey-cell) was significantly higher when fed *E. coli* when compared to *K. aerogenes* and *K. ozaenae.* Even though growth rates and yield vary based on prey, growth is actually an end result of the whole feeding process and it is not possible to know at which stage of the feeding process (i.e. ingestion, digestion or assimilation) the prey are affecting growth (Montagnes et al., 2008).

1.6 Aims

The overall aim of this study was to investigate the effect of different prey types on their ingestion and digestion by the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis* and how this affected ciliate specific growth rate. Four prey states were employed, i.e. live heterotrophic bacteria, heat-killed-DTAF-stained heterotrophic bacteria, live autotrophic bacteria (*Synechococcus*) and inert fluorescently-labelled microspheres, together with different prey genera/species/strains within each of the bacterial states.

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- Transform wild type bacteria to express the red fluorescent protein (RFP) so they can be used as a fluorescent live heterotrophic bacterial prey.
- Determine the effects of different prey states (live, dead and inert) on ingestion, vacuole formation and prey deposition into those vacuoles.
- Evaluate whether differential ingestion and digestion occurs with different bacterial species/strains and whether Gram status plays a role.
- Determine how prey ingestion and digestion affect the specific growth rate *T. pyriformis.*

Chapter 2. Materials and methods

2.1. Preparation and maintenance of organisms/FLMs

Experiments employed the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis* feeding on four prey types: Fluorescently-labelled microspheres ('FLMs'), live heterotrophic bacteria transformed to express the Red Fluorescent Protein (RFP) ('Live'), heat-killed and 5-([4,6-Dichlorotriazin-2-yl]amino) fluorescein (DTAF)-stained heterotrophic bacteria ('Dead') and live *Synechococcus* cells ('Pico').

2.1.1 Fluorescently-labelled microspheres (FLMs)

Suspensions of inert fluorescently-labelled yellow/green microspheres (Fluoresbrite[™] Polyscience Inc.) of various diameters (Table 2.1) were prepared in sterile water and stored at 4°C. FLM suspensions were sonicated for 2 min before use.

Colour	Diameter (µm)	Biovolume (µm ³)	Stock Concentration (FLM/mL)
Yellow/Green	0.49	0.065	8.27x10 ⁹
Yellow/Green	0.75	0.220	1.08x10 ⁹
Yellow/Green	0.92	0.407	5.19x10 ⁸

Table 2.1 Fluorescently-labelled microspheres (Fluoresbrite[™] Polyscience Inc.) used in this study. Biovolume and concentration calculations can be found in Sections 2.3.1 and 2.2.2 respectively.

2.1.2 Routine maintenance of heterotrophic bacteria

Heterotrophic bacteria (Table 2.2) were routinely maintained as streak plates and

either stored at room temperature (the RFP-expressing strains) or 4°C. For

experiments each was grown for 3 days at their preferred temperature (Table 2.2) then

suspensions were prepared in sterile water; these were used immediately.

Bacterium	Source	Strain	Medium	Temperature	Biovolume (µm³)
Aeromonas hydrophila (RFP)	NCIMB	9240	LB + G60	35°C	1.016±0.061
*Citrobacter freundii	MAST labs		LB	30°C	ND
*Citrobacter koseri	MAST labs		LB	30°C	ND
*Enterobacter cloacae (RFP)	MAST labs		LB + G60	30°C	1.334±0.074
Escherichia coli RFP (Donor)	P Hill	AKN132	LB + Amp100	30°C	0.511±0.025
Escherichia coli (Helper)	P Hill	S17	LB + Amp50	30°C	ND
Escherichia coli (Mobiliser)	P Hill	RK2013	LB + Km50	30°C	ND
Klebsiella aerogenes (RFP)	NCTC	9528	LB + G60	25°C	0.918±0.043
Klebsiella pneumoniae (RFP)	NCTC	5055	LB + G60	35°C	1.701±0.101
*Mesorhizobium sp.	J Parry	B1	LB	25°C	ND
*Morganella morganii	MAST labs		LB	30°C	ND
Pseudomonas aeruginosa (RFP)	NCIMB	10412	LB + G60	25°C	0.655±0.031
*Pseudomonas aeruginosa m-	H Curt-Flemming		LB	30°C	ND
*Pseudomonas aeruginosa m+	H Curt-Flemming		LB	30°C	ND
Pseudomonas fluorescens (RFP)	R Pickup	FH1	LB + G60	30°C	0.785±0.047
Salmonella enterica (RFP)	NCTC	74	LB + G60	35°C	0.759±0.033
Salmonella enterica (RFP)	NCTC	12694	LB + G60	25°C	0.512±0.028
Serratia liquefaciens (RFP)	MAST labs		LB + G60	25°C	0.641±0.031
Serratia marcescens (RFP)	NCIMB	1377	LB + G60	25°C	0.444±0.022
*Shigella sonnei	MAST labs		LB	30°C	ND
Staphylococcus aureus	NCTC	6571	LB	30°C	ND
Staphylococcus aureus RFP	P Hill		LB + C6	35°C	0.272±0.022

Table 2.2 Heterotrophic bacterial strains used in this study together with their source, incubation temperature and any antibiotic additions to the Lysogeny Bertani agar (LB) (see Appendix A). Cell biovolumes are presented for RFP-expressing strains (see Section 2.3.2). National Collection of Industrial Marine and Food Bacteria (NCIMB), National Collection of Type Culture (NCTC), Red-fluorescing protein (RFP), mucoid (m+), non-mucoid (m-), Gentamicin (G), Ampicillin (Amp), Kanamycin (Km), Chloramphenicol (C), 6 µg/ml (6), 50 µg/ml (50), 60 µg/ml (60), 100 µg/ml (100). ND, not determined. *The eight strains used in RFP-transformation experiments (Section 2.1.3).

2.1.3 Transforming bacteria to express the Red Fluorescing Protein (RFP)

All RFP-expressing bacteria (other than *E. coli, Enterobacter cloacae* and *Staphylococcus aureus*) (Table 2.2) were transformed by J Parry prior to this study but *E. cloacae* was successfully transformed in this study using method described below. All RFP-expressing bacteria (n=12) are referred to as 'Live' prey in experiments involving *T. pyriformis*.

The Tn7 tagging system (Lambertsen et al., 2004) relies on four-parental mating conjugation, i.e., the recipient bacterium is mixed with a donor (*E. coli* RFP [carrying resistance to Gentamycin]), a helper (*E. coli* S17) and a mobiliser (*E. coli* RK2013) (Table 2.2). Transformations were attempted on eight bacterial strains (* Table 2.2).

Each of the four-parental strains was first grown separately overnight in Lysogeny Bertani (LB) broth (+/- antibiotics) (Appendix A) at their preferred temperature (see Table 2.2). Cells were washed 4 times with LB broth to remove any antibiotics then 0.5 ml of each participant was combined and the 2 ml mixture filtered onto a 0.2 µm filter (Whatman, Millipore). The filter was placed (cells side down) onto the surface of an LB agar plate (no antibiotics) (Appendix A) and incubated overnight at the recipient's preferred temperature (Table 2.2). The filter was then placed in 1 ml of LB broth (no antibiotics) and the tube was vortexed and sonicated for 10 min to dislodge the cells into suspension.

In order to separate the transformant from all other cells, i.e., untransformed recipient, donor, helper and mobiliser, a selective medium was required. In most cases* this was Vogel-Bonner Minimum Medium agar (VBMM) containing Gentamycin at 60 µg/ml (GM60) (Appendix A) because *E. coli* cannot grow on this medium and the eight recipients tested here were sensitive to Gentamycin (unlike the transformant). **Three*

bacterial recipient strains could not grow on VBMM so an alternative selective medium was required (see Section 3.1).

The cell mixture was streaked onto VBMM + GM60. The recipient, donor, mobiliser and helper were also streaked on this medium to act as negative controls (no growth). If presumptive transformant colonies emerged after incubation, they were again streaked onto VBMM + GM60 and then onto LB agar + GM60 for routine maintenance. The antibiotic susceptibility profile of the transformant was compared to the control to ensure the transformant <u>only</u> had additional resistance to Gentamycin. This was performed by spreading 0.2 ml of suspension onto the surface of Diagnostic Sensitivity Test agar (DST) plates (Appendix A), applying MAST-rings M13, M14 and M43, and examining zones of inhibition after incubation.

The optimum incubation temperature for fluorescence was determined by incubating the transformant at 20, 25, 30 and 35°C, after which suspensions were prepared. Cells were stained with 4',6 Dimamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Porter and Feig, 1980) and a total cell count (using UV excitation) (see Section 2.2.1.) and a fluorescing cell count (using green excitation) (see Section 2.2.2.) allowed the calculation of % cells that were fluorescing. The temperature which yielded the highest % fluorescence (normally 98-100%) was selected as the routine incubation temperature (Table 2.2).

2.1.4 Heat-killed-DTAF-stained heterotrophic bacteria ('Dead')

Previously prepared heat-killed/DTAF-stained cells were available (stored at -20°C) for *Mesorhizobium* sp. (Lab strain), *Lactobacillus fermentum* and *Listeria monocytogenes*; prepared by C Dixon (2010). Neither had an RFP-expressing counterpart, so four strains (*Table 2.3) were stained here following the method of Sherr et al. (1987). Briefly, bacterial suspensions were prepared and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 10 min to form a pellet. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was re-suspended in 10 ml of solution 1 (Appendix B). This suspension was vortexed then sonicated for 10 min to break up any aggregates. Approximately 5 mg of 5-([4,6-Dichlorotriazin-2-yl]amino)

fluorescein (DTAF, Sigma) was added, mixed and the tube was placed in a 60°C water bath for 2 h. The cells were washed three times with solution 1 (Appendix B). After the third wash the cells were suspended in Solution 2 (Appendix B) and left overnight at 4°C. The cells were then washed three times in Chalkley's medium (Appendix A) before determining the cell concentration (see Section 2.2.2). The suspension was aliquoted into eppendorf tubes (0.5 ml) and stored at -20°C. Prior to experiments, aliquots were thawed at room temperature and sonicated for 15 min.

Bacterium	Source	Strain	Biovolume (µm ³)
*Klebsiella aerogenes	NCTC	9528	0.300±0.011
*Klebsiella pneumoniae	NCTC	5055	0.270±0.012
Lactobacillus fermentum	NCIMB	11849	0.440±0.015
Listeria monocytogenes	NCIMB	13726	0.470±0.020
<i>Mesorhizobium</i> sp.	J Parry	B1	0.170±0.005
*Salmonella enterica	NCTC	74	0.120±0.009
*Staphylococcus aureus	NCTC	6571	0.125+0.006

Table 2.3 Heterotrophic bacterial strains heat-killed and DTAF-stained together with their source and cell biovolumes after staining (see Section 2.3.2). National Collection of Industrial Marine and Food Bacteria (NCIMB), National Collection of Type Culture (NCTC), *The four DTAF-strains produced in this study; others were prepared by C Dixon.

2.1.5 Live autotrophic bacteria ('Pico')

All *Synechococcus* strains (Table 2.4) were maintained in BG11 broth (Appendix A) on a rotary shaker in a 16:8 light:dark cycle at room temperature (*ca.* 23°C). Strains were sub-cultured 6 d prior to experimentation.

Bacterium	Source	Strain	Lab Code	Biovolume (µm³)
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH1	Pico 1	1.085±0.047
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH2	Pico 2	0.919±0.040
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH3	Pico 3	0.588±0.031
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH4	Pico 4	0.934±0.044
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH5	Pico 5	1.137±0.044
*Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH6	Pico 6	1.171±0.043
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH7	Pico 7	1.253±0.050
*Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH8	Pico 8	0.837±0.036
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH9	Pico 9	0.943±0.038
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH10	Pico 10	1.062±0.039
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH11	Pico 11	0.838±0.030
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH12	Pico 12	1.039±0.031
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH13	Pico 13	1.055±0.035
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH14	Pico 14	0.756±0.026
Synechococcus sp.	K Harper	S-KH15	Pico 15	0.979±0.037
Synechococcus sp.	CCAP	1479/12	Pico 16	0.948±0.038
*Synechococcus leopoliensis	CCAP	1405/1	Pico 17	2.326±0.080
Synechococcus elongatus	CCAP	1479/1A	Pico 18	0.850±0.036
Synechococcus sp.	CCAP	1479/10	Pico 19	0.978±0.034
Synechococcus sp.	CCAP	1479/11	Pico 20	2.342±0.075

Table 2.4 Synechococcus strains used in this study together with their source, strain, laboratory code and cell biovolume (see Section 2.3.2). Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa (CCAP). *denotes non-lysogenic strains.

2.1.6 The ciliate Tetrahymena pyriformis

Tetrahymena pyriformis (CCAP 1630/1W) was grown in Chalkley's medium (Appendix

A) supplemented with live, non-RFP-expressing *K. aerogenes* at room temperature

(ca. 23°C). Ciliate cells used in experiments were grown for 3 d after which they were

twice-concentrated by centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 15 min, resulting in a T. pyriformis

concentration of *ca*. $3 - 5x10^4$ cells/ml.

2.2. Counting cells/FLMs

Prior to cell counts, samples were fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc.).

2.2.1 Counting non-fluorescent bacteria

Fixed samples containing non-fluorescent prey were stained with 4,6-Diamidine-2phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI) for 30 min at room temperature following Porter and Feig (1980). Depending on the sample being tested, the procedure may have included diluting the suspension 1000-fold prior to staining. A known volume of the stained sample was filtered onto a 0.2 µm filter (Whatman, Millipore) above a vacuum pump. The filter was placed onto a slide with immersion oil above and underneath. After applying a coverslip and a further drop of immersion oil, the filter was observed with UV excitation using an epifluorescence microscope (final magnification x1600). At least 400 cells were counted in numerous Whipple Grids (held within the eye piece). The area of the Whipple Grid is equal to 1/23068th of the filter so the average number of cells per grid was multiplied by 23068 to give the number of cells on the filter. This was then converted to cells/ml in the original undiluted suspension; knowing what volume and dilution had been filtered.

2.2.2 Counting fluorescent prey

Fixed samples containing fluorescing prey were counted as described in Section 2.2.1 without the need for DAPI staining. Green excitation was used for RFP-bacteria while blue excitation was used for DTAF-stained bacteria and FLMs.

2.2.3 Counting Tetrahymena pyriformis

Fixed samples containing *T. pyriformis* were counted with a haemocytometer. Cells were counted in each of the nine large squares on the haemocytometer and repeated 8 times to produce 72 (9x8) cell counts. The volume under each of the nine large squares is equal to 1×10^{-4} ml, therefore using the average number of cells (*x*) under one of the 9 large squares, the cell concentration could be calculated with *Equation 1*:

Concentration (cells/ml) =
$$\frac{x}{1 \times 10^{-4}}$$
 Equation 1

Where (x) is the average number of cells under one of the 9 large squares on the haemocytometer.

2.2.4 Counting prey within *Tetrahymena pyriformis* digestive vacuoles

Fixed samples (750 µl) were filtered onto 1.2 µm filters (Whatman, Millipore) above a vacuum pump. The filter was placed onto a slide with immersion oil above and underneath. After applying a coverslip and a further drop of immersion oil, the filter was observed with appropriate excitation for the given prey using an epifluorescence microscope (final magnification x1600) (Section 2.2.2). A total of 10 ciliate cells were located and the number of fluorescent vacuoles/cell, and number of fluorescent prey within each of those vacuoles, was determined. These data yielded the parameters, average vacuoles/cell, prey/cell and prey/vacuole.

2.3. Particle sizing

2.3.1 FLM volumes

Equation 2 was used to calculate the volumes of spherical FLMs (V).

$$V = \frac{4}{3}\pi r^3$$
 Equation 2

Where (r) is the radius of the FLM and which was provided by the manufacturer (Table 2.1).

2.3.2 Bacterial biovolumes (Pico, RFP-bacteria and DTAF-stained bacte-

ria)

Cell measurements were made on DAPI-stained cells filtered onto 0.2 µm filters (see Section 2.2.1) and viewed with UV excitation using an epifluorescence microscope (final magnification x1600). It was important to view, take photos (with Zen lite [Zeiss]) and size the cells under UV excitation as excitation of DTAF and RFP can cause a large halo effect and an overestimation of size. For each prey type, the length and diameter of 100 bacterial cells were measured using a point-to-point function in the ImageJ FIJI software.

For rod shaped bacteria, the Equation 3 was used to calculate the cell biovolume (V).

$$V = \pi r^2 \times l$$
 Equation 3

Where (r) is the radius and (l) is the length.

For the spherical shaped cells of *Staphylococcus aureus, Equation 2* was used.

2.4. Ingestion-only experiments

2.4.1 Ingestion at 2x10⁷ particles/ml

Ingestion-only experiments at $2x10^7$ particles/ml prey concentration employed all four prey types: Live (n=12), Picos (n=20), FLMs (n=3) and Dead prey (n=7) (full list in Appendix C, Table C.1). In triplicates, fluorescent prey were added to *T. pyriformis* at T = 0 min at a standard concentration of $2x10^7$ particles/ml and incubated at room temperature (*ca.* 23°C). Samples were fixed at 5 min with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc). Prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole at 5 min were determined (see Section 2.2.4).

2.4.2 Ingestion at different bacterial concentrations

Ingestion-only experiments at different prey concentrations employed *S. aureus* RFP (Live), *S. aureus* (Dead), *Synechococcus* sp.1479/11 (Pico [20]) and *Synechococcus* sp. S-KH3 (Pico [3]), details can be found in Tables 2.2, 2.3, 2.4. In triplicates, fluorescent prey were added to *T. pyriformis* at T = 0 min at varying concentrations (2x10⁸, 1x10⁸, 7x10⁷, 4x10⁷, 2x10⁷, 1x10⁷, 7x10⁶, 4x10⁶, 2x10⁶ and 1x10⁶ cells/ml) and incubated at room temperature (*ca.* 23°C). Samples were fixed at 5 min with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc). Prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole at 5 min were determined (see Section 2.2.4).

2.5. Pulse-chase experiments – ingestion and digestion

Pulse-chase experiments were performed with **Live** (n=12) and **Dead** prey (n=7) (Tests), and 0.5 μ m diameter **FLMs** (Controls). The prey concentration was 2x10⁷ particles/ml and experimental temperature was c*a.* 23°C. Picos were not tested because it is known they are indigestible to this ciliate (Thurman et al., 2010a).

2.5.1 Experimental protocol

<u>Pulse (Ingestion)</u>: In triplicates, fluorescent bacterial prey (Live, Dead) were added to *T. pyriformis* at T = 0 to initiate feeding. Samples (100µl) were taken at T = 2.5 and 5 min and fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc.).

<u>Chase (Digestion)</u>: At T= 6 min, the mixtures were diluted 1:50 with Chalkley's medium (Appendix A) to reduce the fluorescent prey concentration to $4x10^5$ particles/ml which is below the threshold concentration for feeding and stops further ingestion of fluorescent prey. Samples (1ml) were taken at 6.5 min, 8 min and then every 2 min until T = 20 min and fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc.).

Each pulse-chase experiment was accompanied by a control whereby the prey were indigestible FLMs. Additional samples at T = 25, 30, 40, 50 min allowed the vacuole passage time (VPT) to be determined (see Section 2.5.2.1.) and provided a 'no digestion' control to which possible digestion of bacterial prey could be compared (see Section 2.5.2.2)

2.5.2 Parameter determination

2.5.2.1 Vacuole passage time (VPT)

The indigestible FLMs were used to determine the vacuole passage time (VPT) of *T. pyriformis*. Digestive vacuole processing is divided into three phases: Phase 1: formation, Phase 2: processing, and Phase 3: egestion (Figure 2.1). The VPT is the time interval between the formation of the first fluorescent vacuole (start of Phase 1)

and its subsequent egestion (end of Phase 2/start of Phase 3) (Figure 2.1). The VPT of

T. pyriformis was consistently 30 min in this study.



2.5.2.2 Ingestion and egestion rates

Ingestion/egestion rates were calculated by plotting each of the three replicas against time and subjecting them to linear regression analysis (gradient = the ingestion/egestion rate). An average of the three rates was then determined together with the standard error of the mean (SEM). To calculate FLM/vacuole egestion rates T_{zero} was taken as 30 min (beginning of Phase 3) and data for T=30, 40 and 50 min were plotted. For ingestion rates, data for T=0, 2.5 and 5 min were plotted ('Phase 1'). In addition, the prey/cell, vacuole/cell and prey/vacuole data at 5 min were combined with the ingestion-only data (Section 2.4) to investigate the effect of prey state on ingestion/vacuole formation.

2.5.2.3 Digestion rate and digestion period

A decrease in potentially digestible prey within *T. pyriformis* cells immediately after the chase (Phase 2) indicates digestion of that prey; as no egestion of digestive vacuole content occurs within the VPT (identified as no change in FLM/cell over the same time period). Beyond the VPT, any observed loss of prey might be due to a combination of digestion and egestion.

Digestion rates (as prey/vac/min) were calculated by plotting the number of prey/vacuole against time (from T = 6.5 min) for each triplicate and performing linear regression analysis on the linear decline. An average of the three rates was determined together with the standard error of the mean (SEM). In all experiments a linear decline was observed for a given time period (the digestion period) after which no further loss of prey was recorded.

Digestion rates were also expressed as either μ m³/vac/min, by multiplying the digestion rate by the biovolume of the prey; or % prey digested/vac/min by dividing the number of prey digested within the digestive period by the total number of prey/vac at T = 5 min.

Total prey digested (%) was calculated using Equation 4:

Total digestion (%) =
$$\frac{DR \times DP}{PV}$$
 Equation 4

Where (DR) is the digestion rate (% prey/vac/min), (DP) is the digestion period (min) and (PV) is prey per vacuole at 5 minutes (prey/vac).

2.6. Growth experiments

A full list of prey used in growth experiments can be found in Table 3.8 (details for Live and Dead prey can be found in Table 2.2 and Table 2.3, respectively). Prey were fed to *T. pyriformis* at initial concentrations of $2x10^7$ and $2x10^8$ cells/ml to investigate the difference in ciliate growth rates.

In triplicates, prey were added to *T. pyriformis* (350 cells/ml for $2x10^7$ cells/ml prey concentration and 433 cells/ml for $2x10^8$ cells/ml prey concentration) at T = 0 h (early evening) and the cultures were incubated at *ca.* 23°C. Samples were taken at 1 or 1.5 h intervals between T = 14 h and T = 25 h (day 1). Further samples were taken at 2 hour intervals between T = 38 h and T = 46 h (day 2). All samples were fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc.). *T. pyriformis* concentration was determined with haemocytometer counts (Section 2.2.3) and graphs plotted of Ln cells/ml against time for each replica. Linear regression analysis of the increase in Ln cells/ml over time was applied and the specific growth rates (gradients) were combined to deduce an average and SEM.

2.7. Statistics

2.7.1 T-test

To determine significant differences between data, two-tailed, two-sample, equal variance t-tests were used with a confidence limit of 95% (P≤0.05).

2.7.2 Error

All errors were calculated as standard error of the mean (SEM) using Equation 5:

$$SE_{\bar{x}} = \frac{s}{\sqrt{n}}$$
 Equation 5

Where (s) is the sample standard deviation and (n) is the number of samples.

Chapter 3. Results

3.1. Red Fluorescent Protein (RFP) transformations

To expand the collection of RFP-expressing bacteria, transformations were attempted on eight bacterial strains (Section 2.1.3). VBMM agar + G60 was chosen as the medium to select for transformants because the *E. coli* strains (helper, mobiliser and donor) do not grow on it and the recipients were sensitive to Gentamycin (whereas the transformant would not be). Three bacteria, i.e. *Mesorhizobium* sp., *Morganella morganii* and *Shigella sonnei*, could not grow on VBMM so a different selective medium was required. *S. sonnei* grew on *Salmonella/Shigella* (SS) agar, but the *E. coli* strains could not, so SS agar + G60 was used to select for this strain's transformant. The other two strains proved more difficult and required a comparison of their antibiotic susceptibility profiles against those of the three *E. coli* strains (Table 3.1) in order to find an appropriate antibiotic to incorporate into LB medium, i.e., an antibiotic that the *E. coli* strains were sensitive to but the recipient was not.

M. morganii was found to be resistant to Colistin Sulphate (CO) at 25 μ g/ml but the *E. coli* strains were not (Table 3.1), so the selective medium used was LB + CO25 + GM60. No suitable antibiotic combination was found for *Mesorhizobium* sp..

After three attempts to transform the 7 bacterial strains only *Enterobacter cloacae* was transformed successfully. The transformant and recipient both had identical morphology on agar plates and the transformant only had an additional resistance to Gentamycin (Table 3.2). An incubation temperature of 30°C yielded the most % fluorescing cells (*ca.* 98%). Thereafter, this strain was added to the collection of RFP-expressing bacteria and used in this study.

	Bacterium							
Antibiotic	Mesorhiz obium sp.	M. morganii	S. sonnei	E. cloacae	E. coli S17	<i>E. coli</i> RK2013	<i>E. coli</i> AKN132	
Chlorampenicol	S	S	S	S	R	R	R	
Erythromycin	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	
Fusidic acid	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	
Oxacillin	R	R	R	R	R	R	ND	
Novobiocin	R	S	R	R	R	R	R	
Ampicillin	R	R	S	R	R	R	R	
Streptomycin	S	S	S	S	R	S	R	
Tetracycline	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	
Penicillin G	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	
Clindamycin	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	
Gentamicin	R	S	S	S	S	S	R	
Trimethoprim	R	R	S	R	R	R	R	
Sulphamethoxazole	R	R	R	R	R	R	R	
Cephalothin	R	R	R	R	R	S	S	
Colistin Sulphate	S	R	S	S	S	S	S	
Cotrimoxazole	R	S	S	S	R	S	S	
Sulphatriad	R	R	R	S	R	S	R	

Table 3.1 Antibiotic susceptibility profiles of all bacterial strains involved in transformation experiments.

Antibiotic	Mast ring and	Enterobacter cloacae		
Antibiotic	wast ring code	Recipient	Transformant	
Chlorampenicol	С	S	S	
Erythromycin	E	R	R	
Fusidic acid	FC	R	R	
Oxacillin	OX	R	R	
Novobiocin	NO	R	R	
Ampicillin	AP	R	R	
Streptomycin	S	S	S	
Tetracycline	Т	S	S	
Penicillin G	PG	R	R	
Clindamycin	CD	R	R	
Gentamicin	GM	S	R	
Trimethoprim	TM	R	R	
Sulphamethoxazole	SMX	R	R	
Cephalothin	KF	R	R	
Colistin Sulphate	CO	S	S	
Cotrimoxazole	TS	S	S	
Sulphatriad	ST	S	S	

Table 3.2 Antibiotic sensitivity profile of recipient Enterobacter cloacae and red fluorescent protein (RFP) expressing Enterobacter cloacae. These two strains have identical antibiotic sensitivity profile, apart from the resistance to gentamicin that the transformed strain gained from the RFP-containing plasmid.

3.2. Digestive vacuole processing using pulse-chase

experiments

The time taken for a digestive vacuole to pass though the cell, the vacuole passage time (VPT), of *Tetrahymena pyriformis* was determined by feeding the ciliate indigestible 0.49µm diameter fluorescently-labelled microspheres (FLMs) in pulse-chase experiments (see Section 2.4.2). Figure 3.1 shows a typical graphical result whereby plotting the number of FLMs/cell or vacuoles/cell against time shows three phases: (1) ingestion, (2) passage and (3) egestion. Phases 1 and 2 combined denote the VPT of the first fluorescent vacuole formed and this was consistently 30 min in this study. Note that egestion rate (Phase 3) appears slower than formation rate (Phase 1).



The following parameters were calculated from 13 pulse-chase experiments (Section

2.5) and 1 ingestion-only experiment (Section 2.4): FLM ingestion rate, vacuole

formation rate, FLM egestion rate and vacuole egestion rate. Table 3.3 confirms that

vacuole egestion rate (average = 0.018 ± 0.003 vac/cell/min) is always slower than formation rate (average = 0.456 ± 0.024 vac/cell/min) which agrees with Thurman et al. (2010a) who suggested that this was due to vacuoles queuing at the single cytoproct prior to egestion. So, although the VPT for the first vacuole formed was consistently 30 min in this study, the VPT of subsequent vacuoles could be longer.

FLM	Ingestion rate	Vacuole	Egestion rate	Vacuole egestion
Concentration	(FIM/cell/min)	formation rate	(FIM/cell/min)	rate
(FLM/ml)		(vac/cell/min)		(vac/cell/min)
2.00E+07	1.93±0.19	0.33±0.04	0.11±0.01	0.007±0.002
2.00E+07	2.04±0.20	0.41±0.03	0.21±0.01	0.018±0.009
2.00E+07	2.16±0.23	0.36±0.02	0.10±0.00	0.015±0.000
2.00E+07	2.22±0.09	0.34±0.01	0.12±0.02	0.008±0.003
2.00E+07	2.69±0.19	0.44±0.04	0.09±0.03	0.015±0.000
2.00E+07	2.83±0.10	0.31±0.02	0.14±0.05	0.022±0.004
2.00E+07	2.83±0.18	0.55±0.01	0.21±0.06	0.020±0.003
2.00E+07	2.84±0.06	0.44±0.01	ND	ND
2.00E+07	2.91±0.13	0.51±0.04	0.21±0.01	0.037±0.011
2.00E+07	2.96±0.02	0.49±0.01	0.16±0.03	0.018±0.003
2.00E+07	3.14±0.03	0.41±0.01	0.26±0.04	0.035±0.003
2.00E+07	3.48±0.37	0.56±0.02	0.16±0.02	0.017±0.003
2.00E+07	3.52±0.47	0.59±0.05	0.18±0.01	0.022±0.002
2.00E+07	4.61±0.47	0.60±0.04	0.13±0.07	0.018±0.016

Table 3.3 FLM ingestion rates, vacuole formation rates, FLM egestion rates and vacuole egestion rates for Tetrahymena pyriformis when fed 0.49 μ m diameter indigestible FLMs at 2x10⁷ particles/ml. Error = SEM. ND = not determined.

An average vacuole formation rate of 0.453 ± 0.026 vac/cell/min indicates that on average, *T. pyriformis* produces one vacuole in 2.21 min when fed $2x10^7$ prey/ml (range: 1.67 min to 3.23 min). Hence a pulse at 6 min should allow for the formation of at least **two** complete vacuoles before the chase (relevant for digestion experiments, Section 3.4).

3.3. Phase 1: Ingestion

This study examined the processing of live/digestible RFP-expressing bacteria and compared it to other prey states. These included heat-killed/DTAF-stained bacteria (dead but digestible), FLMs (inert but indigestible) and live *Synechococcus* (live but indigestible). The mean biovolume (μ m³) of each prey state was significantly different to each other (P≤0.05) with the *Synechococcus* species (**Pico**) being the largest in biovolume, followed by RFP-expressing live bacteria (**Live**), then heat-killed/DTAF-stained bacteria (**Dead**), and finally FLMs (**FLM**) (Table 3.4). Therefore, an initial analysis of the effect of prey biovolume on instantaneous ingestion of prey and vacuole formation was required prior to analysing the effect of prey state.

Prey State	Code	n	Biovolume Mean (µm³)	Biovolume Range (µm³)
Inert/Indigestible	FLM	3	0.11 ± 0.028	0.065 - 0.410
Live/Indigestible	Pico	20	1.10 ± 0.100	0.588 – 2.342
Live/Digestible	Live	12	0.79 ± 0.075	0.272 – 1.701
Heat-killed/Digestible	Dead	7	0.27 ± 0.030	0.120 - 0.470

Table 3.4 Mean biovolumes of the four prey states (FLM, Pico, Live and Dead). Error = SEM. Biovolumes were significantly different from each other ($P \le 0.05$).

3.3.1 Effect of prey biovolume on digestive vacuole formation and content

Prey ingestion and vacuole formation data for *T. pyriformis* at 5 min (initial prey concentration at 2x10⁷ particles/ml) were available from 73 experiments (pulse-chase and ingestion-only experiments) which encompassed the four prey states (Table 3.4). The three parameters deduced at 5 min were prey/cell (P/C), vacuoles/cell (V/C), and prey/vacuole (P/V). The latter parameter was calculated by dividing P/C by V/C for each replicate and it represents the number of prey within one complete vacuole.

Regression analysis of prey biovolume against each of the three parameters (for all 73 experiments; 4 prey states) showed no evidence that, within the first 5 min of feeding, prey biovolume affected any of these parameters (Figure 3.2).



It was noted that there was a large variation in prey/vacuole values when the prey biovolume was less than 0.5μ m³ but not above this biovolume (Figure 3.2C). When these data were separated out for each prey state (Figure 3.3) it became clear that the observed variation was mainly due to the Dead prey with prey/vacuole values ranging from *ca*. 3 to 14 (Figure 3.3B). Conversely, Picos (all >0.5 µm³) only ranged from *ca*. 4 to 6 (Figure 3.3D), Live bacterial prey (which included cells ≤0.5 µm³) ranged from *ca*. 4 to 7 (Figure 3.3C), and FLMs (all ≤0.5 µm³) ranged from *ca*. 5 to 9 prey/vacuole (Figure 3.3A).



Although the prey biovolume did not directly influence the number of prey per vacuole (Figure 3.2C and Figure 3.3) it did influence the total volume (μ m³) of prey within those vacuoles (Figure 3.4). In other words, larger prey gave rise to larger vacuoles. For example, the vacuoles formed with the largest prey (Pico 20 at 2.34 μ m³) contained *ca.* 5 cells which was equivalent to the number of prey/vacuole obtained with smaller Picos (Figure 3.3D), but because of its size Pico 20 yielded the largest vacuoles (Figure 3.4).



3.3.2 Effect of prey state on digestive vacuole formation and content

3.3.2.1 General overview of between-prey state analysis

The effect of the four prey states (fed at $2x10^7$ cells/ml) on the three parameters (prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole) after 5 min of feeding by *T. pyriformis* were evaluated and the average data presented in Table 3.5.

	Prey/cell	Vacuoles/cell	No. Prey/vacuole	Prey biovolume (µm³)/vacuole
FLM	13.85±0.83	2.19±0.12	6.39±0.27	0.76±0.21*
Dead	13.66±2.31	1.73±0.09	7.53±0.98	1.93±0.31*
Live	15.82±1.04	3.40±0.15*	4.58±0.15*	3.62±0.37*
Pico	10.31±0.56*	1.89±0.07	5.41±0.14*	5.98±0.57*

Table 3.5 The effect of four prey states (FLM, Dead, Live and Pico) on prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole (as number of prey and biovolume of prey) after 5 min feeding by T. pyriformis. Error = SEM. *significantly different to all other prey states ($P \le 0.05$).

The processing of FLMs and Dead prey appeared equivalent with *T. pyriformis*

ingesting ca. 14 prey in 5 min and depositing them into two vacuoles, yielding ca. 7

prey/vacuole, but vacuoles containing Dead prey were significantly larger (Table 3.5).

The processing of both live prey states (Live bacteria and Pico) was different.

Specifically, prey/vacuole values were significantly lower than those with FLMs and Dead prey (Table 3.5), for different reasons.

Significantly fewer Pico cells (*ca.* 10 cells) were ingested by *T. pyriformis* in 5 min but they were still deposited into 2 vacuoles, yielding *ca.* 5 prey/vacuole and yielding the largest vacuoles of all prey states (Table 3.5). Conversely, Live prey were ingested to the same extent as FLM/Dead prey but they were deposited into more vacuoles, yielding the lowest prey/vacuole recorded but which were the second largest in size (Table 3.5). This suggests that live prey are processed differently to dead or inert prey at the ingestion stage, i.e. deposition of prey into vacuoles.

3.3.2.2 Effect of bacterial strain within each prey state

The level of inherent variation between experiments was explored with the FLM data and then the effect of bacterial strain was explored within each of the other three prey states.

3.3.2.2.1 FLMs

Fourteen experiments fed inert 0.49 μ m diameter FLMs to *T. pyriformis*. Even though these FLMs were identical to each other, and all experiments employed a concentration of 2x10⁷ particles/ml, there was inherent variation in prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole between experiments (Figure 3.5).

Prey/cell ranged from 9.37 (experiment 14) to 23.07 (experiment 7) (Figure 3.5A) yielding a net variation of 13.7 prey/cell. Vacuoles/cell ranged from 1.53 (experiment 2) to 3.00 (experiment 7) yielding a net variation of 1.47 vacuoles/cell (Figure 3.5B). The number of prey/vacuole ranged from 4.93 (experiment 5) to 9.31 (experiment 2) yielding a net variation of 4.38 prey/vacuole (Figure 3.5B). These variations were considered inherent to the use of different *T. pyriformis* cultures. Although the *T. pyriformis* population is clonal, slight variations in each culture's growth stage, level of satiation etc. were to be expected at the start of each experiment.





3.3.2.2.2 Picos

Examination of the processing of the twenty Pico strains (Figure 3.6) shows that the prey/cell ranged from 5.35 (strain 12) to 14.53 (strain 16) (Figure 3.6A), vacuoles/cell ranged from 1.3 (strain 12) to 2.6 (strain 17) (Figure 3.6B) and prey/vacuole ranged from 4.25 (strain 14) and 6.49 (strain 16) (Figure 3.6B). Comparing net variations to those inherent experimental variations (with FLMs) suggests that variation around *ca.* 2 vacuoles/cell is inherent whereas less variation is seen with regards to prey/cell and consequently prey/vacuole. This possibly indicates tighter control of these latter parameters by the ciliate, further suggesting that Picos might directly influence ingestion.



Figure 3.7 shows the same data as in Figure 3.6A but the prey are ranked from least favoured (Pico 12) to most favoured (Pico 16) however, significance tests ($P \le 0.05$) only resulted in only one clear grouping (Picos 12, 13, 14 and 15) which separated out

from the rest (where there was much overlapping). Prey biovolume again played no part in these groupings and this can be highlighted most strongly in Figure 3.7 whereby Pico 3 is the smallest cell at $0.59 \ \mu m^3$ and Pico 20 is the largest cell at $2.34 \ \mu m^3$ yet their ingestion by the ciliate is equivalent (but the latter will produce larger vacuoles). The fact that only three strains are non-lysogenic (Strains 6, 8 and 17) and the rest contain prophage also does not appear to affect ingestion.

3.3.2.2.3 Live bacteria

Examination of the processing of the twelve live bacterial strains (Figure 3.8) shows that the prey/cell ranged from 9.4 (*A. hydrophila*) to 24.5 (*P. aeruginosa*) (Figure 3.8A), vacuoles/cell ranged from 2.6 (*A. hydrophila*) to 4.4 (*S. enterica* 74) (Figure 3.8B) and prey/vacuole ranged from between 3.62 (*A. hydrophila*) and 6.15 (*P. aeruginosa*) (Figure 3.8B). Comparing net variations to those inherent experimental variations (with FLMs) suggest that variation in prey/cell is inherent, i.e. the variation recorded between strains could be 'experimental error' which might explain why Live prey/cell values are not significantly different to those with FLMs and Dead cells (Table 3.5). The variation around *ca.* 3 vacuoles/cell is also inherent (and not significantly different) but the value is significantly higher than the *ca.* 2 vacuoles/cell recorded with other prey states (Table 3.5). Variation in prey/vacuole was much reduced compared to FLMs suggesting tighter control of this parameter by the ciliate, further suggesting that Live bacteria might directly influence ingestion; specifically influencing vacuole formation rate.

Figure 3.9 shows the same data for prey per vacuole as in Figure 3.8B but the bacterial strains are ranked from those having the least prey/vacuole (*A. hydrophila*) to those having the most (*P. aeruginosa*). However, differences were not significant and due to inherent experimental variation (as seen with the FLMs). The total biovolume of prey within each vacuole is also shown but there is no correlation between prey biovolume and prey/vacuole. Another factor, currently unknown, must be responsible

for controlling vacuole formation and filling. To explore whether the mechanism might involve bacterial cell surface receptors the Live data were compared to those for Dead cells as the process of heat-killing cells is known to damage/destroy surface receptors.



Figure 3.8 Prey per cell (A), vacuoles per cell and prey per vacuole (B) data for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on 12 live RFP-fluorescing strains of bacteria. The average of 6 replicates for each strain is presented. Error bars = SEM.


3.3.2.2.4 Dead bacteria

The effect of heat-killing cells is best seen in Figure 3.10 which directly compares parameters obtained with four strains in Live and Dead states. The Live cells induced the formation of between 3.0 and 4.4 vacuoles/cell (Figure 3.10A) but all vacuoles contained 4.5-5.5 prey (Figure 3.10B). Conversely, Dead cells induced the formation of only 1.2-2.2 vacuoles/cell (Figure 3.10A) but the number of prey/vacuole varied considerably (6 to 13.5 prey/vacuole) (Figure 3.10B). *S. aureus* was the only prey to yield equivalent prey/vacuole with both states.

There was no obvious pattern seen with regards to the effect of prey state on prey/cell, which ranged from 8.3-21.3 irrespective of cell state (Figure 3.10C). This net variation





pyriformis feeding for 5 min on four strains of bacteria in both Live and Dead states. Error bars = SEM. *Significant difference between Live and Dead data ($P \le 0.05$). However, there are clear trends with regards to the formation of vacuoles (Live cells always induced a higher number of vacuoles/cell, Figure 3.10A) and the number of prey deposited into those vacuole (Live cells always induce a lower number of prey/vacuole, Figure 3.10B), suggesting receptor-based mechanisms are involved in vacuole formation and filling.

Looking more closely at vacuoles/cell, Figure 3.11 shows data for all Dead and Live species tested. There is an obvious split between all Dead cells being on the left of the bar chart (lower number of vacuoles/cell) and all Live cells being on the right (higher number of vacuoles/cell) so the trend displayed in Figure 3.10 for four bacterial species appears to hold for other species. Variation in vacuoles/cell for Dead cells (*ca.* 1-2) was not significant and within the range of experimental error. In general, there appeared to be little effect of prey species or Gram status (Gram-positive: *S. aureus, L. monocytogenes & L. fermentum*) on vacuole formation whether the cells were Dead or Live.

Prey/vacuole results with Dead cells were highly variable (Figure 3.12) and outside the limits of experimental error. This was opposite to that found with Live bacteria whereby prey/vacuole did not differ significantly with prey strain (Figure 3.9). Data therefore suggest that strain differences may be being recognised by the ciliate only if the cells have been heat-killed, possibly suggesting that the heat-killing process leads to exposure of more deeper (species-specific) receptors in the cell membrane.







3.3.2.3 Effect of bacterial concentration within each prey state

The Live and Dead forms of *S. aureus* were fed to *T. pyriformis* at various concentrations to determine the maximum values of prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole at 5 min and to evaluate whether T. pyriformis was at maximum feeding capacity with the 2x10⁷ prey/ml used in the ingestion experiments (Section 3.3.2.2). In those ingestion experiments the two states of S. aureus did not yield a significant difference in prey/vacuole values (Figure 3.10B). Their inclusion here would see whether this difference could be exaggerated at higher prey concentration. Picos 3 and 20 were also included in this experiment to test whether cell biovolume played a role in vacuole formation and content at different prey concentrations; with Pico 3 being the smallest cell at 0.59 µm³ and Pico 20 being the largest cell at 2.34 µm³. Their inclusion also allowed investigation of whether Picos affected vacuole formation rates (as do the other Live bacteria) at a different prey concentration to 2x10⁷ cells/ml. FLMs were not included in these experiments so data were taken from Table 3 of Thurman et al. (2010a) to provide maximum values for the parameters prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole for this ciliate feeding on 0.49µm diameter FLMs at the same experimental temperature (Table 3.6, Appendix C Figure C.1)

Data showed that all four prey yielded hyperbolic relationships for each parameter against prey concentration (Figure 3.13) although the goodness of fit was lower with Dead *S. aureus*. Maximum values of prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole are presented in Table 3.6 along with their corresponding values at 2x10⁷ prey/ml from the independent ingestion experiments (Section 3.3.2.2). Further data on Ks values can be found in Appendix C Table C.3.

Both Pico strains had induced their maximum number of vacuoles/cell (*ca.* 2.4 vacuoles/cell) in *T. pyriformis* at a prey concentration of $2x10^7$ prey/ml in the ingestion experiments (Table 3.6). Above this prey concentration the number of prey/cell kept

increasing to a maximum of 15-18 prey/cell but these cells were enclosed in this limited number of vacuoles so prey/vacuole increased to a maximum of *ca.* 7 prey/vacuole (compared to the *ca.* 5.5 recorded at 2x10⁷ prey/ml) (Table 3.6, Figure 3.13C). Both Pico strains also resulted in very similar maximum number of vacuoles/cell (2.50 and 2.57 vacuoles/cell respectively). Both also, on average, had a 10-fold lower Ks value for vacuole/cell than Live and Dead *S. aureus* (Appendix C Table C.3), indicating that maximum vacuole production for Picos was reached at much lower prey concentrations than with the other bacteria. This was very similar to that obtained with FLMs (Appendix C Table C.3) suggesting that vacuole formation rates over 5 min were not influenced by the presence of Picos. However, the maximum number of prey/vacuole was much higher for FLMs, suggesting that there is possibly less control with regards to the filling of vacuoles with this prey state.

Maximum value	Prey/cell	Vacuoles/cell	Prey/vacuole
Dead S. aureus	18.30±3.20	1.99±0.20	9.54±0.36
Live S. aureus	27.34±1.70	3.36±0.15	7.29±0.17
Pico 3	18.17±0.38	2.50±0.02	7.16±0.13
Pico 20	15.32±0.11	2.30±0.03	6.58±0.10
*FLM	41.80±1.41	2.57±0.28	19.53±0.43
at 2x10 ⁷ prey/ml			
Dead S. aureus	8.33±0.15	1.20±0.06	6.01±0.13
Live S. aureus	18.14±0.36	3.03±0.15	5.51±0.16
Pico 3	13.83±1.48	2.40±0.21	5.74±0.13
Pico 20	13.23±2.12	2.33±0.24	5.63±0.44
FLM	13.85±0.83	2.21±0.12	6.39±0.27

Table 3.6 Mean values of prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole at maximum and at $2x10^7$ prey/ml when T. pyriformis feeds for 5 min on S. aureus Live and Dead, Pico 3 and Pico 20. *using data for 0.49µm diameter FLMs in Table 3 of Thurman et al. (2010a). Error = SEM.

Live *S. aureus* induced the formation of 3.03 vacuoles at 2x10⁷ prey/ml which was close to the maximum (3.36); but not as close as the Picos (Table 3.6). Above this prey concentration the prey/cell increased to a maximum of 27 prey/cell but once again these cells were enclosed in this limited number of vacuoles so prey/vacuole did

increase to a maximum of *ca.* 7 prey/vacuole. This was remarkably similar to the maximum prey/vacuole induced by the Picos (Table 3.6, Figure 3.13C).



The response of Dead *S. aureus* was different to the other three prey strains. Firstly, it did not induce a near maximum number of vacuoles/cell in *T. pyriformis* at $2x10^7$ cells/ml in the ingestion experiments, but it did increase to a maximum of 2 vacuoles/cell at higher prey concentration (Table 3.6). Secondly, the maximum of *ca*. 9.5 prey/vacuole was significantly higher (P≤0.01) than the *ca*. 7 prey/vacuole recorded with its live counterpart and shows that the effect of prey state on this parameter can be exaggerated at high concentration (Table 3.6, Figure 3.13C).

Time constraints did not allow for further tests with other bacterial strains to evaluate the suggestion that all live prey (bacteria and Picos) might yield a maximum of 7 prey/vacuole in 5 min whereas Dead prey might yield different maximum prey/vacuole values. Instead, experiments evaluated whether the 'filling' of vacuoles was constant over time.

3.3.2.4 Effect of time on digestive vacuole formation and content

Staphylococcus aureus (Live and Dead) and Picos 3, 5 and 20 were fed to *T. pyriformis* at a concentration of $5x10^6$ prey/ml. Samples were taken every 5 min up to 20 min and prey/cell, vacuoles/cell and prey/vacuole were determined. Twenty-minutes was considered the maximum time for this experiment because Thurman et al. (2010a) recorded a minimum VPT of 25 min with this ciliate strain. The rationale for the chosen prey concentration was two-fold. Firstly, a high prey concentration ($2x10^7$ prey/ml) could possibly yield over 10 digestive vacuoles/cell by 20 min and could lead to counting errors for parameters such as prey/cell and prey/vacuole. Secondly, it was noted in Figure 3.13B that Picos 3 and 20 reached their maximum vacuole/cell at low prey concentrations ($4-6x10^6$ cells/ml) compared to Live or Dead *S. aureus* (> $5x10^7$ cells/ml). This required corroboration so Pico 5 (at 1.14 µm³) was included in the experiment. The data gathered here at 5 min are not included in Figure 3.13 and represent an independent experiment



The most striking feature of this experiment was that prey/vacuole values were constant over time (Figure 3.14C), i.e. newly formed vacuoles were consistently filled with a similar number of prey cells to older vacuoles, irrespective of the size of the prey, whether they were live (Live *S. aureus* and Picos) or dead, or even whether they were digestible (Live and Dead *S. aureus*) or indigestible (Picos). The inclusion of Pico 5 also confirmed that Picos are at near maximum vacuole formation at lower prey concentrations (Figure 3.14B).

The number of prey/vacuole did however differ between prey states with the Live *S*. *aureus* yielding a significantly lower number of prey/vacuole compared to the other four prey which were equivalent (Figure 3.14C). Because the Live and Dead *S*. *aureus* are digestible, the difference in prey/vacuole (which is a <u>net</u> value) may be due to differential digestion, i.e. Live *S*. *aureus* being digested quicker in the digestive vacuole – this was evaluated (see Section 3.4).

3.4. Phase 2: Prey digestion

3.4.1 Digestive period

Twelve live RFP-expressing bacterial strains (two experiments) and seven heat-killed strains (one experiment [except for *K. aerogenes* which was in four experiments]) were used to investigate the digestion process of *T. pyriformis* using pulse-chase experiments (see Section 2.5). Below shows the results of a typical pulse-chase experiment involving indigestible prey (FLMs) as a control (to determine VPT) and a digestible prey (live *S. enterica* [12694]). Both prey were ingested in Phase 1 (sampled at 0, 2.5 and 5 min). A chase at 6 min initiates Phase 2 whereby indigestible FLMs persist within the cell whereas digestible prey decline immediately. Considering the FLM-containing vacuoles indicate that no egestion is taking place until 30 min, the loss of *S. enterica* (12694) in Phase 2 is solely due to digestion. Note that digestion only appeared to occur up to 18 min, after which the number of prey/cell did not differ significantly. This is taken to indicate a digestive period (DP) of 18 min. Also, none of the combinations resulted in zero/prey/vacuole over the DP which is not surprising as this is an average population response (Thurman et al. 2010a).

The average digestion period for all 12 Live prey was 17.21 ± 0.37 min (range 14-20 min) while that for the 7 Dead prey was significantly shorter at 13.85 ± 0.53 min (range 11-16 min) (P≤0.05) (Table 3.7). There was no significant difference discerned between the strains within the Live prey state implying the range (14-20 min) might be due to standard experimental error. Significance testing could not be performed within the Dead prey state as all dead prey (apart from *K. aerogenes*) involved only one experiment and each of the three replicas had identical DPs so SEM = 0.



enterica /cell increased during the pulse due to ingestion (Phase 1). It then decreased immediately after the chase due to digestion alone (Phase 2). Digestion continued up until ca. 18 min and then digestion appeared to stop. Error bars = SEM.

Prey	Prey state	Digestive period (min)
Aeromonas hydrophila	Live	16.0±0.00
Enterobacter cloacae	Live	15.0±0.45
Escherichia coli	Live	17.0±0.45
Klebsiella aerogenes	Dead	15.0±0.41
Klebsiella aerogenes	Live	18.0±1.12
Klebsiella pneumonia	Dead	13.5±0.00
Klebsiella pneumonia	Live	17.0±1.23
Lactobacillus fermentum	Dead	14.0±0.00
Listeria monocytogenes	Dead	15.0±0.00
Mesorhizobium sp.	Dead	11.0±0.00
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Live	20.0±0.00
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Live	16.0±0.00
Salmonella enterica (12694)	Live	19.0±0.45
Salmonella enterica (74)	Dead	14.0±0.00
Salmonella enterica (74)	Live	18.0±0.89
Serratia liquefaciens	Live	20.0±0.00
Serratia marcescens	Live	18.0±0.00
Staphylococcus aureus	Dead	11.0±0.00
Staphylococcus aureus	Live	19.0±0.45

Table 3.7 Digestion periods of 12 Live and 7 Dead prey when fed to T. pyriformis at a concentration of 2×10^7 cells/ml. Digestion period were calculated from a number of experiments in triplicate for each prey: one experiment for Dead prey (but four for K. aerogenes); two for Live prey. Error = SEM.

3.4.2 Digestion Rates

Digestion data for *T. pyriformis* (initial prey concentration at $2x10^7$ particles/ml) were available from 34 pulse-chase experiments – 24 for Live prey (two for each bacterial strain) and 10 for Dead prey (four for *K. aerogenes*; one for each of the other bacterial strains). Digestion rates (prey per vacuole per minute) were determined from linear loss of prey per vacuole from 6.5 min to the end of the DP (Figure 3.17). The average of three replicas from one experiment were used, except for Dead *K. aerogenes* where the average of 12 replicas from 4 experiments were used.



'Digestion' can be presented one of three ways and Figure 3.17 shows these for the four bacterial strains that were present as Live and Dead cells. Firstly, digestion rate as prey/vac/min (Figure 3.17A) suggests that Dead cells are digested faster than their Live counterpart (except for *S. aureus*). If digestion rates are expressed as μ m³/vac/min (Figure 3.17B) results suggest the opposite, in that Live cells are digested faster than Dead cells (except for *S. aureus*). Both these methods do not account for variations between the number of prey/vacuole (higher for Dead cells) and prey biovolume/vacuole (higher for Live cells). To normalise the data, and investigate whether differential digestion was actually occurring, digestion rates were expressed

as % loss of prey/vacuole/min (Figure 3.17C); which yields equivalent data whether prey/vacuole or μ m³/vacuole is used. Table 3.8 shows the digestion rates for all prey tested and the total % of ingested prey/vacuole digested during the digestive period.





The total digestion of Live and Dead cells was equivalent with *T. pyriformis* digesting on average *ca.* 52% of enclosed Live prey and *ca.* 50% of enclosed Dead prey within the digestive period (Table 3.8). However, the length of the digestive period with Dead prey was significantly shorter than that with Live cells (Section 3.4.1) and hence the digestion rates of Dead prey (%prey/vac/min), overall, appear significantly faster than with Live prey (P≤0.05); although only one out of four combinations show this in Figure 3.17. This means that when the number of cells/vacuole of Live *S. aureus* was lower than Dead *S. aureus* over a 20 min period in Figure 3.14C, it was not due to differential digestion between Live and Dead cells.

Drov	Ctata	Total digestion	Digestion rate
Prey	State	(%)	(% Prey/vac/min)
Aeromonas hydrophila	Live	53±1	3.31±0.15
Enterobacter cloacae	Live	54±2	3.60±0.24
Escherichia coli	Live	37±3	2.19±0.31
Klebsiella aerogenes	Live	63±8	3.66±0.34
Klebsiella pneumonia	Live	48±2	2.92±0.48
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Live	49±4	2.44±0.31
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Live	61±2	3.84±0.28
Salmonella enterica (12694)	Live	58±4	3.06±0.21
Salmonella enterica (74)	Live	45±5	2.53±0.21
Serratia liquefaciens	Live	53±4	2.64±0.13
Serratia marcescens	Live	40±2	2.22±0.16
Staphylococcus aureus	Live	64±4	3.36±0.24
Klebsiella aerogenes	Dead	48±4	3.23±0.29
Mesorhizobium sp.	Dead	46±3	4.19±0.27
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Dead	64±6	4.77±0.45
Salmonella enterica	Dead	40±3	2.83±0.20
Lactobacillus fermentum	Dead	60±10	4.32±0.69
Listeria monocytogenes	Dead	81±9	4.07±0.45
Staphylococcus aureus	Dead	53±22	4.80±1.97

Table 3.8 Digestion rates as % loss of prey/vacuole/min of twelve Live and seven Dead bacterial prey when fed to T. pyriformis at the concentration of 2×10^7 cells/ml. Total digestion (% of enclosed prey/vacuole) also included. Error = SEM.

The digestion rate (% Prey/vac/min) within each of the Live and Dead groups were very similar. No significant differences between Dead strains were discerned and only two groupings (that were not significantly different from each other) were distinguished within the Live prey (Figure 3.18). However, there was no obvious pattern, for example, the two *S. enterica* strains (74 and 12694) were in different groups, the two *Pseudomonas* species (*P. aerogenes* and *P. fluorescens*) were also in two groups (Figure 3.18). Both *Serratia* species (*S. marcescens* and *S. liquefaciens*) were in Group 2 but data for the *Klebsiella* species were inconclusive. In addition, *S. aureus*, the only Gram positive bacterium, clustered with the Gram-negative strains in Group 1 (Figure 3.18), thus showing no obvious effect Gram status.



Figure 3.18. Digestion rates for 12 Live RFP bacteria. Error bars = SEM. Prey were divided into groups that were not significantly different to each other (groups are denoted by the symbol (

3.4.3 Effect of vacuole content on digestion

Since there was very litte effect of species/strain on total digestion (%) and digestion rates (% Prey/vac/min) the effect of the number of prey, and the biovolume of prey, within the DVs were investigated. Figure 3.19 shows the relationships between prey/vacuole or prey biovolume/vacuole against % total digestion, for Live cells (Figure 3.19 A & C) and then Live and Dead combined (Figure 3.19 B & D). There is no relationship between prey/vacuole and % digestion (for either prey state, $R^2 \le 0.1$), but there is a relationship between prey biovolume/vacuole and % total digestion for Live prey ($R^2=0.50$) which is reduced in the presence of Dead prey ($R^2=0.15$) whereby % total digestion declines with increasing prey biovolume enclosed in the vacuole.

Figure 3.20 shows the relationships between prey/vacuole or prey biovolume/vacuole against digestion rate, for Live cells only (Figure 3.20A & Figure 3.20C) and then Live and Dead combined (Figure 3.20B & Figure 3.20D). There is also no relationship between prey/vacuole and digestion rate (for either prey state, $R^2 \le 0.1$), but there is a relationship between prey biovolume/vacuole and digestion rate for Live prey ($R^2=0.32$) which is maintained in the presence of Dead prey ($R^2=0.32$).

This may at first glance appear as a negative relationship but in reality more prey biovolume is being digested when the DVs contains larger prey. Figure 3.21 shows a strong positive relationship between total biovolume of prey within the DV and the volume of enclosed prey digested for both Live and Dead prey states ($R^2 = 0.89$). This implies that larger cells result in more biovolume being digested (and possibly assimilated) which in itself could lead to higher ciliate specific growth rates. This was tested in Section 3.5.



pyriformis when fed (A) Live prey or (B) Live and Dead prey; total digestion (%) in the digestive period against biovolume of prey/vacuole for T. pyriformis when fed (C) Live prey; or (D) Live and Dead prey.







3.5. Growth

The twelve live bacterial strains and seven heat-killed strains were used to investigate the growth of *T. pyriformis*. Specific growth rates were calculated by linear regression from at least 6 data points of LN cells/ml against time, one for each of the three replicas (Figure 3.22). The average of three replicas was used to determine the average specific growth rate (h^{-1}) ±SEM.



3.5.1 Effect of bacterial concentration and species/strain

Table 3.8 shows the growth rates of the ciliate feeding on the different bacteria. The effect of prey concentration was tested with live prey only and as expected the growth rates with $2x10^8$ prey/ml were significantly higher (P≤0.05) than those for $2x10^7$ prey/ml. There were some significant differences in growth rate of *T. pyriformis* when fed different strains of bacteria. *S. aureus* (the only Gram-positive strain) yielded a significantly lower growth rate (P≤0.05) than all the other Gram-negative bacteria (Figure 3.23). The Gram-negative bacteria clustered into three groupings (that were not significantly different from each other), and just like the digestion rate data, no obvious pattern emerged. The two *S. enterica* strains (74 and 12694) were once again in different groups and so were the two *Serratia* species (*S. marcescens* and *S. liquefaciens*). The two *Pseudomonas* species (*P. aerogenes* and *P. fluorescens*) were now in the same group (Group 2) and data for the *Klebsiella* species were again inconclusive.

Dead prey were only fed an initial prey concentration of $2x10^7$ cells/ml. The only Grampositive bacterium *S. aureus* resulted in a significantly lower specific growth rate than *K. aerogenes* (P≤0.05); significantly higher than *L. fermentum* and *L. monocytogenes* (P≤0.05); but not significantly different to *K pneumonia* or *S. enterica* (74).

Initial prey concentration:		2x10 ⁷ cells/ml 2x10 ⁸ cells/	
Prey	State	Specific growth rate	Specific growth rate
Aeromonas hydrophila	Live	0.109±0.012	ND
Enterobacter cloacae	Live	0.226±0.008	0.277±0.009
Escherichia coli	Live	0.228±0.013	0.357±0.019
Klebsiella aerogenes	Live	0.147±0.009	0.412±0.040
Klebsiella pneumonia	Live	0.204±0.028	0.347±0.006
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Live	0.164±0.015	0.284±0.006
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Live	0.164±0.008	0.439±0.011

Salmonella enterica (12694)	Live	0.139±0.007	0.398±0.028
Salmonella enterica (74)	Live	0.179±0.011	0.299±0.008
Serratia liquefaciens	Live	0.164±0.017	0.286±0.010
Serratia marcescens	Live	0.231±0.016	0.333±0.006
Staphylococcus aureus	Live	0.062±0.011	0.171±0.012
Klebsiella aerogenes	Dead	0.284±0.015	ND
Mesorhizobium sp.	Dead	0.189±0.031	ND
Staphylococcus aureus	Dead	0.184±0.018	ND
Klebsiella pneumonia	Dead	0.168±0.015	ND
Salmonella enterica (74)	Dead	0.168±0.019	ND
Lactobacillus fermentum	Dead	0.076±0.014	ND
Listeria monocytogenes	Dead	0.075±0.001	ND

Table 3.8 Specific growth rates of twelve Live and seven Dead bacterial prey when fed to T. pyriformis at the concentration of 2×10^7 or 2×10^8 cells/ml. Error = SEM. ND = not determined.



Figure 3.23. Specific growth rates for T. pyriformis feeding for 5 min on Live bacteria at an initial prey concentration of 2×10^7 cells/ml. Error bars = SEM. Prey were divided into groups that were <u>not</u> significantly different to each other (groups are denoted by the symbol \frown).

3.5.2 Effect of bacterial prey state

In order to investigate the effect of bacterial prey state, the results from feeding *T*. *pyriformis* prey at 2×10^7 cells/ml was focused on, because data were available for both states. When the two prey states were compared, the average specific growth rate of *T. pyriformis* on Live prey (0.1681±0.0089 h⁻¹) was not significantly different to the specific growth rate on Dead prey (0.1678±0.0168 h⁻¹) (P=0.988). The lack of effect of heat-killing cells can also be seen in Figure 3.25, which directly compares the specific growth rates obtained for the four bacterial strains in their Live and Dead states; none of which showed a significant difference in specific growth rates between the two states.



Figure 3.24 Specific growth rates for T. pyriformis feeding on four strains of bacteria in both Live and Dead states. All four bacterial prey show no significant difference in specific growth rate. Error bars = SEM.

3.5.3 Effect of digestion rate

There was large variation in specific growth rate values but no relationship between digestion rates and specific growth rates (R²=0.20) was found (Figure 3.26A). It was suggested in Section 3.4.3 that if larger cells are enclosed in a DV then more biovolume will be digested (and possibly assimilated) and this might manifest itself in higher ciliate specific growth rates. If this hypothesis was true then there should be a positive relationship between μ m³ prey digested/vac and growth rates. However, no relationship was detected (Figure 3.26B). In fact, of all the parameters tested (including, biovolume of enclosed prey, biovolume of enclosed prey digested, prey biovolume, total digestion and digestion rate), none showed <u>any</u> relationship with either specific growth rate (Appendix C Figure C.3).



12 Live prey at 2×10^7 cells/ml in both digestion and growth experiments.

Chapter 4. Discussion

Results presented in Chapter 3 showed that Live bacteria upregulate vacuole formation rate <u>and</u> affect vacuole filling, yielding a maximum of ca. 7 prey/vacuole during the first 5 min of feeding. This does not appear to be influenced by prey species/Gram status which suggests that if receptors are involved they are surface receptors common to all these bacteria.

Next, live Picos affect <u>only</u> vacuole filling, also yielding a maximum of ca. 7 prey/vacuole during the first 5 min of feeding. This does not appear to be influenced by prey strain which suggests that if receptors are involved they may be the same as those used by the Live bacteria. However, live Picos did not influence vacuole formation rate (as did Live bacteria) suggesting that either the receptor involved is missing from Picos or that it is masked in some way.

Dead cells appear not to affect vacuole formation rate (possibly due to the lack of surface receptors) but do affect vacuole filling. This appears to be species dependent (unlike Live bacteria and Picos) which suggests that if receptors are involved they might be deeper in the cell membrane and only exposed after heat-treatment. Lastly, FLMs do not possess any receptors and vacuole formation in their presence may represent a basal mechanism based on the mere presence of particles. FLMs are deposited into digestive vacuoles and due to the lack of receptors suggests that hydrophobic interactions might be involved.

These data and their implications on growth are explored in the discussion below.

4.1. Ingestion of prey

4.1.1 Effect of prey biovolume

This study examined the effect of four prey-states (FLM, Pico, Live, Dead) on instantaneous ingestion (0-5 min) by the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. The size of the prey did not govern the number of ingested prey per cell, number of digestive vacuoles (DVs) produced per cell or the number of prey within those DVs. Only vacuole size (µm³) was influenced by prey size with larger prey giving rise to larger DVs.

The lack of effect of prey biovolume on prey uptake was surprising as many studies have stated that prey size can affect their ingestion by protists, with the ingestion of larger cells being generally preferred over smaller cells (Šimek and Chrzanowski, 1992, Jürgens and Šimek, 2000, Jürgens and Matz, 2002, Jürgens et al., 2008). However, not all studies agree that prey size is a strong selective criterion for protists (Monger and Landry, 1991, Flynn et al., 1996) and it does appear that the evidence for size-selective grazing is much stronger for flagellates than ciliates. For example, Gonzalez et al. (1990b), who studied both flagellates and ciliates, concluded that "both (flagellates and ciliates) appear to have proportionally higher clearance rates for largersized bacterial prey", yet only a convincing positive relationship between bacterial biovolume (0.02-0.1 μ m³) and clearance rate (determined with fluorescently-labelled bacteria [FLBs] over 12 minutes) was presented for a natural assemblage of flagellates; data for such a relationship in ciliates were less convincing (Figure 4.1).



It may be that prey larger than 0.1µm³ are required to show significant size-selective grazing in ciliates. The current study used prey with biovolumes ranging from 0.65 to 2.34µm³ but still no effect of biovolume on prey selection was discerned over the 5 minute feeding period. Jürgens and Šimek (2000), using even larger FLMs (ranging from 0.006 to 39.6µm³) did report an increase in clearance rate of the ciliate *Halteria cf. grandinella* with increasing FLM biovolume up to a maximum/optimum rate with prey at 5.13µm³. However, the authors acknowledged that these data were generated using only the top 10% of the population with the highest uptake rates as there was great heterogeneity in the number of FLMs ingested by the population (e.g. 1-30 particles/cell/min with 0.52µm³ [1µm diameter] FLMs). Examination of maximum clearance values using the whole (100%) of the data set, over the 10 minute feeding time tested, showed less convincing evidence of size selective grazing, especially with FLMs having biovolumes similar to those of the prey used in the current experiment.

It may be that longer feeding times (>12 minutes) are required to show convincing size selective grazing in ciliates and indeed, evidence for its existence has been demonstrated in the ciliates *Halteria cf. grandinella* (Jürgens and Šimek, 2000) and

Stombidium sulcatum (but not Uronema sp.) (Christaki et al., 1998), both over 60 minutes. Interestingly, studies on size-selective feeding often show very similar uptake of different sized prey early on but then there is a later divergence. This not only happens with FLMs of different sizes but for different prey types as well. For example Figure 4.2 shows the uptake of a mixed assemblage of FLBs, *Synechococcus* and *Chlorella* by *Halteria cf. grandinella* (Jürgens and Šimek, 2000) and clearly shows that the number of prey ingested is very similar until 20 minutes, after which divergence is more obvious. However, due to the nature of the cells, it is difficult to discern whether the divergence is solely due to biovolume or not. Furthermore, over even longer periods of feeding time (2-42 hours), *Synechococcus* cell biovolume has been shown not to influence their ingestion by flagellates (*Goniomonas pacifica, Paraphysomonas imperforata, Pteridomonas danica*), a dinoflagellate (*Oxhyrhis marina*) and a ciliate (*Eutintinnis sp.*) (Zwirglmaier et al., 2009, Apple et al., 2011).



Indeed, an experiment in the current study which examined prey deposition into DVs over a 20 minute period (see Section 3.3.2.4.) found no change in prey/vacuole over time. These data suggest that if any prey-induced changes do occur due to prey

biovolume, it might not be an immediate phenomenon but one which develops over time (>20 min), i.e. via possible recognition of prey during digestion/assimilation stages (discussed further in 4.2.3.3). This may be a drawback of short-term feeding experiments, as used in the current study, where prey-induced changes in feeding behaviour may not be detected (Montagnes et al., 2008). But, on a positive note, 5 minute experiments did provide an opportunity to examine the effect of prey species and state (dead or live) on instantaneous ingestion by the ciliate without the complication of variable prey size.

4.1.2 Effect of live bacterial type – heterotrophic vs autotrophic

T. pyriformis ingestion rates on autotrophic *Synechococcus* cells were, on average, significantly lower than with live heterotrophic bacteria (and indeed FLMs and dead cells), with *ca.* 10 *Synechococcus* cells being ingested in 5 minutes compared to *ca.* 14 cells or particles with the other prey types.

Synechococcus cells are relatively large and in the current study the cell biovolumes of the cells were significantly larger than for live heterotrophic bacteria (Table 3.4). However, data showed that cell biovolume did not influence the parameters prey/cell, vacuoles/cell or prey/vacuole over 5 minutes so it cannot explain the difference in uptake between synechococci and heterotrophic bacteria (Section 3.3.1). Indeed, *Synechococcus* cell biovolume, motility, elemental ratio, protein content or hydrophobicity have been shown not to influence their ingestion by flagellates (*Goniomonas pacifica, Paraphysomonas imperforata, Pteridomonas danica*), a dinoflagellate (*Oxhyrhis marina*) and a ciliate (*Eutintinnis* sp.) (Zwirglmaier et al., 2009, Apple et al., 2011, Strom et al., 2012), suggesting that other properties play a role in the reduced grazing seen in the current study.

A feature that is shared by all *Synechococcus* strains, and not present in the live heterotrophic strains tested (except *A. hydrophila and S. marcescens*), is the presence of an S-layer which is an additional protein surface layer external to the outer

membrane (Sára and Sleytr, 2000). In Synechococcus, the two main proteins are SwmA, which is a 130 KDa glycoprotein which resides within the S-layer (Brahamsha, 1996, McCarren et al., 2005), and SwmB which is a giant protein (1.12 MDa) that protrudes out of the S-layer (McCarren and Brahamsha, 2007). Although both are required for non-flagellar swimming of these cells (Brahamsha, 1996, McCarren and Brahamsha, 2007) they have also been hypothesized to act as a shield against predation (Koval, 1993, Zwirglmaier et al., 2009, Strom et al., 2012). However, Strom et al. (2017) using knockout mutants (SwmA- and SwmB-) Synechococus WH8102 and feeding them to two ciliates (Eutintinnus sp. and Salpingella sp.) and three flagellates (Ochromonas sp., Acanthoeca sp. and Pteridomonas sp.) found that the lack of SwmA actually decreased ingestion in the two ciliates and two of the flagellates (not Acanthoeca sp.), i.e. an S-layer made the strain more rather than less vulnerable to predation. Removal of the SwmB protein had no effect on predation rates (Strom et al., 2017). Their results agreed with those of Koval (unpublished data cited in Beveridge et al. (1997)) who found that S-layer-bearing bacteria were ingested at equivalent or higher rates than their S-layer-negative mutants by the ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila and the flagellate Paraphysomonas vestita. In contrast, an earlier study by Strom et al. (2012) found that predation rates on the SwmB- mutant Synechococus WH8102 were significantly higher than for the wild-type in Oxyrrhis marina, suggesting that SwmB had a protective effect against predation by this dinoflagellate. Also, Koval and Hynes (1991) found the S-layer of several Gramnegative bacteria to be protective against predation by the bacterium Bdellovibrio and Tarao et al. (2009) found that modification or removal of the S layer by chemical means increased predation on actinobacteria by the flagellate Poterioochromonas sp...

Current information regarding the protective nature of an S-layer is contradictory and it may be that the type of predator involved may be influencing the differences seen. But in the current study synechochocci (with an S-layer) were ingested to a lesser extent

than live heterotrophic bacteria (without an S-layer). To the best of my knowledge, only two of the live heterotrophic bacterial species used in the current study possess an Slayer, *Aeromonas hydrophila* (Dooley et al., 1988) and *Serratia marcescens* (Kawai et al., 1998) with the major protein component being VapA and SlaA, respectively. No evidence for the existence of a protruding B protein exists for either. Interestingly, *A. hydrophila* and S. *marcescens* were the least favoured species by *T. pyriformis* (Figure 4.3) and even more interestingly, uptake rates of both strains were more like those of the synechococci (Picos), particularly *A. hydrophila*, compared to the other live bacteria (except *K. aerogenes*) suggesting that the presence of an S-layer might indeed deter grazing by this ciliate.

In the immune system, the response of phagocytes to bacteria possessing an S-layer seems mixed. First, it has been suggested to play an important role in the pathogenicity of bacteria in many ways, but most relevant is the protection it gives from complement-mediated phagocytosis (Thompson, 2002). Similarly, Blaser et al. (1988) suggested that the S-layer allows *Campylobacter fetus* to resist phagocytosis by leukocytes. Kotiranta et al. (1998) showed mixed results when testing the resistance of different strains of *Bacillus cereus* to human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. On the contrary, the S-layer of some bacterial strains seems to be able to induce an immune response. For example, S-layer proteins isolated from the pathogen *Clostridium difficile* induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and increase macrophage migration and phagocytotic activity *in vitro*. In addition, it can up-regulate surface markers on the macrophage, which are important in pathogen recognition and antigen presentation (Collins et al., 2014).

If, as suggested by most studies, it has a protective function against phagocytosis, it could be taken as being functionally similar to bacterial capsules which can also reduce ingestion by macrophages (Horwitz and Silverstein, 1980, Whitnack et al., 1981, Almeida and Oliver, 1993, Cunnion et al., 2003). Nevertheless, whether it be S-

layer or bacterial capsule, potential variation in these cell components between bacteria may lead to different degrees of ingestion, therefore the variation in ingestion of different bacterial species is discussed next.



4.1.3 Effect of prey species/strain

The current study found no statistical evidence that different species of live bacteria (or different species/strains of live *Synechococcus* sp.) were ingested differently over a 5 minute period by *T. pyriformis*. Indeed, Jezbera et al. (2005) could not find any evidence of preferential uptake by the ciliate *Cyclidium glaucoma* when fed a mixture of live *A. hydrophila* and *P. fluorescens* for 60 minutes. Thurman et al. (2010b) also showed that *T. pyriformis* could not discriminate between live RFP-expressing *K. aerogenes* and *E. coli* over a 10 minute feeding period. However, *T. pyriformis* did 'deselect' *Klebsiella ozaenae* (reclassified as *Serratia plymuthica*) after only 2-3 min of feeding. The mechanism behind selection remains elusive and it was unfortunate that *S. plymuthica* could not be incorporated into the current study (very poor cell fluorescence signal) but results from other work with amoebae (Pickup et al., 2007c) and the ciliates *Tetrahymena* sp. and *Chilodonella* sp. (Dopheide et al., 2011b) suggest that the mechanism might be related to the production of an external toxin/chemical cue by the bacterium.

Contrary to the above general lack of prey selection by ciliates, Zwirglmaier et al. (2009) found that two flagellates (*Paraphysomonas imperforata* and *Pteridomonas danica*) could selectively graze on various strains of *Synechoccocus* sp. over a 42 hour period and Jezbera et al. (2005) showed that two flagellates (*Bodo saltans* and *Goniomonas* sp.) preferentially ingested live *A. hydrophila* over *P. fluorescens* over a 60 minute period. Zwirglmaier et al. (2009) proposed that cell surface properties of the *Synechococcus* played a major role in selective ingestion by the flagellates because a spontaneous phage resistant mutant of strain WH7803, which showed modifications in its lipopolysaccharide (LPS) layer, was ingested while the wild-type strain was not. The change in LPS layer was specifically a loss of a significant proportion of the strain's Opolysaccharide side-chain units, or O-antigen, which are carbohydrates found on the outermost domain of the LPS (Wang et al., 2010).

LPS comprises Lipid A (embedded in the outer membrane) and the core polysaccharides (usually common to a specific genus) and the highly variable Oantigen (variable between species/strains), both of which protrude out of the membrane. Full-length O-antigens renders the LPS 'smooth', whereas the absence of O-antigens makes the LPS 'rough'. Bacteria with rough LPS are more readily engulfed by phagocytes in the immune system (Cunningham et al., 1975, Fields et al., 1986, de Bagüés et al., 2004) which agrees with the WT/Mutant observation made by Zwirglmaier et al. (2009). However, two studies have found the opposite, with smooth *Synechococcus* strains being grazed more than rough strains by an unidentified amoeba (Simkovsky et al., 2012, 2016).

There is great variation in the composition of the sugars in the O-antigen between species and strains of Gram-negative bacteria and it is therefore a major antigenic determinant (antibody-combining site) of the Gram-negative cell wall (Wang et al., 2010), i.e. it is a "Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern" (PAMP). Zwirglmaier et al. (2009) implied that O-antigen variation on the surface of *Synechococcus* might be the reason for selective ingestion by the flagellates and that this would support the findings of Wildschutte et al. (2004) who showed that epitope differences in the O-antigen of otherwise genetically distinct *Salmonella enterica* isolates led to differential ingestion by a range of amoebae, including *Acanthamoeba castellanii* and *Naegleria gruberi*. However, what was not acknowledged was that *T. pyriformis* showed no prey preference for the different serotypes at all (Wildschutte et al., 2004).

It may therefore be that prolonged cell-cell contact is required to differentiate between bacterial species based on O-antigen variation. This is a feature of direct interception feeding (carried out by flagellates and amoebae) but not a feature of filter feeding (carried out by many ciliates including *T. pyriformis*). This might be the reason why *T. pyriformis*, in the current study, failed to distinguish between species of live heterotrophic bacteria and strains of *Synechococcus* sp..
As stated above, O-antigen variation is an example of a PAMP. These are ligands that are recognised by "Pattern Recognition Receptors" (PRRs). In phagocytes of the immune system PRRs include Toll-like receptors (TLRs), Nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectins and scavenger receptors (SRs) (Stuart et al., 2005, Means et al., 2009). The latter two types are known to also exist in protists (Vogel et al., 1980, Bozzaro and Roseman, 1983, Janssen and Schleicher, 2001, Wilks and Sleigh, 2004, Sattler, 2012). However, O-antigen variation is only one of numerous PAMPs that can be detected by PRRs. Others include, flagellin, lipoteichoic acid, lipoproteins and peptidoglycan, mannose residues, Nformylmethionine, endogenous heat shock proteins, extracellular matrix molecules and nucleic acid variants, all of which are heterogeneously distributed within a bacterial cell (some on the cell surface, some not) (Wright, 1999, Mitchell et al., 2006). Not surprisingly, the term "PAMP" has been criticized because most bacteria, not only the pathogenic ones, express these molecules. A "virulence signal" capable of binding to the receptor, in combination with a "microbe-associated molecular pattern" (MAMP), has been proposed as one way to constitute a pathogen-specific response (Brennan and Anderson, 2004).

Considering that C-type lectins and scavenger receptors are known to exist in protists (including ciliates) and that there is a whole host of potential MAMPs within a bacterial cell to which they could bind, suggests that ingestion of bacterial prey by *T. pyriformis* could still be receptor-mediated; it just would not involve O-antigens.

4.1.4 Effect of prey state – live vs dead vs inert

4.1.4.1 Heat-killing bacterial cells

The preparation of dead prey by subjecting the bacterial cells to high heat (60°C) for two hours, as used in the current study, is a harsh process. It not only kills the cells but also irreversibly changes the physical and biochemical characteristics of the bacteria. Perhaps most important to the current study is the alteration to the cell surface chemistry which could render them devoid of, or having reduced, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and associated surface ligands (Katsui et al., 1981). For example, it has been shown that the ability of *S. aureus* and *E.coli* to bind collagen is significantly reduced after heat-killing (Holderbaum et al., 1986, Holderbaum et al., 1987, Visai et al., 1990). Conversely, if the cells are killed by fixation (e.g. glutaraldehyde) there is no interference with surface protein-protein interactions, suggesting no effect of surface ligands (Lönnbro et al., 2008). Indeed, lectin binding assays can be performed on live cells (Wootton et al., 2007), glutaraldehyde-fixed cells (Strom et al., 2017) and also ethanol-fixed cells (Peiser et al., 2006) further demonstrating that surface ligands remain intact upon fixation.

Therefore, for the purpose of the following discussion, heat-killed cells are considered to possess no surface ligands, only those that may have been buried deeper in the cell wall which have only become exposed upon heat-treatment and loss of the outer membrane. In contrast, live bacteria are considered to possess both surface and deeper ligands while FLMs possess no ligands at all.

4.1.4.2 Effect on digestive vacuole content

The number of prey per vacuole varied between the different prey types (Table 3.5). At very high prey concentrations live *S. aureus* and *Synechococcus* strains 3 and 20 yielded a maximum of 7 prey/vacuole whereas those with dead *S. aureus* contained 9 prey/vacuole and those with FLMs contained 19 prey/vacuole (Table 3.6). Data on prey/vacuole, with which to compare these data, are very rare as most studies present prey ingestion data as prey/cell. However Mitra et al. (2005) reported that the DVs of the amoeba *Entamoeba histolytica* very rarely contained more than 7 live *P. aeruginosa* cells/vacuole whilst the DVs of *E. dispar* <u>never</u> contained more than 7 *P. aeruginosa* cells. The 'magic number seven' has also been reported in macrophages feeding on apoptopic bodies (UV-irradiated thymocytes) whereby the maximum number ingested was 7 and this was not due to limitations in further engulfment as plenty of vacuolar membrane was still available (Marée et al., 2008). Indeed, no evidence of vacuolar membrane limitation was observed in the current study as 7 live prey cells were deposited into each DV whether they were small cells (*S. aureus* at 0.27µm³) or large cells (*Synechococcus* 20 at 2.34µm³).

No published data exist for DV content with dead cells but Klobutcher et al. (2006) reported that when *T. thermophila* fed on the spores of *Bacillus subtilis* the DVs were always smaller than when feeding on a mutant with a defective spore coat. Examination of the electron micrographs in that paper show that DVs contained *ca.*13 wild-type cells/vacuole and *ca.* 40 mutant cells/vacuole which is a similar trend to the current study whereby DVs contained more dead cells and live cells.

The process of DV filling appeared very controlled (tested with Live, Dead, *Synechococcus* only) with new DVs containing the same number of prey as older DVs over the 20 minutes tested (Figure 3.14). FLMs were not included in this 20 minute experiment (Section 3.3.2.4.), however Giorgione and Clarke (2008) did comment that there was little reproducibility in DV filling in *Dictyostelium* when feeding on polystyrene

latex beads (and FLMs are polystyrene latex beads) compared to live *E. coli* which was very reproducible (but no values were stated). If this is indeed the case, then 'controlled' DV filling might only occur with live and dead cells and the obvious difference between these and FLMs is that the latter are devoid of ligands. This suggests that DV filling is a receptor-mediated process but because live cells have surface ligands while dead cells do not, the receptors may be different.

4.1.4.2.1 Receptor-mediated uptake of live cells

The fact that no effect of genus, species or strain (nor Gram status) was recorded on the uptake of live heterotrophic or autotrophic bacteria suggests that if receptors are involved they are easily accessible and common to both Gram-positive and Gramnegative cells (whether or not they are covered by an S-layer). Indeed, Jiang et al. (2004) have suggested, using infrared spectroscopic, that the dominant functional groups of bacterial surfaces e.g. carboxyl, amide, phosphate, hydroxyl, and carbohydrate related moieties, are identical for both classes of bacteria.

Of these groups, the carbohydrate related moieties are those most often associated with recognition processes, specifically the transmembrane N-glycosylated proteins, or 'glycoproteins' (Durichen et al., 2016). Such glycoproteins span the outer membrane of bacterial cells (Alberts et al., 2002) and are also found in the S-layer e.g. SwmA is a glycoprotein (Messner and Sleytr, 1991, Brahamsha, 1996, McCarren et al., 2005). The sugars are attached to the protein at the amide nitrogen atom in the side chain of asparagine and all attached sugars have a common pentasaccharide core consisting of three mannose and two N-acetylglucosamine residues (Berg et al., 2002).

Vogel et al. (1980) was the first to discover carbohydrate binding proteins (lectins) on the surface of *Dictyostelium discoideum* that were related to prey uptake whereby addition of glucose inhibited the phagocytosis of live *E. coli*. Then, Bozzaro and Roseman (1983), using polyacrylamide gels containing different sugars covalently linked to the polymer, observed *Dictyostelium* cells binding to glucose, mannose and

N-acetylglucosamine and concluded that *Dictyostelium* possessed three different receptors, one highly specific for glucose and two less specific for N-acetylglucosamine and mannose (the only components of the pentasaccharide core of glycoproteins). Wilks and Sleigh (2004) were the first to test for the presence of lectins in the ciliate *Euplotes mutabilis*. Seven lectins showed unique binding patterns associated with the cytostome or digestive vacuoles however, only two lectins gave strong and consistent binding patterns, i.e., Wheat Germ Agglutanin (WGA) and Concanavilin A (ConA).

WGA binds to N-acetylglucosamine and sialic acid (Wright, 1984) which are both found in glycoproteins. Wilks and Sleigh (2004) found that WGA bound strongly to the lower basal half of 8-9 oral membranelles on the front section of the ciliary band. This region can detect the presence of stimuli and initiate a signal, translating this into a mechanical response (i.e. a reverse beat) to either accept or reject particles. Conversely, Durichen et al. (2016) did not report any binding of WGA to the cytostome of *T. pyriformis*. In their study, WGA bound only to distinct, smaller parts of the digestive vacuole membrane and more specifically to younger vacuoles.

ConA binds to internal and terminal, non-reducing manno-pyranosyl and glucopyranosyl residues, as well as glucose and mannose, which are found in Nglycosylated proteins (Goldstein et al., 1974, Wilks and Sleigh, 2004) showed a sequence of ConA binding events over time with the labelling first appearing at the cytostome (within 10s), then at the cytostome <u>and</u> on the digestive vacuole (by 40s), then only on the digestive vacuole. The label eventually disappeared.

Of the three sugar residues mentioned above (N-acetylglucosamine, glucose and mannose) most attention has been paid to mannose and its linear polymer mannan. Many studies have shown that the mannose receptor, which is a PRR, mediates phagocytosis in macrophages (Bar-Shavit et al., 1977, Bar-Shavit et al., 1980, Martinez-Pomares, 2012, Esparza et al., 2015, Garcia-Aguilar et al., 2016). For example, Bar-Shavit et al. (1977), (1980) showed the involvement of mannose in the

attachment of *E. coli* and *Salmonella typhi* to macrophages. Esparza et al. (2015) showed that *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* contains the mannosylated glycolipoprotein PstS-1 on its surface which binds readily to macrophages, and that phagocytosis of macrophages infected with *M. tuberculosis* and *M. tuberculosis* by 'healthy' macrophages is mediated by mannose (Garcia-Aguilar et al., 2016).

Mannose receptors and phagocytosis have also been investigated in protists (Bracha et al., 1982, Allen and Dawidowicz, 1990, Alsam et al., 2005, Declerck et al., 2007, Wootton et al., 2007, Medina et al., 2014). Bracha et al. (1982) showed that the attachment and ingestion of live *E. coli* by the amoeba *Entamoeba histolytica* required a membrane-associated mannose-binding receptor. Allen and Dawidowicz (1990) reported that addition of mannose and fructose inhibited the binding and ingestion of unidentified live yeast cells but (not latex beads) by *Acanthamoeba castellanii* in a stereospecific, concentration-dependent manner. Similarrly, Declerck et al. (2007) reported that addition of mannose inhibited the ingestion of live *Legionella pneumophila* by the amoebae *A. castellanii* and *Naegleria lovaniensis*. Similar studies have used oligosaccharide inhibition to show that the attachment of *Arcobacter butzleri* (Medina et al., 2014) and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Akya et al., 2009) to *A. castellanii* involves the participation of mannose and mannose-binding proteins.

Wootton et al. (2007) demonstrated mannose binding receptor involvement in the ingestion of the phytoflagellate *Isochrysis galbana* by the dinoflagellate *Oxyrrhis marina* by showing that (i) blocking the mannose receptor using mannose-BSA (bovine serum albumin) reduced prey ingestion by 60%; (ii) *O. marina* ingested twice as many latex beads coated with mannose-BSA compared to those coated with N-acetylgalactosamine-BSA and; (iii) when pre-incubated with mannose-BSA, *O. marina* was no longer able to discriminate between latex beads coated with different lectins.

Furthermore, Martel (2009) showed that nitrogen-deficient *I. galbana* cells were richer in cell-surface mannose than nitrogen-sufficient cells and *O. marina* has been

observed to select against *I. galbana* in mixed prey feeding experiments when the prey is nitrogen-deficient (Flynn et al., 1996, Hansen et al., 1996, Martel, 2006). However, if a mannose-specific feeding receptor is involved, one would expect that mannose-rich microalgae to be captured and ingested more readily, which they are not. Nevertheless, the authors concluded that the cells were too 'sticky' and excess cellsurface mannose residues may have sheared off the cells and inhibited the binding efficiency of feeding receptors; something which was also demonstrated to occur by Wootton et al. (2007).

Evidence suggests that the mannose receptor might be a good candidate for involvement in the controlled uptake of live bacteria into the DVs of *T. pyriformis*, as mannose is ubiquitous in the surface membranes of both Gram-negative and Grampositive cells (Mirelman et al., 1980, Allavena et al., 2004) and in the S-layer (Brahamsha, 1996, McCarren et al., 2005), so it is a ligand that is 'available' to the ciliate whether the prey cell possesses an S-layer or not. It also does not appear to be species-specific as blocking the mannose receptor results in disrupted ingestion of a wide range of prey, e.g. *A. butzleri*, *I. galbana*, *E. coli*, yeast, *L. monocytogenes*, *L. pneumophila* and even infected macrophages (Bracha et al., 1982, Allen and Dawidowicz, 1990, Declerck et al., 2007, Wootton et al., 2007, Akya et al., 2009, Medina et al., 2014). It might be considered as a receptor that just recognises 'live food', whether or not that food is digestible.

4.1.4.2.2 Receptor-mediated uptake of heat-killed cells

The deposition of heat-killed bacterial prey into the DVs of *T. pyriformis* was different to that observed with live bacteria in that (i) there were more dead cells/vacuole than live cells/vacuole and (ii) the number of prey/vacuole differed between species with values ranging from 3 to 14 prey/vacuole (at $2x10^7$ prey/ml). Even so, it still appeared to be a controlled process (tested with dead *S. aureus* over 20 minutes), suggesting a receptor-mediated process.

As mentioned in Section 4.1.4.1. the nature of the bacterial killing process will affect the integrity of the cell wall and associated ligands. Heat-killing destroys the outer cell surface layer (Katsui et al., 1981), while chemical fixation with for example, glutaraldehyde or ethanol (Peiser et al., 2006, Strom et al., 2017) maintains the integrity of the surface ligands. However, data within Chung and Kocks (2011) does question the use of ethanol fixation as ethanol (just like heat) was found to disrupt the outer cell surface ligands of the Gram-negative bacteria, E. coli, Serratia marcescens, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. In their study, a receptor known as Eater (found on Drosophila melanogaster phagocytes) was shown to bind to heat-killed or ethanoltreated Gram-negative bacterial cells but not to live or formaldehyde-fixed cells suggesting it was binding to a deeper ligand exposed after heat/ethanol treatment (which is normally masked in live cells). Interestingly, Eater could bind to live Grampositive cells (S. aureus and Enterococcus faecalis). Because of this, the proposed ligand for Eater is peptidoglycan (or peptidoglycan-associated molecules) because it is more abundant and accessible in live Gram-positive cell walls, whereas in live Gramnegative cells walls it is much less abundant and deeply buried under the outer LPS membrane (Silhavy et al., 2010).

Eater is an example of a Class A scavenger receptor (SR) and SRs are PRRs (just like the mannose receptor). SRs are trimeric, integral membrane glycoproteins and have been grouped into 10 Classes (A-J) based on the current understanding of structure

and biological function (Platt and Gordon, 1998, Kang and Lee, 2011, Zani et al., 2015). The most extensively studied have been the class A SRs, specifically SR-A, which binds to both Gram-positive and Gram negative bacteria (discussed here); and MARCO, which binds to inert particles (discussed in Section 4.1.4.2.3).

Class A SRs have been shown to be involved in macrophage phagocytosis (Palecanda et al., 1999, Beamer and Holian, 2005, Areschoug and Gordon, 2009, DeLoid et al., 2009, Silverstein and Febbraio, 2009, Zani et al., 2015, Peruń et al., 2016). Most studies have employed either inert latex microspheres or heat-killed bacterial cells so it has been unclear whether SRs are also involved in the uptake of live prey. There are only two published studies which have investigated this. DeLoid et al. (2009), using a general blocker for all Class A SRs, was the first to show that SRs were involved in the ingestion of heat-killed *S. aureus* by peritoneal macrophages <u>but not</u> live *S. aureus*. Then, Peruń et al. (2016) showed that SR-A was the major, if not the only, receptor involved in uptake of heat-killed *E. coli* and *S. aureus* and was redundant in the uptake of their live counterparts. The ligand for SR-A, just like Eater, is considered to be peptidoglycan (or peptidoglycan-associated molecules) because it binds both Grampositive and Gram-negative cells (Adachi and Tsujimoto, 2002, Shimaoka et al., 2003, Philips et al., 2005, Jiang et al., 2006, Baur et al., 2014).

In the current study, the number of prey/vacuole with heat-killed cells varied from 3-14, with the lower values being associated with the Gram-positive cells. Based on the observations above one would expect Gram-positive cells to yield a higher prey/vacuole if a Class A scavenger receptor is involved in the filling of the vacuoles, but the opposite was seen (Figure 3.12). It may be that (i) the heat-killing process destroyed much of the peptidoglycan in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative cells and rendered them more equivalent; (ii) more peptidoglycan was degraded in Gram-positive because of the lack of protection from an LPS outer membrane; or (iii) the

species variation in either peptidoglycan <u>or</u> the molecules associated within the peptidoglycan causes the variation in prey/vacuole.

Both (i) and (ii) are unquantifiable differences and would be very difficult to discern. However, it is possible to investigate (iii) in terms of the variation in peptidoglycan or the molecules associated within the peptidoglycan between different bacteria. Chung and Kocks (2011) showed that the Eater N-terminal fragment displayed differential binding to different types of polymeric peptidoglycan whereby it bound to peptidoglycan isolated from *E. coli, Bacillus subtilis* and *S. aureus*, but not from *Micrococcus luteus*. Thus, differences were discerned between genera within the Gram-positive group.

Both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria are able to modify their peptidoglycan by N-deacetylation, N-glycolylation, and O-acetylation (Vollmer, 2008, Davis and Weiser, 2011, Martin et al., 1973, Rosenthal et al., 1982) and as a result, peptidoglycan can be highly variable between different bacterial species. For example, the glycan strands of Gram-negative species have a 1,6-anhydro ring at the terminal MurNAc residue, whereas Gram-positive species attach other cell-wall polymers (e.g. teichoic acids, capsular polysaccharides) via phosphodiester bonds to their GlcNAc or MurNAc residues (Vollmer et al., 2008). Furthermore, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, as well as in several other Gram-negative bacteria (*Moraxella, Neisseria, Pseudomonas* and *Proteus*) have been observed to modify their peptidoglycan by O-acetylation (Martin et al., 1973, Rosenthal et al., 1982).

Peptidoglycan or molecules within peptidoglycan might therefore play an important role in the recognition of <u>different</u> bacterial species. In heat-killed cells these deep receptors would be immediately 'available' to the ciliate; possibly explaining why differences in vacuole filling was discerned between dead species in the current study. However in live cells, these receptors would be masked until digestive processes in the DV unmasked them (discussed further in Section.4.2.3.2); possibly explaining why there was no effect of prey species on vacuole filling with live prey.

4.1.4.2.3 Non-specific-receptor-mediated uptake of inert particles

FLMs

In the current study, *T. pyriformis* readily ingested FLMs at a relatively constant rate (*ca.* 2.7 FLMs/min during 5 minutes of feeding). There are also a wealth of other studies showing that ciliates can ingest artificial prey devoid of any surface ligands (Jonsson, 1986, Pace and Bailiff, 1987, Christaki et al., 1998, Jürgens and Šimek, 2000, Thurman et al., 2010a). Macrophages are also able to ingest non-opsonised and non-biological particles like silica (Gilberti et al., 2008, Gilberti and Knecht, 2015), quartz (Haberzettl et al., 2007) and latex particles (Parod and Brain, 1983). This has led to the proposal that live and inert particles are ingested differently by phagocytes.

Vogel et al. (1980) were the first to propose that, in *Dictyostelium*, there were two functionally distinct routes prey could be recognized and internalised. One route was a 'non-specific'-receptor-based route which was primarily governed by hydrophobic interactions between the predator and the prey, while the other was a lectin-receptor-based route (previously discussed in Section 4.1.4.2.1.).

The possibility of two 'entry routes' into ciliates is an interesting concept, particularly since Jürgens and Šimek (2000) showed that when the ciliate *Halteria cf. grandinella* was fed a 1:1 mixture of similar sized artificial beads and live *Synechococcus*, no interference in prey ingestion of either prey was observed (i.e. both particles were ingested at equivalent rates to when they were present as the single prey). This study might have inadvertently shown that live prey and artificial prey enter the cell via different pathways.

There are a small number of receptors that may be responsible for 'non-specific'receptor-based ingestion of particles. However, in professional phagocytes, for which most data on phagocytic receptors is available, the scavenger receptor (SR) family has been shown to be major players. In particular, Arredouani et al. (2005) identified the Class A SR MARCO as the dominant receptor of un-opsonized latex beads in human

alveolar macrophages. MARCO (like other class A SRs) possesses collagen-like and cysteine-rich domains in its extracellular regions. At the collagen-like domain, a cluster of lysine-residues form a positive-charged groove to interact with negatively-charged particles (Krieger, 1994, Taylor et al., 2005b). The exact mechanism by which MARCO is able to bind latex beads (devoid of surface ligands) is unclear but it has been suggested that hydrophobicity plays a major role (Kobzik, 1995).

Many studies have shown that macrophages ingest more hydrophobic/negatively charged microspheres than hydrophilic microspheres (Watanabe et al., 1984, Sano et al., 1986, Yamada et al., 1993, Roser et al., 1998, He et al., 2010). However, data regarding the effect of inert prey hydrophobicity on protistan feeding is scarce and no robust evidence exists.

Hammer et al. (1999) fed the dinoflagellate *O. marina* various artificial particles (i.e. silicate particles and microspheres) with different hydrophobicities and showed that the dinoflagellate had a higher ingestion rate on particles with decreasing hydrophobicity, however, particle volume was not standardised in the study. Eisenmann et al. (2001) fed the ciliate *Epistysis* sp. an equal mixture of equal-sized green hydrophobic- and red hydrophilic-FLMs and found that the DVs contained equal numbers of both particle type suggesting no effect of hydrophobicity. Matz et al. (2002) who fed 0.75µm polystyrene beads of differing hydrophobicity (0 to -55 mV zeta potential) to the nanoflagellate *Spumella* sp. and found that only extreme charges beyond -45 mV reduced flagellate ingestion rates. Such extreme charges have not been associated with natural bacterial prey.

It may be that 'hydrophobicity' is too broad a feature to define an effect on ingestion and that it is the 'charge' of the particle that might be the key factor. Indeed, there is a trend towards equal-sized neutral- and negatively-charged particles to be ingested equally, but positively-charge particles to be ingested at lower rates by *T. pyriformis* (Rasmussen and Modeweg-Hansen, 1973, Durichen et al., 2016). Fok et al. (1988)

have also reported that DV formation rates are 26% lower if the ciliate *Paramecium multimicronuceatum* is fed positively-charged beads (compared to same-sized neutral or negatively-charged particles).

Although the actually mechanism is unknown, it is possible that the receptor used to ingest inert particles in ciliates is similar to MARCO and could similarly possess a positive-charged groove to interact with negative-charged particles. Positively charged particles would 'repulse' against the positively charged groove and this would lead to reduced attachment and ingestion.

Live and Dead Bacteria

Surface charge has been shown to differ between different bacterial species (Van Loosdrecht et al., 1987, Daffonchio et al., 1995, Zita and Hermansson, 1997a, Zita and Hermansson, 1997b, Soni et al., 2008, Choi et al., 2015). Daffonchio et al. (1995) collated contact angle (a measurement of hydrophobicity) data from several published studies and showed differences in contact angles for various live bacterial species. In particular, some species that were also used in this study were: most hydrophobic *Listeria monocytogenes* followed by *S. aureus* and then *E. coli*.

Soni et al. (2008) showed that surface charge may differ depending on the physiological state of the bacterium (i.e. live or dead [killed using sodium azide solution]): the zeta potentials (i.e. surface charge) of dead *E. coli* and *Salmonella* sp. (-3.37±0.05 and -1.30±0.01 respectively) were significantly higher than their live counterparts (-2.70±0.46 and -0.31±0.03 respectively), i.e. dead cells are more negatively charged that live cells.

Hammer et al. (1999) offered live bacteria/algae with differing surface charge to *Oxyrrhis marina* and no effect of surface charge on ingestion rates was reported. Similarly, Matz and Jürgens (2001) assessed the effect of 14 unidentified live bacterial surface charge on heterotrophic nanoflagellate ingestion (*Bodo saltans, Spumella*)

pudica and *Ochromonas* sp.). It was reported that there was no significant dependence on prey surface charge. Lastly, Matz et al. (2002) reported that feeding heat-killed bacteria of different surface charge to *Spumella* sp. again showed no effect. These results may initially be surprising as it does not seem to conform to what is shown in leukocytes and macrophages, where hydrophobic particles are more favourable (Van Oss, 1978, Watanabe et al., 1984, Sano et al., 1986, Monger and Landry, 1990, Yamada et al., 1993, Roser et al., 1998, He et al., 2010).

Data on the effect of surface charge on ingestion of bacterial prey is varied. As mentioned above, even though it may be possible for live and dead bacteria to be ingested via this surface charge mediated pathway, it may well be that the receptor mediated pathways suggested in Sections 4.1.4.2.1 and 4.1.4.2.2 are the dominant pathway for the ingestion of live and dead bacteria. Thus, the attempts to investigate surface charge in the aforementioned studies may be unavoidably affected.

Nevertheless, once the particles are 'recognised' by the ciliate, they are ingested and placed into digestive vacuoles. The action of 'recognising' and 'ingesting' may be separate and regulated as such. Hence vacuole formation and the mechanism whereby it may be controlled is discussed next.

4.1.4.3 Effect on digestive vacuole formation rate

Vacuole formation rates (and egestion rates) in the presence of $2x10^7$ FLMs/ml were consistent between experiments (Table 3.3) and in line with those previously reported for *T. pyriformis* (Thurman et al., 2010a). They were at near maximum at this particle concentration (V_{max}, 0.575 ± 0.053 vac/cell/min, K_s, $3x10^6$ FLMs/mL, Table C.3. in Appendix C) where one vacuole is formed in *ca.* 2.21 minutes (Table 3.3). This maximum rate falls within published maximum rates for different strains of *T. pyriformis* feeding on inert particles with one vacuole being formed in 1.67-3.23 minutes (Chapman-Andresen and Nilsson, 1968, Ricketts, 1971, Nilsson, 1972, Ricketts and Rappitt, 1976, Hoffmann et al., 1974, Rasmussen, 1976). Gonda et al. (2000) also reported that *Tetrahymena thermophila* formed vacuoles at a maximum rate of one every 3.3 minutes and (Fok et al., 1987) reported that *Paramecium caudatum* produced one vacuole in 2.5 minutes. Contrary to this, an incredibly fast DV formation rate of one vacuole being formed every 0.43 min has been reported by Kodama and Fujishima (2005) when *Paramecium bursaria* was fed India ink.

Subtle differences in DV formation rates for the *Tetrahymena* species may be due to environmental factors such as changes in temperature (Lee, 1942b, Preer Jr, 1975) and pH (Lee, 1942a, Brutkowska, 1963) which were not always stated, but the overall reproducibility in vacuole formation rate across *Tetrahymena* strains suggests a 'basal vacuole formation' mechanism might occur in this ciliate which is initiated by the mere presence of particles. Although particles are known to induce vacuole formation in both *Paramecium* and *Tetrahymena* (Mueller et al., 1965, Rasmussen, 1976, Nilsson, 1979, Fok et al., 1988), cells can form vacuoles even in their absence, albeit at a much slower rate and the resultant vacuoles are very small (Ishida et al., 2001).

In the current study, under equivalent environmental conditions, the shortest time taken to form one vacuole ranged from 2.0 to 2.51 minutes with dead *S. aureus*, Pico 3 and Pico 20 (Table 2.6) which falls within the published range for *T. pyriformis* feeding on

inert particles, suggesting that the basal vacuole formation mechanism occurs with these prey. However, vacuole formation with live *S. aureus* was much quicker (one vacuole in 1.49 min) and outside published values with inert particles suggesting an upregulation in vacuole formation rate. Indeed, experiments with 2x10⁷ prey/ml showed that all the live heterotrophic bacterial species produced more vacuoles in 5 minutes (average of 3.4 vacuoles/cell) than their heat-killed counterparts, FLMs and live autotrophic prey (average of 1.94 vacuoles/cell) (Table 3.5). Similar upregulation of DV formation has been reported by Kodama and Fujishima (2005), whereby the *P. bursaria* formed one vacuole every 0.43 min when the cells were fed India ink, but formed one vacuole every 0.25 min when the cells were fed live *Chlorella* sp..

The mechanism behind such upregulation is unknown but considering the speed at which it occurred in the current study, it suggests that if the process is receptormediated the receptor is 'available' on the outer surface of the live heterotrophic bacterial cell wall no matter the Gram status or species/strain of the bacterium. It also suggests that, because this receptor is not 'available' on live *Synechococcus* cells, the receptor can be covered by an S-layer suggesting that it exists in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria and on the surface of the peptidoglycan in Gram-positive bacteria.

Even though *Synechococcus* cells did not up-regulate DV formation in 5 minutes, this might have been too short a period to detect a change. Interestingly, Thurman et al. (2010a) presented a Figure (Figure 4.4) which showed the formation of FLM-containing DVs and *Synechococcus* (Pico 5)-containing DVs over a 20 minute period at 2x10⁷ particles/ml and just as prey selection graphs can diverge after a short period of time (Figure 4.1), DV formation graphs can also. Figure 4.4 shows that DV formation is similar at 5 minutes with both prey types (and equivalent to those in the current study) but after this, divergence is evident with Pico 5 inducing the formation of 7.5 vacuoles by 20 minutes compared to only 4 vacuoles with FLMs. This does not seem to be

related to the biovolume of the prey, as Pico 5 is larger $(1.14 \mu m^3)$ than FLMs $(0.065 \mu m^3)$ so the reduced number of FLM-containing vacuoles is not due to a limitation of vacuolar membrane.



Figure 4.4 Results from pulse-chase experiments from Thurman et al. (2010a) on vacuole formation when T. pyriformis was fed FLMs and Synechococcus (Pico) No. 5 at 2×10^7 particles/ml for 20 min before the chase. Vacuole formation is similar for both prey at 5 minutes but then divergence is evident with Pico 5 inducing more vacuoles by 20 minutes compared to FLMs.

If vacuole formation rates with FLMs are the 'norm' then this suggests that Pico 5 (in Figure 4.4) is upregulating vacuole formation <u>after 5 minutes</u> which also suggests that it might do this via a recognition processes within the DV and not external to it. This could be due to the un-masking of the outer membrane receptor upon 'digestion' in the vacuole and even though this strain is indigestible to *T. pyriformis* (Thurman et al., 2010a), there is no evidence to suggest that its S-layer remains intact upon egestion. Such up-regulation of the vacuole machinery might also explain why egestion rates

with Pico 5 were more rapid than with FLMs (Figure 4.4); a result that Thurman et al. (2010a) could not explain at the time. Even so, the current study did not observe upregulation of DV formation in *T. pyriformis* over 20 minutes when fed with Pico 5 at 5x10⁶ cells/ml (Figure 3.14) which might suggest that perception of any ligand by the phagosome might depend on the volume of prey within it, i.e. more prey results in more stimulation. It may have been that a longer period than 20 minutes was necessary to demonstrate any upregulation in DV formation at this lower prey concentration.

4.1.4.4 Cross talk between proposed ingestion pathways

It is suggested above (Section 4.1.4.2) that there are two distinct routes for prey to enter a protist, the 'non-specific'-receptor-based route which is primarily governed by electrostatic charge interactions with scavenger receptors (SRs) like MARCO, and a lectin-receptor-based route. However, these two routes may not be mutually exclusive and 'cross-talk' may occur. Vogel et al. (1980) not only showed that lectins were involved in live prey ingestion by *Dictyostelium* but they also showed that when the lectin-route was inhibited the WT was able to ingest live bacteria via the 'non-specific'-receptor-based route. This suggests that both entry routes are co-existing, and perhaps the lectin-based route is that 'chosen' for bacterial prey while inert prey only enter via the non-specific-receptor route (due to their interaction with a MARCO-like receptor). However, mannose receptors have been reported to be involvement in phagocytosis of un-opsonized heat-killed yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) by macrophages (Giaimis et al., 1993), thus suggesting that these cells can also enter via the lectin-route.

4.2 Digestion of prey

4.2.1 Phagosome maturation

The phagocytic process is initiated by the recognition of prey ligands (PAMP/MAMP) by cell surface receptors (PRR) (discussed in Section 4.1.4.2 and 4.1.4.3) and prey are subsequently deposited into digestive vacuoles (DV) (or 'phagosomes'). Because the nascent DV membrane is essentially the same as plasma membrane (Muller et al., 1980a, 1980b), DVs inherently lack the microbicidal and degradative capacity required for prey digestion. These capabilities are acquired subsequently by a process called 'phagosome maturation'; a sequence of membrane fusion and fission events with components of the endocytic compartment (e.g. acidosomes, lysosomes) (Pauwels et al. 2017). Phagosome membranes are selectively fusogenic and acquire surface proteins which allow the phagosome to selectively interact with the next endosome in the maturation sequence, i.e. the surface proteins change over time (Desjardins et al., 1997, Maniak, 2003). The dynamic way in which phagosome surface proteins change can be influenced by various factors, including the nature of the enclosed prey (or 'cargo') (Pauwels et al. 2017).

Most work has examined pathogenic 'cargo', particularly the intra-vacuolar pathogens which actively re-model the phagosomal membrane to mimic those of resident organelles; this prevents phagosome maturation and allows the pathogen to replicate within the phagosome (Blander and Medzhitov, 2006). Examples of such pathogens include *Leigionella pneumophila* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* whereby both affect phagosome maturation by impeding acidification and phago-lysosomal fusion. The Dot/Icm type IV secretion system is the single most important pathogenic determinant of *L. pneumophila* (Ensminger and Isberg, 2009) as it injects multiple effector proteins into the host cell where they subvert host vesicle trafficking and signal transduction pathways (Nagai and Kubori, 2011). Approximately 300 different Icm/Dot substrates have been experimentally validated (Lifshitz et al., 2013). One is SidK which

specifically inhibits V-ATPase activity and stops the acidification process (Xu et al., 2010). *M. tuberculosis* also produces several secreted proteins with PtpA being the one that inhibits V-ATPase (Forrellad et al., 2013). Components of the complex mycobacterial cell wall have also been identified as virulence factors that can arrest phagosome maturation. These include mannose-capped lipoarabinomannan (ManLAM) (Fratti et al., 2003) and trehalose-6,6-dimycolate (TDM) (Axelrod et al., 2008).

Even so, the vast majority of bacteria that protists would encounter *in situ* would not possess such virulence factors and studies on the effect of such innocuous bacteria on phagosome maturation are rare. To date, twenty five studies have examined the effect of innocuous 'cargo' on phagosome maturation in macrophages and dendritic cells with most of these using polystyrene beads coated with specific ligands (Pauwels et al. 2017). Of these, only a handful have used ligands relevant to the uptake of innocuous bacterial prey by protists, i.e. those coated with LPS or mannan (bacterial PAMPs). There is a general consensus that mannan does not affect phagosome maturation (Dykstra et al., 2011, Dill et al., 2015) which is not surprising as the mannose receptor has for a long time been considered to be only a phagocytic receptor (Section 4.1.4.2.1); although ManLAM (in *M. tuberculosis*) has been shown to affect phagosome maturation and stronger oxidative burst, but has no effect on overall ligand digestion (Dill et al., 2015). However, Blander and Medzhitov (2004) showed that coating apoptotic cells with *E. coli*-derived LPS did not result in a change in phagosome maturation rate.

The current study evaluated the effect of different 'innocuous' bacterial strains in two states (live and dead) on prey digestion (and indirectly, phagosome maturation) in *T. pyriformis* and once again, for the purpose of the following discussion live bacteria are considered to possess both surface and deeper ligands while heat-killed cells are considered not to possess surface ligands but only those that may have been buried

deeper in the cell well (which have only become exposed upon heat-treatment and loss of the outer membrane).

4.2.2 Effect of prey species/strain

The current study found no evidence that different species of dead bacteria affected their % total digested and digestion rate in *T. pyriformis* and no effect of Gram-reaction was seen. This conflicts with the results of Thurman et al. (2010a) who showed that DTAF-stained *S. aureus* was digested at a significantly slower rate than Gram-negative bacteria by *T. pyriformis*, but agrees with their finding that there was no significant difference in the digestion rates of the three DTAF-stained Gram-negative strains tested (*E. coli* K12, *Mesorhizobium* sp. and *P. aeruginosa*).

Comparison of the digestion rates of live bacteria resulted in two groupings each containing strains that were not significantly different from each other but there was no obvious pattern as to the composition of those groups (Figure 3.18). Jezbera et al. (2005) found no evidence of differential digestion of live *A. hydrophila* and *P. fluorescens* by the ciliate *Cyclidium glaucoma* and flagellate *Goniomonas* sp.. In the current study both these bacterial species were also not digested differentially by *T. pyriformis*; both were within Group 1 (Figure 3.18). Jezbera et al. (2005) however, did find that another flagellate (*Bodo saltans*) digested *P. fluorescens* at a faster rate than *A. hydrophila* but inspection of their data shows that rates were, in reality, equivalent for the first 20 min (4 data points) and then dropped rapidly (1 data point), leading to an overall faster rate. In the current study, live *S. aureus* (within Group 1) was digested at slower rates than only those Gram-negative strains in Group 2; no difference was seen with those in Group 1. So once again, no obvious pattern emerged.

Comparison of the current study's calculated digestion rates to published data is impossible because studies report digestion rate in a number of ways. Most have measured prey digestion as prey/ciliate/min (Sherr et al., 1988, Gonzalez et al., 1990a, González and Suttle, 1993, First et al., 2012) which does not take into accout the

variations in, (i) the number of vacuoles per cell, (ii) the number of prey/vacuole and (iii) prey biovolume/vacuole at the start of the chase. Those that have expressed digestion rate as prey/vacuole/min (Thurman et al., 2010a, Dixon, 2010) have accounted for (i) and (ii) but not (iii), while those that have expressed digestion rates as % loss of food/cell/min (Dolan and Coats, 1991, Dolan and Simek, 1998, Xinyao et al., 2006), have accounted for (ii) and (iii) but not (i). Therefore any apparent differential digestion between prey species previously reported might be questionable. In the current study there was very little evidence for differential digestion between either live or dead bacterial species using digestion rates expressed as % prey/vacuole/min.

4.2.3 Effect of prey state – Live vs Dead prey

Differential digestion has been examined previously (Boenigk et al., 2001b, Thurman et al., 2010a, Boenigk et al., 2001a, Sherr et al., 1992), however, the effect of prey state has not been directly investigated. Prey state is of particular importance as numerous protistan digestion (and ingestion) studies utilise heat-killed-DTAF-stained bacteria as surrogate prey, in substitution of live prey (Sherr et al., 1987, Sherr et al., 1988, Gonzalez et al., 1990a, Gonzalez et al., 1990b, González and Suttle, 1993, Strom, 2001, Dixon, 2010, Thurman et al., 2010a).

4.2.3.1 Effect on total prey digestion and digestion rate

T. pyriformis digested on average *ca.* 52% of enclosed live prey and *ca.* 52% of enclosed dead prey within the digestive period (DP). However, the length of the DP with dead prey was significantly shorter than that with live cells (discussed further in Section 4.2.3.2) and hence the digestion rates of dead prey (as %prey/vac/min), overall, appeared significantly faster than with live prey (P≤0.05). This suggests that the heat-killing of cells makes them more digestible which seems logical, as there is no outer membrane to digest. However, examination of the direct comparison between the four strains (in both live and dead states) only showed a significantly faster rate for dead *K. pneumoniae* (Figure 3.17). Digestion rates were equivalent for the other three

species (*K. aerogenes, S. enterica* [74] and *S. aureus*). This does question the robustness of the statistical difference between the aggregated group results.

When the biovolume of prey in digestive vacuoles (whether live or dead) was plotted against the biovolume of enclosed prey digested (Figure 3.21), there was a very strong linear relationship, no matter what the prey state was. This implies that larger biovolume of prey result in more biovolume of prey being digested (and possibly assimilated), which in itself could lead to higher ciliate specific growth rates and cell yields (see Section 4.3). This behaviour may be due to the recognition of ligands in the membrane of the prey cells or peptidoglycan, where this recognition results in altered digestion efforts (discussed in detail in Section 4.2.3.3.). It may be that a larger biovolume of cells within the DV provides more membrane material, and thus more ligands or peptidoglycan for recognition.

4.2.3.2 Effect on digestion period

The only strong significant difference observed with regards to DV maturation in the current study was that the digestion periods (DP) with dead bacteria were significantly shorter (by *ca*. 5 min) than the DPs with live bacteria. The DP includes Phases I to III of the DV processing model suggested by Fok et al. (1982) and the fact that it was significantly shorter with dead bacteria suggests that this prey type was altering the timing of one or all of the three phases. It is unlikely that one of the phases was completely omitted because (i) dead cells showed evidence of digestion which suggests that lysosomal fusion occurred (Phase III) and this cannot happen unless the DV is acidified (in Phases I-III) (Fok et al., 1982, Fok and Shockley, 1985). Indeed, Giorgione and Clarke (2008) have shown that macrophage phagosomes containing inert particles, devoid of any ligands, still go through acidification and lysosomal fusion. However, none of the phases proposed by Fok et al. (1982) are a 'one-off' fusion event. They are an orchestrated sequence of fusions between the DV and different vesicles over time, particularly during Phase III. For example, it is known that optimum

pH conditions for each of the numerous digestive enzymes involved with digestion differ and in macrophages different enzymes are delivered into the phagosome in a sequential fashion by fusion with lysosomes containing the different enzymes (Tjelle et al., 2000, Vieira et al., 2002).

It is therefore hypothesised that the lack of surface ligands on dead cells prevents the DV from going through the complete sequence of fusion events with lysosomes and only allows fusion with 'late' lysosomes; by-passing 'early' lysosomes. Contrary to this, live prey with their full complement of receptors go through the full sequence of fusions with surface receptors allowing fusion with 'early' lysosomes, and deep receptors (the only ones available in dead cells) allowing fusion with 'late' lysosomes. This would result in longer DPs with live cells, as reported here. Although only a hypothesis, it is interesting to note that there is evidence that *Dictyostelium discoidium* (Souza et al. 1997, Rupper et al. 2001) and macrophages (Oh and Swanson, 1996) can detect vacuolar content and make adjustments to vacuole trafficking. Also, Wilkes and Sleigh (2004) recorded that the binding of ConA to DVs of the ciliate Euplotes mutabilis (feeding on live Vibrio natriegens) peaked at 10 minutes and then declined. One of the ligands for ConA is mannose which, in the current study, is the proposed surface receptor for the uptake of live bacteria (Section 4.1.4.2.1). Its disappearance after 10 minutes could be an indication that the ligand is being digested and judging by the model of Fok et al. (1982) (and Figure 1.4) this time period equates to the early stages of Phase-III. Its disappearance suggests that it might be more involved with DV fusion with 'early' lysosomes, rather than 'late' lysosomes. If this is the case, then it is likely that the LPS per se is digested in a similar fashion and any associated ligands are not involved with DV fusion with 'late' lysosomes. These late fusion events might be reliant on those deep ligands which have been unmasked during the digestion process. One such deep ligand was proposed to be peptidoglycan (or associated ligands) (Section 4.1.4.2.2).

4.2.3.3 Prey recognition within the digestive vacuole

The recognition of deep ligands such as peptidoglycan by an SR-A-like receptor has been proposed to be a potential mechanism by which *T. pyriformis* might identify different species of bacteria (Section 4.1.4.2.2). Peptidoglycan (also known as murein), is made of glycan strands cross-linked by short peptides and forms a protective structure surrounding the cytoplasmic membrane. The sugar component consists of alternating glycosidic β 1,4-linked residues of *N*-acetylmuramic acid (NAM) and *N*-acetylglucosamine (NAG) (Vollmer et al., 2008). Lysozyme is an enzyme that specifically degrades bacterial cell walls by breaking the β (1-4) linkage between residues of N-acetylmuramic acid and N-acetylglucosamine peptidoglycan (Bera et al., 2005, Stryer, 1981). Chung and Kocks (2011) showed that treatment of *E. coli* with lysozyme led to the binding of the SR Eater in a concentration-dependent manner, with lysozyme concentrations of up to 1.5 μ M 'unmasking' its ligand(s). This suggests that digestion of live bacteria in the DV (in Phase III), which involves lysozyme, can unmask deep ligands such as peptidoglycan (and associated ligands) in the later stages of Phase III.

In the current study it was hypothesised that bacterial species/strains might be distinguishable based on peptidoglycan (and associated ligands) because many bacteria are able to modify their peptidoglycan and as a result peptidoglycan can be highly variable between different bacteria species (Vollmer, 2008, Davis and Weiser, 2011). In heat-killed cells these ligands were immediately available to the ciliate and this resulted in species variations in prey/vacuole (Section 4.1.4.2.2). Considering the mannose receptor was proposed to be a receptor that just recognises 'live food' (no matter whether it is digestible or not) (Section 4.1.4.2.1), and it could not differentiate between different species, it may be that species/strain recognition of live bacteria normally occurs within the DV, during digestion, when the deeper ligands are unmasked. This would cause a 'delay' in 'normal' prey species recognition and might

possibly explain why prey uptake and vacuole formation graphs diverge after a given period of time (Figures 4.2 and 4.4). It is also interesting to note that a common virulence factor of pathogenic bacteria is their indigestibility. For example, *Bacillus anthracis, Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Listeria monocytogenes* are Gram-positive pathogens that have been shown to N-deacetylate the N-acetylglucosamine residues of their peptidoglycan and as a consequence they are resistant to lysozyme (Zipperle Jr et al., 1984, Vollmer and Tomasz, 2000, Boneca et al., 2007). Being resistant to digestion would prevent the unmasking of deeper ligands and, if as hypothesised here these deep ligands are species/strain specific, this would mean that these pathogens would never reveal their true identity to their host cell.

Thurman et al. (2010a) alluded to the fact that T. pyriformis might have the ability to recognise enclosed prey in DVs and adjust its digestion processes accordingly. In that study, the digestion rates of heat-killed-DTAF-stained Mesorhizobium were deduced after the ciliate had been pre-fed indigestible FLMs, indigestible Synechococcus or digestible live Mesorhizobium sp. for 5, 15 or 30 minutes. The digestion rates of the Mesorhizobium sp. were equivalent in all ciliate cultures except for those pre-fed with indigestible FLMs or Synechococcus for 30 minutes. These were significantly higher due to a 'burst' of rapid digestion over the first 5 min, suggesting that an elevated level of digestive machinery was being presented to new vacuoles after 30 minutes of starvation. The authors proposed two hypotheses that might explain how this was achieved. (i) That T. pyriformis may have up-regulated digestive enzyme activity in response to the prolonged feeding on indigestible prey, since Fok and Paeste (1982) had shown that levels of lysozyme in *Paramecium* spp. increased under nutrient stress and, (ii) since there was evidence that *Dictyostelium discoidium* and macrophages (Oh and Swanson, 1996, Souza et al., 1997, Rupper et al., 2001) can detect vacuolar content and make adjustments to vacuole trafficking, it was hypothesised that digestive machinery might have been immediately re-directed from the vacuoles containing

indigestible prey to those newer ones containing digestible prey. Considering that vacuolar content (specifically heat-killed cells) in the current study might have short circuited the phagosome-lysosome fusion events (see Section 4.2.3.2), hypothesis (ii) seems quite feasible but whatever the mechanism, results imply that feeding history might significantly influence DV processing and digestive efficiency.

If prey species recognition normally occurs within the DV as opposed to outside it, this might go some way to explain the contradictory evidence for/against prey species selection or prey-size selection by protists, in that short-term feeding experiments (e.g. 20 minutes in the current study), are just too short to detect any prey-induced changes in feeding behaviour, as highlighted by Montagnes et al. (2008).

4.3 Growth

4.3.1 Effect of prey species/strain

The current study examined the growth of *T. pyriformis* on the 12 live and 7 dead heterotrophic bacteria for which digestion rates had been calculated (at 2x10⁷ prey/ml). Since there had been very litte effect of species/strain on total digestion (%) and digestion rates (% Prey/vac/min) (Section 3.5.1), there was no expectation that any effects on ciliate growth rate would be recorded. However, the live Gram-positive *S. aureus* resulted in a significantly lower growth rate, compared to all the Gram-negative strains. It's growth rate was also equivalent, whether it (*S. aureus*) was live or dead. Other studies have acknowledged that Gram-positive bacteria give rise to lower growth rates in flagellates and ciliates (Gonzalez et al., 1990a, Iriberri et al., 1994) and Pickup et al. (2007c) reported that *S. aureus* was completely indigestible to the amoebae *A. castellanii* and *Vermamoeba (Hartmannella) vermiformis*, and was egested apparently unharmed. More pathogenic strains of *S. aureus* can also replicate within these amoebae (Anacarso et al., 2012). Growth rates on dead bacteria also showed an effect of Gram status with all the Gram-positive bacteria giving rise to lower growth rates compared to the Gram-negative strains.

4.3.2 Effect of prey state – Live vs Dead

There was very little effect of prey state (Live vs Dead) on digestion (Section 3.5.2) with *T. pyriformis* digesting *ca*. 51% of the enclosed prey within the digestive period, so it was expected that there would be little effect of growth rate. Indeed, the growth rates of *T. pyriformis* on both prey states were equivalent. This agrees with the limited published studies investigating the differences in growth of protists when fed live or heat-killed bacteria. For example, Ferrier-Pages and Rassoulzadegan (1994) showed that in a ciliate *Strombidium sulcatum* and a *flagellate Pseudobodo sp.* that heat-killed bacterial prey supported growth but gave lower yields than live bacteria. Similarly, Allali et al. (1994) reported that in *S. sulcatum*, growth rates were indistinguishable between

cultures fed live bacterial prey and heat-killed bacterial prey. This possibly indicates the more complete nature of the prey cell for digestion and assimilation.

4.3.3 Effect of prey biovolume

No matter whether the prey were live or dead, a very strong positive correlation had been recorded between total biovolume of prey within the DV and the volume of enclosed prey that was digested (Figure 3.21). This suggested that larger cells (in larger vacuoles) would result in more biovolume being digested and possibly assimilated which in itself might lead to higher ciliate specific growth rates. However, after comparing these parameters there was no relationship. There was also no relationship between growth rate and total digestion values and digestion rates.

4.3.4 From digestion to division

The lack of a direct relationship between total digestion/digestion rate and growth rate is not entirely surprising because as far as cellular processing is concerned, they are far removed. The current study did not evaluate the rate of assimilation and indeed the fate of digested material, i.e. what proportion was released by the cells and this is the 'missing link' in the study. Such investigations can be performed with radiolabelled prey and using such a technique Zubkov and Sleigh (1999) showed that although two flagellates (*Caecitellus parvulus* and *Pteridomonas danica*) consumed between 55-75% of the available prey (live *Vibrio* sp.) their Gross Growth Efficiencies (GGE), i.e. the fraction of ingested prey devoted to growth, were only 22-29%, with these flagellates regenerating and releasing *ca*. 70-85% of the nutrients present in their food out of their cells. Such remineralisation is a hallmark of protists participation in the 'microbial loop' (Johannes, 1964, Nagata and Kirchman, 1992, Dolan, 1997, Twining and Fisher, 2004) (Section 1.2.1).

However, it is interesting that in the most comprehensive survey of published GGE values to date (Straile, 1997), the average flagellate (and dinoflagellate) GGE was

similar to that of ciliates, standing at *ca.* 30%. Indeed, this was very similar to GGEs reported for very different taxa such as cladocerans, copepods and rotifers (Straile, 1997). Mathematical modellers even use 30% as an estimate of GGE when simulating carbon transfer processes within aquatic foodwebs (Buitenhuis et al., 2010). Based on data in the current study that only *ca.* 50% of ingested prey is digested, and using an estimated 30% for GGE, this suggests that the majority of nutrients (50% out of 70%) is released from the protist as carbon-rich fecal pellets, with only 20% of ingested prey material being completely mineralised to orthophosphate and ammonium due to a loss of CO₂ during respiration (Sherr et al., 1983, Fagerbakke et al., 1996, Dolan, 1997). Considering that in addition to egesting carbon-rich vacuoles, protists 'actively' recycle nutrients as dissolved organic matter to the bacterial communities (Johannes, 1964, Nagata and Kirchman, 1992, Dolan, 1997, Twining and Fisher, 2004) it is intriguing to wonder whether nutrient recycling is at all active or whether it is just a mechanical response. Even so, all released materials are substrates that bacteria can utilise and this helps sustain an active prey population for the predator.

4.4 Conclusions

This study set out to investigate the effect of different prey types on their ingestion and digestion by the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis* and how this affected ciliate specific growth rate. The findings suggest that there is a receptor system for recognition of prey particles leading to ingestion on the one hand, and a separate recognition system inside digestive vacuoles (deciding <u>what</u> the ingested material is), is on the other hand. This is known to occur with macrophages (Pauwels et al., 2017) but it has also been proposed to occur in free-living protists (Zwirglmaier et al., 2009, Strom et al., 2017).

4.4.1 Ingestion conclusions

The study showed that there was a lack of effect of prey biovolume and Gram status on prey ingestion by *T. pyriformis*. However, there was evidence that different prey types (Live, Dead, Pico and FLM) were ingested differently. Live heterotrophic bacteria seemed able to quickly upregulate DV formation rate (in 5 minutes) which was something not demonstrated by any of the other prey types. It was hypothesised that this is receptor-mediated and that the ligand might be in the outer membrane (in Gramnegative cells) or on the surface of the peptidoglycan (in Gram-positive cells). Either could be masked by an outer S-layer which results in no upregulation of DV formation rate like seen in Pico prey.

All prey types, except FLMs, showed controlled vacuole filling over a 20 minute period which suggests this is receptor mediated. Live heterotrophic and autotrophic prey yielded a significantly lower maximum prey/vacuole than heat-killed cells, and whereas significant differences in prey/vacuole between species were discerned for heat-killed cells, no such differences were discerned for live species. Putative receptors were hypothesised to be (i) the mannose receptor (ligand, mannose) for the controlled uptake of live bacteria and (ii) a scavenger-like receptor (ligand, peptidoglycan) for the uptake of heat-killed bacteria.

The predominant ingestion pathways for the different prey types are hypothesised to be (i) the lectin-receptor-based route for live prey (mannose-receptor binding with mannose/mannan) and, (ii) the non-specific-receptor-mediated route for the uptake of inert prey (MARCO-like SR, surface-charge interaction). However, these pathways may not be exclusive to one prey type and cross-talk between the two seems likely to occur. The route in for heat-killed cells is more difficult to discern and there may even be a third route in. Evidence points to an SR-A-like receptor being involved in the uptake of heat-killed cell. Being an SR, and not a lectin, suggests entry via the nonspecific-receptor-mediated route however, uptake did not appear 'non-specific' as significant differences between prey species with regards to vacuole filling was observed.

4.4.2 Digestion conclusions

The current study found no evidence that different species of live or dead bacteria affected their % total digested and digestion rate in *T. pyriformis* and no effect of Gramreaction was seen. Overall, *T. pyriformis* digested *ca.* 52% of enclosed live prey and *ca.* 50% of enclosed dead prey within the digestive period. There was however a very strong relationship (for both live and dead states) between biovolume of prey in the vacuole and the total biovolume of prey digested in the vacuole which implied that larger cells result in more biovolume being digested (and possibly assimilated) which in itself could lead to higher ciliate specific growth rates. This however was not found to be the case. The only parameter which differed between the prey states was the length of the DP with the DPs of dead prey being significantly shorter than those with live cells. It was hypothesised that that the lack of surface ligands on dead cells prevented the DV from going through the complete sequence of fusion events with lysosomes and this shortened the DP. It was also hypothesised that the unmasking of deep ligands by lysozyme action within the DV might uncover the identity of the cargo and

this might be a reason why numerous pathogenic bacteria alter their peptidoglycan layer in order to resist the action of lysozyme.

4.4.3 Growth conclusions

Considering the lack of differential digestion of prey in the digestion experiments it was no surprise that the prey had little effect on ciliate growth rates. There was also no obvious relationship between growth rate and any parameter tested (prey biovolume in the vacuole, % prey biovolume digested in the vacuole, % total digestion of prey, digestion rate) suggesting that digestion and growth are too far removed with regards to cellular processes. Even though assimilation was not determined, it was estimated that the majority of prey material released by protists is within spent faecal pellets, as opposed to being directly remineralised and released as inorganic nutrients.

Appendix A. Media recipes

BG11 Broth

Stock solutions:





Use 10mL of stock solutions (1) to (8) and 1 mL of stock solution (9) per 1L BG11 broth.

Make up to 1 litre with deionized water. Adjust pH to 7.1 with 1M NaOH or HCl.

Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes

CHALKLEY'S MEDIUM

Stock solution:	NaCl	2.00g	In 100ml
	KCI	0.08g	distilled
	CaCl ₂	0.12g	water

Add 5mL of stock solution to 1 litre distilled water. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes.

DIAGNOSTIC SENSITIVITY TEST (DST) AGAR

Diagnostic susceptibility test agar 37.5g

Add to 1 litre distilled water. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 47°C before pouring aseptically.

LYSOGENY BROTH (LB)

NaCl	10g
Typtone	10g
Yeast extract	5g

Add to 1 litre distilled water. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes.

LYSOGENY BROTH (LB) AGAR

NaCl	10g
Typtone	10g
Yeast extract	5g
Agar No. 2	15g

Add to 1 litre distilled water. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 47°C before pouring aseptically.

LYSOGENY BROTH (LB) AGAR WITH ANTIBIOTICS

Ampicillin stock	100 µg/mL
Chloramphenicol stock	6 µg/mL
Gentamycin stock	60 µg/mL
Kanamycin stock	50 µg/mL

To make each antibiotic agar, autoclave 1 litre LB agar at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 55°C before adding 1 mL of filter sterilized antibiotic stock. Pour aseptically.
VOGEL-BONNER MINIMAL MEDIUM (VBMM) AGAR

Stock solution (10x):	MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	2g		
	Citric acid	20g		
	Trisodium citrate	30g		
	KH ₂ PO ₄	100g		
	NaHNH ₄ PO ₄ ·4H ₂ O	35g		

To make a 10 times VBMM stock solution, add salts to 800mL of warm distilled water. Stir and warm till dissolved and then adjust to pH 7 with sodium hydroxide. Adjust volume to 1 litre and autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Store at room temperature. For 1 litre of solution for VBMM plates, add 15g of agar too 900mL of distilled water, and then add 100mL of 10 times VBMM stock solution. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 47°C before pouring aseptically.

VOGEL-BONNER MINIMAL MEDIUM - GENTAMYCIN (VBMM G60) AGAR

Gentamycin stock 60 µg/mL

Add 15g of agar too 900mL of distilled water, and then add 100mL of 10 times VBMM stock solution (above). Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 55°C before adding 1 mL of filter sterilized gentamycin stock. Pour aseptically.

Appendix B. 5-([4,6-Dichlorotriazin-2-yl]amino) fluorescein (DTAF) staining

Preparation of heat-killed DTAF stained bacteria

Solution 1



Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes.

Appendix C. Data and analysis

Prey	State	Source	Strain
Aeromonas hydrophila (RFP)	Live	NCIMB	9240
Enterobacter cloacae (RFP)	Live	MAST labs	
Escherichia coli (RFP)	Live	P Hill	AKN132
Klebsiella aerogenes (RFP)	Live	NCTC	9528
Klebsiella pneumoniae (RFP)	Live	NCTC	5055
Pseudomonas aeruginosa (RFP)	Live	NCIMB	10412
Pseudomonas fluorescens (RFP)	Live	R Pickup	FH1
Salmonella enterica (RFP)	Live	NCTC	74
Salmonella enterica (RFP)	Live	NCTC	12694
Serratia liquefaciens (RFP)	Live	MAST labs	
Serratia marcescens (RFP)	Live	NCIMB	1377
Staphylococcus aureus (RFP)	Live	P Hill	
Klebsiella aerogenes	Dead	NCTC	9528
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Dead	NCTC	5055
Lactobacillus fermentum	Dead	NCIMB	
Listeria monocytogenes	Dead	NCIMB	
Mesorhizobium sp.	Dead	J Parry	B1
Salmonella enterica	Dead	NCTC	74
Staphylococcus aureus	Dead	NCTC	6571
Yellow/green microspheres (0.50 µm)	FLM	Fluoresbrite [™] Polyscience Inc.	-
Yellow/green microspheres (0.75 µm)	FLM	Fluoresbrite [™] Polyscience Inc.	-
Yellow/green microspheres (0.92 µm)	FLM	Fluoresbrite™ Polyscience Inc.	-
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH1
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH2
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH3
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH4
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH5
Synechococcus sp. *	Pico	K Harper	S-KH6
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH7
Synechococcus sp. *	Pico	K Harper	S-KH8
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH9
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH10
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH11
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH12
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH13
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH14
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	K Harper	S-KH15
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	ССАР	1479/12
Synechococcus leopoliensis*	Pico	ССАР	1405/1
Synechococcus elongatus	Pico	ССАР	1479/1A
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	ССАР	1479/10
Synechococcus sp.	Pico	ССАР	1479/11

Table C.1. All prey used in ingestion experiments together with their state, source and strain.

Α	Prey per cell (P/C)			Vac	Vacuoles per cell (V/C)				y per va	cuole (P	/V)		Bio-volume (BV)			
	FLM	DTAF	PICO	RFP	FLM	DTAF	ΡΙϹΟ	RFP	FLM	DTAF	ΡΙϹΟ	RFP	FLM	DTAF	PICO	RFP
	15.70	13.77	9.70	8.87	2.03	2.20	1.80	2.17	7.72	6.29	5.44	4.14	0.065	0.30	1.085	0.918
	14.13	15.07	11.07	8.10	1.53	1.80	2.03	2.13	9.31	8.40	5.46	3.80	0.065	0.3	0.919	0.511
	13.10	20.13	13.83	7.43	1.93	1.83	2.40	2.30	6.78	11.01	5.74	3.24	0.065	0.3	0.588	1.016
	11.63	19.67	10.33	4.17	1.83	1.97	1.77	1.17	6.39	9.97	5.89	3.57	0.065	0.3	0.934	1.016
	11.03	7.90	10.47	12.03	1.60	1.27	1.77	2.47	7.00	6.23	5.91	4.87	0.065	0.17	1.137	1.334
	12.93	7.63	9.00	8.77	1.93	1.67	1.60	2.33	6.69	4.61	5.63	3.75	0.065	0.17	1.171	1.334
	17.47	29.13	11.47	11.27	2.47	2.17	1.83	3.00	7.07	13.46	6.25	3.76	0.065	0.27	1.253	0.511
	15.20	20.33	10.33	10.27	2.27	2.03	1.80	2.73	6.70	10.04	5.69	3.77	0.065	0.12	0.837	0.511
	12.17	7.17	11.10	9.69	2.00	1.87	2.00	2.10	6.10	3.85	5.51	4.65	0.065	0.44	0.943	0.918
	13.03	5.67	9.03	11.60	1.93	1.67	1.87	2.43	6.73	3.33	4.95	4.77	0.065	0.47	1.062	0.918
	13.47	4.20	9.80	18.27	2.23	1.70	1.90	3.83	6.00	2.48	5.08	4.78	0.065	0.125	0.838	1.701
	6.87	14.73	5.63	18.00	1.27	2.87	1.30	4.37	5.38	5.14	4.33	4.12	0.065	1.33	1.039	1.701
	8.77	13.10	6.93	19.90	1.43	2.77	1.53	3.63	6.12	4.74	4.53	5.48	0.065	1.33	1.055	0.655
	9.37	9.23	7.13	14.03	1.57	1.57	1.67	2.80	6.05	5.88	4.25	5.00	0.065	0.3	0.756	0.655
	11.03		6.80	11.90	1.73		1.47	2.83	6.39		4.68	4.21	0.22		0.979	0.785
	14.20		14.53	8.13	2.20		2.20	2.03	6.46		6.49	4.00	0.41		0.948	0.785
	13.13		13.83	10.03	1.70		2.63	3.07	7.73		5.32	3.28	0.41		2.326	0.512
			10.10	15.77			1.77	3.47			5.73	4.56			0.850	0.512
			12.13	21.67			2.10	3.63			5.75	5.93			0.978	0.759
			13.23	15.53			2.33	3.70			5.63	4.22			2.342	0.759
				12.70				2.96				4.30				0.641
				13.87				3.44				4.03				0.641
				10.07				3.03				3.32				0.444
				8.47				2.43				3.49				0.444
				14.77				2.93				5.04				0.272
				13.63				1.83				7.44				0.272

B Prey per cell (P/C)			Vacuoles per cell (V/C)					Prey per vacuole (P/V)					Bio-volume (BV)						
		FLM	DTAF	PICO	RFP	FLM	DTAF	PICO	RFP	F	LM	DTAF	PICO	RFP	I	FLM	DTAF	PICO	RFP
-	Mean	13.85	13.66	10.31	15.82	2.19	1.73	1.89	3.40	6	5.39	7.53	5.41	4.58	(0.11	0.27	1.10	0.79
	SD	3.43	7.66	2.51	5.29	0.49	0.30	0.33	0.77	1	.12	3.27	0.61	0.78	(0.12	0.12	0.45	0.38
_	SEM	0.83	2.31	0.56	1.04	0.12	0.09	0.07	0.15	C).27	0.98	0.14	0.15	(0.03	0.04	0.10	0.07
_	Prey per cell (P/C)		V	Vacuoles per cell (V/C)				_											
C		DTAF	PICO	RFF)		DTAF	PIC	0	RFP									
-	FLM	0.930	0.001	0.18	3	FLM	0.009	0.03	32 (0.000	_								
	DTAF		0.081	0.33	0	DTAF		0.13	84 (0.000									
	PICO			0.00	0	PICO			(0.000	_								
		Prey p	er vacu	ole (P/V)	Bio-volume (BV)													
_		DTAF	PICO	RFF)		DTAF	PIC	0	RFP									
	FLM	0.196	0.002	0.00	0	FLM	0.002	0.0	00 00	0.000									
	DTAF		0.008	0.00	0	DTAF		0.0	00 00	0.000									
	PICO			0.00	0	PICO			(0.014									

Table C.2. Data and analysis of four prey states when fed to T. pyriformis for 5 min: live and indigestible (<u>Pico</u>), live and digestible (<u>Live</u>), dead and digestible (<u>Dead</u>) and inert and (<u>FLM</u>) for four parameters: prey per cell (P/C), vacuoles per cell (V/C), prey per vacuole (P/V) and bio-volume. **A**) Raw data for 77 prey. **B**) Mean, standard deviation (SD) and standard error of the mean (SEM) for each of the prey states and each parameter. **C**) T-test results (P values) for the four parameters between each of the four prey states. P values in red demote significant differences ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure C.1. Regression analysis of prey biovolume against each of the three parameters for all four prey types. There were no effect of prey bio-volume on any of the three parameters. P/C = Prey per cell. V/C = Vacuoles per cell. P/V = Prey per vacuole. BV = Prey bio-volume.



(FLMs) data was from Thurman et al. (2010) (Appendix C Table C.4)

1.0E+08

5.0E+07

0.0E+00

0.0E+00

 $R^2 = 0.8762$

2.0E+07 Prey concentration/(prey per vacuole)



Figure C.3. Regression analysis of specific growth rates against (A) digestion rates, (B) prey biovolume, (C) total digestion, (D) digestive vacuole biovolume when T. pyriformis was fed live bacterial prey at $2x10^7$ cells/ml. There were no relationships found between the parameters.

Prey	Vacuo	les/cell	Prey,	/cell	Max ingestion rate
	Ks (x10⁵)	Vmax	Ks (x10 ⁶)	Vmax	(Prey/cell/min)
Pico 20	7.37±8.94	2.30±0.03	5.75±0.56	15.3±0.11	3.07±0.02
Pico 3	11.9±5.43	2.50±0.02	6.98±1.66	18.2±0.38	3.63±0.08
Live S. aureus	172±40.6	3.36±0.15	48.1±7.18	27.3±1.70	5.46±0.34
Dead S. aureus	132±90.1	1.99±0.20	28.3±17.7	18.3±3.20	3.66±0.64
FLMs	60.4±19.0	2.45±0.38	-13.2±8.02	38.4±2.26	7.68±0.45

Table C.3. Maximum and Ks (cells/ml) values for vacuoles/cell, prey/cell and ingestion rate (prey/cell/min) when T. pyriformis feeds for 5 min on Live and Dead S. aureus, Pico 3 and Pico 20. FLMs data was taken from Thurman et al. (2010). Error = SEM. Double-reciprocal plot used to find Ks and Vmax can be found in Appendix C Figure C.2

References

- ABU KWAIK, Y. 1996a. The phagosome containing Legionella pneumophila within the protozoan Hartmannella vermiformis is surrounded by the rough endoplasmic reticulum. *Appl Environ Microbiol,* 62, 2022-8.
- ABU KWAIK, Y. 1996b. The phagosome containing *Legionella pneumophila* within the protozoan *Hartmannella vermiformis* is surrounded by the rough endoplasmic reticulum. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 62, 2022-2028.
- ABU KWAIK, Y., GAO, L. Y., STONE, B. J., VENKATARAMAN, C. & HARB, O. S. 1998. Invasion of protozoa by *Legionella pneumophila* and its role in bacterial ecology and pathogenesis. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 64, 3127-33.
- ADACHI, H. & TSUJIMOTO, M. 2002. FEEL-1, a novel scavenger receptor with in vitro bacteria-binding and angiogenesis-modulating activities. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 34264-34270.
- ADEREM, A. & UNDERHILL, D. M. 1999. Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 17, 593-623.
- ADL, S. M., LEANDER, B. S., SIMPSON, A. G., ARCHIBALD, J. M., ANDERSON, O. R., BASS, D., BOWSER, S. S., BRUGEROLLE, G., FARMER, M. A. & KARPOV, S. 2007. Diversity, nomenclature, and taxonomy of protists. *Systematic Biology*, 56, 684-689.
- ADL, S. M., SIMPSON, A. G., FARMER, M. A., ANDERSEN, R. A., ANDERSON, O. R., BARTA, J. R., BOWSER, S. S., BRUGEROLLE, G., FENSOME, R. A. & FREDERICQ, S. 2005. The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 52, 399-451.
- AKYA, A., POINTON, A. & THOMAS, C. 2009. Mechanism involved in phagocytosis and killing of *Listeria monocytogenes* by *Acanthamoeba polyphaga*. *Parasitology research*, 105, 1375.
- ALBERTS, B., JOHNSON, A., LEWIS, J., WALTER, P., RAFF, M. & ROBERTS, K. 2002. Molecular Biology of the Cell 4th Edition: International Student Edition. Routledge.
- ALLALI, K., DOLAN, J. & RASSOULZADEGAN, F. 1994. Culture characteristics and orthophosphate excretion of a marine oligotrich ciliate, *Strombidium sulcatum*, fed heat-killed bacteria. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 159-165.
- ALLAVENA, P., CHIEPPA, M., MONTI, P. & PIEMONTI, L. 2004. From pattern recognition receptor to regulator of homeostasis: the double-faced macrophage mannose receptor. *Critical Reviews™ in Immunology,* 24.
- ALLEN, P. G. & DAWIDOWICZ, E. A. 1990. Phagocytosis in *Acanthamoeba*: I. A mannose receptor is responsible for the binding and phagocytosis of yeast. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 145, 508-513.
- ALLEN, R. D. 1974. Food vacuole membrane growth with microtubule-associated membrane transport in *Paramecium. J Cell Biol,* 63, 904-22.
- ALLEN, R. D. & FOK, A. K. 1980. Membrane recycling and endocytosis in *Paramecium* confirmed by horseradish peroxidase pulse-chase studies. *J Cell Sci*, 45, 131-45.
- ALLEN, R. D. & FOK, A. K. 1983a. Nonlysosomal vesicles (acidosomes) are involved in phagosome acidification in *Paramecium*. *J Cell Biol*, 97, 566-70.
- ALLEN, R. D. & FOK, A. K. 1983b. Phagosome fusion vesicles of *Paramecium*. I. Thinsection morphology. *Eur J Cell Biol*, 29, 150-8.
- ALLEN, R. D. & FOK, A. K. 1984. Retrieval of lysosomal membrane and acid phosphatase from phagolysosomes of *Paramecium caudatum*. *J Cell Biol*, 99, 1955-9.
- ALLEN, R. D. & WOLF, R. 1979. Membrane recycling at the cytoproct of *Tetrahymena*. *Journal of cell science*, 35, 217-227.

- ALMEIDA, R. & OLIVER, S. 1993. Antiphagocytic effect of the capsule of *Streptococcus uberis. Zoonoses and Public Health,* 40, 707-714.
- ALSAM, S., SISSONS, J., DUDLEY, R. & KHAN, N. A. 2005. Mechanisms associated with Acanthamoeba castellanii (T4) phagocytosis. Parasitology research, 96, 402-409.
- ANACARSO, I., DE NIEDERHÄUSERN, S., MESSI, P., GUERRIERI, E., ISEPPI, R., SABIA, C. & BONDI, M. 2012. *Acanthamoeba polyphaga*, a potential environmental vector for the transmission of food-borne and opportunistic pathogens. *Journal of basic microbiology*, 52, 261-268.
- ANDERSON, O. R. 1987. Fine Structure of a Silica-Biomineralizing Testate Amoeba, Netzelia tuberculata. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology, 34, 302-309.
- ANDERSON, O. R., ROGERSON, A. & HANNAH, F. 1997. Three new limax amoebae isolated from marine surface sediments: Vahlkampfia caledonica n. sp., Saccamoeba marina n. sp., and Hartmannella vacuolata n. sp. Journal Of Eukaryotic Microbiology, 44, 33-42.
- ANDERSON, R. V., ELLIOTT, E. T., MCCLELLAN, J. F., COLEMAN, D. C., COLE, C. V. & HUNT, H. W. 1977. Trophic interactions in soils as they affect energy and nutrient dynamics. III. Biotic interactions of bacteria, amoebae, and nematodes. *Microb Ecol*, 4, 361-71.
- ANDERSSON, A., LARSSON, U. & HAGSTRÖM, Å. 1986. Size-selective grazing by a microflagellate on pelagic bacteria. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 33, 51-57.
- APPLE, J. K., STROM, S. L., PALENIK, B. & BRAHAMSHA, B. 2011. Variability in protist grazing and growth on different marine *Synechococcus* isolates. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, **77**, 3074-3084.
- APPLEWHITE, P. & MOROWITZ, H. 1966. The micrometazoa as model systems for studying the physiology of memory. *The Yale journal of biology and medicine*, 39, 90.
- ARESCHOUG, T. & GORDON, S. 2009. Scavenger receptors: role in innate immunity and microbial pathogenesis. *Cellular microbiology*, 11, 1160-1169.
- ARNDT, H. 1993. Rotifers as predators on components of the microbial web (bacteria, heterotrophic flagellates, ciliates)—a review. *Hydrobiologia*, 255, 231-246.
- ARNDT, H., DIETRICH, D., AUER, B., CLEVEN, E.-J., GRÄFENHAN, T., WEITERE, M. & MYLNIKOV, A. P. 2000. Functional diversity of heterotrophic flagellates in aquatic ecosystems. *The flagellates: unity, diversity and evolution*, 240-268.
- ARNDT, H. & MATHES, J. 1991. Large heterotrophic flagellates form a significant part of protozooplankton biomass in lakes and rivers. *Ophelia*, 33, 225-234.
- ARREDOUANI, M. S., PALECANDA, A., KOZIEL, H., HUANG, Y.-C., IMRICH, A., SULAHIAN, T. H., NING, Y. Y., YANG, Z., PIKKARAINEN, T. & SANKALA, M. 2005. MARCO is the major binding receptor for unopsonized particles and bacteria on human alveolar macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 175, 6058-6064.
- ATKINSON, D., CIOTTI, B. J. & MONTAGNES, D. J. 2003. Protists decrease in size linearly with temperature: ca. 2.5% C- 1. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 270, 2605-2611.
- AXELROD, S., OSCHKINAT, H., ENDERS, J., SCHLEGEL, B., BRINKMANN, V., KAUFMANN, S. H., HAAS, A. & SCHAIBLE, U. E. 2008. Delay of phagosome maturation by a mycobacterial lipid is reversed by nitric oxide. *Cellular microbiology*, 10, 1530-1545.
- AZAM, F., FENCHEL, T., FIELD, J., GRAY, J., MEYER-REIL, L. & THINGSTAD, F. 1983. The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. *Marine ecology* progress series. Oldendorf, 10, 257-263.
- BAR-SHAVIT, Z., GOLDMAN, R., OFEK, I., SHARON, N. & MIRELMAN, D. 1980. Mannose-binding activity of *Escherichia coli*: a determinant of attachment and ingestion of the bacteria by macrophages. *Infection and immunity*, 29, 417-424.

- BAR-SHAVIT, Z., OFEK, I., GOLDMAN, R., MIRELMAN, D. & SHARON, N. 1977. Mannose residues on phagocytes as receptors for the attachment of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhi*. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 78, 455-460.
- BARKER, J. & BROWN, M. R. 1994. Trojan horses of the microbial world: protozoa and the survival of bacterial pathogens in the environment. *Microbiology*, 140 (Pt 6), 1253-9.
- BARKER, J., BROWN, M. R., COLLIER, P. J., FARRELL, I. & GILBERT, P. 1992. Relationship between *Legionella pneumophila* and *Acanthamoeba polyphaga*: physiological status and susceptibility to chemical inactivation. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 58, 2420-5.
- BAUR, S., RAUTENBERG, M., FAULSTICH, M., GRAU, T., SEVERIN, Y., UNGER, C., HOFFMANN, W. H., RUDEL, T., AUTENRIETH, I. B. & WEIDENMAIER, C. 2014. A nasal epithelial receptor for *Staphylococcus aureus* WTA governs adhesion to epithelial cells and modulates nasal colonization. *Plos pathogens*, 10, e1004089.
- BEAMER, C. A. & HOLIAN, A. 2005. Scavenger receptor class A type I/II (CD204) null mice fail to develop fibrosis following silica exposure. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 289, L186-L195.
- BERA, A., HERBERT, S., JAKOB, A., VOLLMER, W. & GÖTZ, F. 2005. Why are pathogenic staphylococci so lysozyme resistant? The peptidoglycan Oacetyltransferase OatA is the major determinant for lysozyme resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Molecular microbiology*, 55, 778-787.
- BERG, J., TYMOCZKO, J. & STRYER, L. 2002. *Biochemistry, 5th edition,* New York, W H Freeman.
- BERK, S. G., BROWNLEE, D. C., HEINLE, D. R., KLING, H. J. & COLWELL, R. R. 1977. Ciliates as a food source for marine planktonic copepods. *Microb Ecol*, 4, 27-40.
- BERNINGER, U., FINLAY, B. J. & KUUPPO-LEINIKKI, P. 1991. Protozoan control of bacterial abundances in fresh water. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 36, 139-147.
- BEVERIDGE, T. J., POUWELS, P. H., SÁRA, M., KOTIRANTA, A., LOUNATMAA, K., KARI, K., KEROSUO, E., HAAPASALO, M., EGELSEER, E. M. & SCHOCHER, I. 1997. V. Functions of S-layers. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 20, 99-149.
- BIDDANDA, B. A. & POMEROY, L. R. 1988. Microbial aggregation and degradation of phytoplankton-derived detritus in seawater. I. Microbial succession. *Marine ecology progress series. Oldendorf,* 42, 79-88.
- BLANDER, J. M. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2004. Regulation of phagosome maturation by signals from toll-like receptors. *Science*, 304, 1014-1018.
- BLANDER, J. M. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2006. Toll-dependent selection of microbial antigens for presentation by dendritic cells. *Nature*, 440, 808.
- BLASER, M. J., SMITH, P., REPINE, J. & JOINER, K. 1988. Pathogenesis of Campylobacter fetus infections. Failure of encapsulated Campylobacter fetus to bind C3b explains serum and phagocytosis resistance. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 81, 1434.
- BOCHDANSKY, A. B. & CLOUSE, M. A. 2015. New tracer to estimate community predation rates of phagotrophic protists. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 524, 55-69.
- BOENIGK, J. & ARNDT, H. 2000a. Comparative studies on the feeding behavior of two heterotrophic nanoflagellates: the filter-feeding choanoflagellate *Monosiga ovata* and the raptorial-feeding kinetoplastid *Rhynchomonas nasuta*. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 22, 243-249.
- BOENIGK, J. & ARNDT, H. 2000b. Particle handling during interception feeding by four species of heterotrophic nanoflagellates. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 47, 350-358.

- BOENIGK, J., ARNDT, H. & CLEVEN, E.-J. 2001a. The problematic nature of fluorescently labeled bacteria (FLB) in *Spumella* feeding experiments-an explanation by using video microscopy. *Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie*, 152, 329-338.
- BOENIGK, J., MATZ, C., JÜRGENS, K. & ARNDTA, H. 2001b. Confusing selective feeding with differential digestion in bacterivorous nanoflagellates. *J Eukaryot Microbiol*, 48, 425-32.
- BONECA, I. G., DUSSURGET, O., CABANES, D., NAHORI, M.-A., SOUSA, S.,
 LECUIT, M., PSYLINAKIS, E., BOURIOTIS, V., HUGOT, J.-P. & GIOVANNINI,
 M. 2007. A critical role for peptidoglycan N-deacetylation in *Listeria* evasion
 from the host innate immune system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 997-1002.
- BONKOWSKI, M. & SCHAEFER, M. 1997. Interactions between earthworms and soil protozoa: a trophic component in the soil food web. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29, 499-502.
- BOZUE, J. A. & JOHNSON, W. 1996. Interaction of *Legionella pneumophila* with *Acanthamoeba castellanii*: uptake by coiling phagocytosis and inhibition of phagosome-lysosome fusion. *Infection and immunity*, 64, 668-673.
- BOZZARO, S. & ROSEMAN, S. 1983. Adhesion of *Dictyostelium discoideum* cells to carbohydrates immobilized in polyacrylamide gels. I. Evidence for three sugarspecific cell surface receptors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 258, 13882-13889.
- BRACHA, R., KOBILER, D. & MIRELMAN, D. 1982. Attachment and ingestion of bacteria by trophozoites of *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Infection and immunity*, 36, 396-406.
- BRAHAMSHA, B. 1996. An abundant cell-surface polypeptide is required for swimming by the nonflagellated marine cyanobacterium *Synechococcus*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93, 6504-6509.
- BRANDL, M. T., ROSENTHAL, B. M., HAXO, A. F. & BERK, S. G. 2005. Enhanced survival of *Salmonella enterica* in vesicles released by a soilborne *Tetrahymena* species. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 71, 1562-9.
- BRENNAN, C. A. & ANDERSON, K. V. 2004. *Drosophila*: the genetics of innate immune recognition and response. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 22, 457-483.
- BRIELAND, J. K., FANTONE, J. C., REMICK, D. G., LEGENDRE, M., MCCLAIN, M. & ENGLEBERG, N. C. 1997. The role of *Legionella pneumophila*-infected *Hartmannella vermiformis* as an infectious particle in a murine model of Legionnaire's disease. *Infect Immun*, 65, 5330-3.
- BROWN, E. 1992. Complement receptors, adhesion, and phagocytosis. *Infectious agents and disease,* 1, 63.
- BRUNE, A. 2014. Symbiotic digestion of lignocellulose in termite guts. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 12, 168-80.
- BRUTKOWSKA, M. 1963. Effect of pH on the food vacuole formation in Paramecium caudatum.
- BUITENHUIS, E. T., RIVKIN, R. B., SAILLEY, S. & LE QUÉRÉ, C. 2010. Biogeochemical fluxes through microzooplankton. *Global biogeochemical cycles*, 24.
- CALBET, A. & SAIZ, E. 2005. The ciliate-copepod link in marine ecosystems. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 38, 157-167.
- CAPRIULO, G. & DEGNAN, C. 1991. Effect of food concentration on digestion and vacuole passage time in the heterotrichous marine ciliate *Fibrea salina*. *Marine Biology*, 110, 199-202.
- CARDELLI, J. 2001. Phagocytosis and macropinocytosis in *Dictyostelium*: phosphoinositide-based processes, biochemically distinct. *Traffic*, 2, 311-20.

- CARON, E., SELF, A. J. & HALL, A. 2000. The GTPase Rap1 controls functional activation of macrophage integrin αMβ2 by LPS and other inflammatory mediators. *Current Biology*, 10, 974-978.
- CHAPMAN-ANDRESEN, C. & NILSSON, J. R. 1968. On vacuole formation in Tetrahymena pyriformis. C R Trav Lab Carlsberg, 36, 405-32.
- CHAVRIER, P., PARTON, R. G., HAURI, H. P., SIMONS, K. & ZERIAL, M. 1990. Localization of low molecular weight GTP binding proteins to exocytic and endocytic compartments. *Cell*, 62, 317-329.
- CHISTYAKOVA, L. & FROLOV, A. 2011. Light and electron microscopic study of *Pelomyxa stagnalis* sp. n.(Archamoebae, pelobiontida). *Cell and Tissue Biology*, 5, 90-97.
- CHOI, J. W. & PETERS, F. 1992. Effects of temperature on two psychrophilic ecotypes of a heterotrophic nanoflagellate, *Paraphysomonas imperforata*. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 58, 593-599.
- CHOI, N.-Y., BAE, Y.-M. & LEE, S.-Y. 2015. Cell surface properties and biofilm formation of pathogenic bacteria. *Food Science and Biotechnology*, 24, 2257-2264.
- CHRISTAKI, U., DOLAN, J. R., PELEGRI, S. & RASSOULZADEGAN, F. 1998. Consumption of picoplankton-size particles by marine ciliates: effects of physiological state of the ciliate and particle quality. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43, 458-464.
- CHRISTENSEN-DALSGAARD, K. K. & FENCHEL, T. 2003. Increased filtration efficiency of attached compared to free-swimming flagellates. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 33, 77-86.
- CHUNG, Y.-S. A. & KOCKS, C. 2011. Recognition of pathogenic microbes by the *Drosophila* phagocytic pattern recognition receptor Eater. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286, 26524-26532.
- CIRILLO, J. D., FALKOW, S. & TOMPKINS, L. S. 1994. Growth of *Legionella pneumophila* in *Acanthamoeba castellanii* enhances invasion. *Infect Immun*, 62, 3254-61.
- CLARKE, M., KOHLER, J., ARANA, Q., LIU, T., HEUSER, J. & GERISCH, G. 2002. Dynamics of the vacuolar H(+)-ATPase in the contractile vacuole complex and the endosomal pathway of *Dictyostelium* cells. *J Cell Sci*, 115, 2893-905.
- COLLINS, L. E., LYNCH, M., MARSZALOWSKA, I., KRISTEK, M., ROCHFORT, K., O'CONNELL, M., WINDLE, H., KELLEHER, D. & LOSCHER, C. E. 2014. Surface layer proteins isolated from *Clostridium difficile* induce clearance responses in macrophages. *Microbes and infection*, 16, 391-400.
- CORLISS, J. O. 2013. The ciliated protozoa: characterization, classification and guide to the literature, Elsevier.
- COSSINS, A. & BOWLER, K. 1987. Rate compensations and capacity adaptations. *Temperature biology of animals.* Springer.
- CUNNINGHAM, R., SÖDERSTRÖM, T., GILLMAN, C. & VAN OSS, C. 1975. Phagocytosis as a surface phenomenon. V. Contact angles and phagocytosis of rough and smooth strains of *Salmonella typhimurium*, and the influence of specific antiserum. *Immunological communications*, 4, 429-442.
- CUNNION, K., ZHANG, H.-M. & FRANK, M. 2003. Availability of complement bound to *Staphylococcus aureus* to interact with membrane complement receptors influences efficiency of phagocytosis. *Infection and immunity*, 71, 656-662.
- CURDS, C. & COCKBURN, A. 1970a. Protozoa in biological sewage-treatment processes—II. Protozoa as indicators in the activated-sludge process. *Water Research*, 4, 237-249.
- CURDS, C. R. 1973. The Role of Protozoa in the Activated-Sludge Process. *American Zoologist*, 13, 161-169.

- CURDS, C. R. & COCKBURN, A. 1970b. Protozoa in biological sewage-treatment processes—I. A survey of the protozoan fauna of British percolating filters and activated-sludge plants. *Water Research*, 4, 229-236.
- CZOP, J. K., FEARON, D. T. & AUSTEN, K. F. 1978. Opsonin-independent phagocytosis of activators of the alternative complement pathway by human monocytes. *The Journal of Immunology*, 120, 1132-1138.
- DAFFONCHIO, D., THAVEESRI, J. & VERSTRAETE, W. 1995. Contact angle measurement and cell hydrophobicity of granular sludge from upflow anaerobic sludge bed reactors. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 61, 3676-3680.
- DASH, M., SENAPATI, B. & MISHRA, C. 1980. Nematode feeding by tropical earthworms. *Oikos*, 322-325.
- DAVIS, K. M. & WEISER, J. N. 2011. Modifications to the peptidoglycan backbone help bacteria to establish infection. *Infection and immunity*, 79, 562-570.
- DE BAGÜÉS, M. P. J., TERRAZA, A., GROSS, A. & DORNAND, J. 2004. Different responses of macrophages to smooth and rough Brucella spp.: relationship to virulence. *Infection and immunity*, 72, 2429-2433.
- DECLERCK, P., BEHETS, J., DE KEERSMAECKER, B. & OLLEVIER, F. 2007. Receptor-mediated uptake of *Legionella pneumophila* by *Acanthamoeba castellanii* and *Naegleria lovaniensis*. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 103, 2697-2703.
- DEFACQUE, H., EGEBERG, M., HABERMANN, A., DIAKONOVA, M., ROY, C., MANGEAT, P., VOELTER, W., MARRIOTT, G., PFANNSTIEL, J., FAULSTICH, H. & GRIFFITHS, G. 2000. Involvement of ezrin/moesin in de novo actin assembly on phagosomal membranes. *EMBO J*, 19, 199-212.
- DELOID, G. M., SULAHIAN, T. H., IMRICH, A. & KOBZIK, L. 2009. Heterogeneity in macrophage phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus aureus* strains: high-throughput scanning cytometry-based analysis. *PLoS One,* 4, e6209.
- DESJARDINS, M. 1995. Biogenesis of phagolysosomes: the 'kiss and run' hypothesis. *Trends Cell Biol*, 5, 183-6.
- DESJARDINS, M., CELIS, J. E., VAN MEER, G., DIEPLINGER, H., JAHRAUS, A., GRIFFITHS, G. & HUBER, L. A. 1994a. Molecular characterization of phagosomes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 32194-32200.
- DESJARDINS, M. & DESCOTEAUX, A. 1997. Inhibition of phagolysosomal biogenesis by the *Leishmania* lipophosphoglycan. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 185, 2061-2068.
- DESJARDINS, M., HUBER, L. A., PARTON, R. G. & GRIFFITHS, G. 1994b. Biogenesis of phagolysosomes proceeds through a sequential series of interactions with the endocytic apparatus. *J Cell Biol*, 124, 677-88.
- DILL, B. D., GIERLINSKI, M., HÄRTLOVA, A., ARANDILLA, A. G., GUO, M., CLARKE, R. G. & TROST, M. 2015. Quantitative proteome analysis of temporally resolved phagosomes following uptake via key phagocytic receptors. *Molecular* & *Cellular Proteomics*, 14, 1334-1349.
- DIXON, C. M. 2010. z. PhD, Lancaster University.
- DOLAN, J. R. 1997. Phosphorus and ammonia excretion by planktonic protists. *Marine Geology*, 139, 109-122.
- DOLAN, J. R. & COATS, D. W. 1991. Preliminary prey digestion in a predacious estuarine ciliate and the use of digestion data to estimate ingestion. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 36, 558-565.
- DOLAN, J. R. & SIMEK, K. 1998. Ingestion and digestion of a autotrophic picoplankter, *Synechococcus*, by a heterotrophic nonoflagellate, *Bodo saltans*. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43, 1740-1746.
- DOMBROWSKI, H. 1961. Methods and results in balneobiology. *Ther Ggw*, 100, 442-9.

- DOOLEY, J., MCCUBBIN, W. & KAY, C. 1988. Isolation and biochemical characterization of the S-layer protein from a pathogenic *Aeromonas hydrophila* strain. *Journal of bacteriology*, 170, 2631-2638.
- DOPHEIDE, A., LEAR, G., STOTT, R. & LEWIS, G. 2011a. Preferential feeding by the ciliates Chilodonella and Tetrahymena spp. and effects of these protozoa on bacterial biofilm structure and composition. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 77, 4564-72.
- DOPHEIDE, A., LEAR, G., STOTT, R. & LEWIS, G. 2011b. Preferential feeding by the ciliates *Chilodonella* and *Tetrahymena* spp. and effects of these protozoa on bacterial biofilm structure and composition. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77, 4564-4572.
- DOSHI, N. & MITRAGOTRI, S. 2010. Macrophages recognize size and shape of their targets. *PloS one*, 5, e10051.
- DUCLOS, S., DIEZ, R., GARIN, J., PAPADOPOULOU, B., DESCOTEAUX, A., STENMARK, H. & DESJARDINS, M. 2000. Rab5 regulates the kiss and run fusion between phagosomes and endosomes and the acquisition of phagosome leishmanicidal properties in RAW 264.7 macrophages. *Journal of cell science*, 113, 3531-3541.
- DURICHEN, H., SIEGMUND, L., BURMESTER, A., FISCHER, M. S. & WOSTEMEYER, J. 2016. Ingestion and digestion studies in *Tetrahymena pyriformis* based on chemically modified microparticles. *Eur J Protistol*, 52, 45-57.
- DYKSTRA, T., UTERMOEHLEN, O. & HAAS, A. 2011. Defined particle ligands trigger specific defense mechanisms of macrophages. *Innate immunity*, **17**, 388-402.
- EISENMANN, H., LETSIOU, I., FEUCHTINGER, A., BEISKER, W., MANNWEILER, E., HUTZLER, P. & ARNZ, P. 2001. Interception of small particles by flocculent structures, sessile ciliates, and the basic layer of a wastewater biofilm. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 67, 4286-4292.
- ELLIOTT, A. & KENNEDY, J. 1973. Morphology of *Tetrahymena*. *Biology of Tetrahymena*, 57-87.
- ELLIOTT, A. M. & CLEMMONS, G. L. 1966. An Ultrastructural Study of Ingestion and Digestion in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. *The Journal of Protozoology*, 13, 311-323.
- ENSMINGER, A. W. & ISBERG, R. R. 2009. Legionella pneumophila Dot/Icm translocated substrates: a sum of parts. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 12, 67-73.
- EPSTEIN, S. S. & SHIARIS, M. P. 1992. Size-selective grazing of coastal bacterioplankton by natural assemblages of pigmented flagellates, colorless flagellates, and ciliates. *Microbial ecology*, 23, 211-225.
- ESCOLL, P., ROLANDO, M., GOMEZ-VALERO, L. & BUCHRIESER, C. 2013. From amoeba to macrophages: exploring the molecular mechanisms of Legionella pneumophila infection in both hosts. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 376, 1-34.
- ESPARZA, M., PALOMARES, B., GARCÍA, T., ESPINOSA, P., ZENTENO, E. & MANCILLA, R. 2015. PstS-1, the 38-kDa *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* glycoprotein, is an sdhesin, which binds the macrophage mannose receptor and promotes phagocytosis. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, 81, 46-55.
- EZEKOWITZ, R., WILLIAMS, D., KOZIEL, H., ARMSTRONG, M., WARNER, A., RICHARDS, F. & ROSE, R. 1991. Uptake of *Pneumocystis carinii* mediated by the macrophage mannose receptor. *Nature*, 351, 155-158.
- FAGERBAKKE, K. M., HELDAL, M. & NORLAND, S. 1996. Content of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, sulfur and phosphorus in native aquatic and cultured bacteria. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 10, 15-27.
- FENCHEL, T. 1980. Suspension feeding in ciliated protozoa: functional response and particle size selection. *Microbial Ecology*, 6, 1-11.
- FENCHEL, T. 2013. Ecology of Protozoa: the biology of free-living phagotropic protists, Springer-Verlag.

FERRIER-PAGES, C. & RASSOULZADEGAN, F. 1994. N remineralization in planktonic protozoa. *Limnology and oceanography*, 39, 411-419.

- FERWERDA, B., FERWERDA, G., PLANTINGA, T. S., WILLMENT, J. A., VAN SPRIEL, A. B., VENSELAAR, H., ELBERS, C. C., JOHNSON, M. D., CAMBI, A. & HUYSAMEN, C. 2009. Human dectin-1 deficiency and mucocutaneous fungal infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 361, 1760-1767.
- FIELDS, P. I., SWANSON, R. V., HAIDARIS, C. G. & HEFFRON, F. 1986. Mutants of *Salmonella typhimurium* that cannot survive within the macrophage are avirulent. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 83, 5189-5193.
- FINLAY, B. & ESTEBAN, G. 1998. Freshwater protozoa: biodiversity and ecological function. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 7, 1163-1186.
- FIRST, M. R., PARK, N. Y., BERRANG, M. E., MEINERSMANN, R. J., BERNHARD, J. M., GAST, R. J. & HOLLIBAUGH, J. T. 2012. Ciliate ingestion and digestion: flow cytometric measurements and regrowth of a digestion-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni. J Eukaryot Microbiol*, 59, 12-9.
- FLANNAGAN, R. S., HEIT, B. & HEINRICHS, D. E. 2015. Antimicrobial Mechanisms of Macrophages and the Immune Evasion Strategies of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Pathogens*, 4, 826-68.
- FLYNN, K. J., DAVIDSON, K. & CUNNINGHAM, A. 1996. Prey selection and rejection by a microflagellate; implications for the study and operation of microbial food webs. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 196, 357-372.
- FOISSNER, W. 2010. Life cycle, morphology, ontogenesis, and phylogeny of Bromeliothrix metopoides nov. gen., nov. spec., a peculiar ciliate (Protista, Colpodea) from tank bromeliads (Bromeliaceae). *Acta protozoologica*, 49, 159.
- FOK, A. K., CLARKE, M., MA, L. & ALLEN, R. D. 1993. Vacuolar H(+)-ATPase of Dictyostelium discoideum. A monoclonal antibody study. J Cell Sci, 106 (Pt 4), 1103-13.
- FOK, A. K., LEE, Y. & ALLEN, R. D. 1982. The correlation of digestive vacuole pH and size with the digestive cycle in *Paramecium caudatum*. *The Journal of Protozoology*, 29, 409-414.
- FOK, A. K., MURAOKA, J. & ALLEN, R. D. 1984. Acid phosphatase in the digestive vacuoles and lysosomes of *Paramecium Caudatum*: A timed study. *The Journal of protozoology*, 31, 216-220.
- FOK, A. K. & PAESTE, R. M. 1982. Lysosomal enzymes of *Paramecium caudatum* and *Paramecium tetraurelia*. *Exp Cell Res*, 139, 159-69.
- FOK, A. K. & SHOCKLEY, B. U. 1985. Processing of digestive vacuoles in *Tetrahymena* and the effects of dichloroisoproterenol. *J Protozool*, 32, 6-9.
- FOK, A. K., SISON, B. C., UENO, M. S. & ALLEN, R. D. 1988. Phagosome formation in *Paramecium*: effect of solid particles. *Journal of cell science*, 90, 517-524.
- FOK, A. K., UENO, M. S., AZADA, E. A. & ALLEN, R. D. 1987. Phagosomal acidification in *Paramecium*: effects on lysosomal fusion. *Eur J Cell Biol*, 43, 412-20.
- FORRELLAD, M. A., KLEPP, L. I., GIOFFRÉ, A., SABIO Y GARCIA, J., MORBIDONI, H. R., SANTANGELO, M. D. L. P., CATALDI, A. A. & BIGI, F. 2013. Virulence factors of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. *Virulence*, 4, 3-66.
- FRANKEL, J. 1999. Cell biology of *Tetrahymena thermophila*. *Methods Cell Biol*, 62, 27-125.
- FRATTI, R. A., CHUA, J., VERGNE, I. & DERETIC, V. 2003. Mycobacterium tuberculosis glycosylated phosphatidylinositol causes phagosome maturation arrest. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100, 5437-5442.
- FU, Y., O'KELLY, C., SIERACKI, M. & DISTEL, D. L. 2003. Protistan Grazing Analysis by Flow Cytometry Using Prey Labeled by In Vivo Expression of Fluorescent Proteins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 69, 6848-6855.

- FUHRMAN, J. A. & AZAM, F. 1982. Thymidine incorporation as a measure of heterotrophic bacterioplankton production in marine surface waters: Evaluation and field results. *Marine Biology*, 66, 109-120.
- GAO, L. Y., HARB, O. S. & ABU KWAIK, Y. 1997. Utilization of similar mechanisms by *Legionella pneumophila* to parasitize two evolutionarily distant host cells, mammalian macrophages and protozoa. *Infect Immun*, 65, 4738-46.
- GARCIA-AGUILAR, T., ESPINOSA-CUETO, P., MAGALLANES-PUEBLA, A. & MANCILLA, R. 2016. The mannose receptor is involved in the phagocytosis of *Mycobacteria*-induced apoptotic cells. *Journal of immunology research*, 2016.
- GEISOW, M. J., D'ARCY HART, P. & YOUNG, M. R. 1981. Temporal changes of lysosome and phagosome pH during phagolysosome formation in macrophages: studies by fluorescence spectroscopy. *J Cell Biol*, 89, 645-52.
- GIAIMIS, J., LOMBARD, Y., FONTENEAU, P., MULLER, C. D., LEVY, R., MAKAYA-KUMBA, M., LAZDINS, J. & POINDRON, P. 1993. Both mannose and betaglucan receptors are involved in phagocytosis of unopsonized, heat-killed *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by murine macrophages. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 54, 564-571.
- GILBERT, J. J. & JACK, J. D. 1993. Rotifers as predators on small ciliates. *Hydrobiologia*, 255, 247-253.
- GILBERTI, R. M., JOSHI, G. N. & KNECHT, D. A. 2008. The phagocytosis of crystalline silica particles by macrophages. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 39, 619-627.
- GILBERTI, R. M. & KNECHT, D. A. 2015. Macrophages phagocytose nonopsonized silica particles using a unique microtubule-dependent pathway. *Molecular biology of the cell*, 26, 518-529.
- GIORGIONE, J. & CLARKE, M. 2008. Heterogeneous modes of uptake for latex beads revealed through live cell imaging of phagocytes expressing a probe for phosphatidylinositol-(3, 4, 5)-trisphosphate and phosphatidylinositol-(3, 4)-bisphosphate. *Cytoskeleton*, 65, 721-733.
- GOLDSTEIN, I. J., REICHERT, C. M. & MISAKI, A. 1974. Interaction of concanavalin A with model substrates. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 234, 283-296.
- GÓMEZ-LUS, M., CORCUERA, M., GOMEZ-LUS, R., SANCHEZ-SERRANO, C., GOMEZ-AGUADO, F., ALONSO, M. & PRIETO, J. 2013. Structural dynamics of Legionella pneumophila and Legionella bozemanii colony/biofilm. Revista española de quimioterapia: publicación oficial de la Sociedad Española de Quimioterapia, 26, 214.
- GONDA, K., KOMATSU, M. & NUMATA, O. 2000. Calmodulin and Ca2+/calmodulinbinding proteins are involved in *Tetrahymena thermophila* phagocytosis. *Cell Struct Funct,* 25, 243-51.
- GONZALEZ-RUIZ, A., HAQUE, R., AGUIRRE, A., CASTANON, G., HALL, A., GUHL, F., RUIZ-PALACIOS, G., MILES, M. & WARHURST, D. 1994. Value of microscopy in the diagnosis of dysentery associated with invasive *Entamoeba* histolytica. *Journal of clinical pathology*, 47, 236-239.
- GONZALEZ, J. M., IRIBERRI, J., EGEA, L. & BARCINA, I. 1990a. Differential rates of digestion of bacteria by freshwater and marine phagotrophic protozoa. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 56, 1851-7.
- GONZALEZ, J. M., SHERR, E. & SHERR, B. F. 1993. Differential feeding by marine flagellates on growing versus starving, and on motile versus nonmotile, bacterial prey.
- GONZALEZ, J. M., SHERR, E. B. & SHERR, B. F. 1990b. Size-selective grazing on bacteria by natural assemblages of estuarine flagellates and ciliates. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 56, 583-9.

- GONZÁLEZ, J. M. & SUTTLE, C. A. 1993. Grazing by marine nanofiagellates on viruses and virus-sized particles: ingestion and digestion. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 94, 1-10.
- GOODRIDGE, H. S., WOLF, A. J. & UNDERHILL, D. M. 2009. β-glucan recognition by the innate immune system. *Immunological reviews*, 230, 38-50.
- GORVEL, J.-P., CHAVRIER, P., ZERIAL, M. & GRUENBERG, J. 1991. rab5 controls early endosome fusion in vitro. *Cell*, 64, 915-925.
- GREENBERG, S. & GRINSTEIN, S. 2002. Phagocytosis and innate immunity. *Current opinion in immunology*, 14, 136-145.
- HABERZETTL, P., DUFFIN, R., KRÄMER, U., HÖHR, D., SCHINS, R. P., BORM, P. J.
 & ALBRECHT, C. 2007. Actin plays a crucial role in the phagocytosis and biological response to respirable quartz particles in macrophages. *Archives of toxicology*, 81, 459-470.
- HAHN, M. W. & HÖFLE, M. G. 2001. Grazing of protozoa and its effect on populations of aquatic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 35, 113-121.
- HALL-STOODLEY, L. & STOODLEY, P. 2005. Biofilm formation and dispersal and the transmission of human pathogens. *Trends Microbiol*, 13, 7-10.
- HAMILTON, R. F., THAKUR, S. A., MAYFAIR, J. K. & HOLIAN, A. 2006. MARCO mediates silica uptake and toxicity in alveolar macrophages from C57BL/6 mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 34218-34226.
- HAMMER, A., GRÜTTNER, C. & SCHUMANN, R. 1999. The effect of electrostatic charge of food particles on capture efficiency by *Oxyrrhis marina* Dujardin (dinoflagellate). *Protist*, 150, 375-382.
- HANSEN, F. C., WITTE, H. J. & PASSARGE, J. 1996. Grazing in the heterotrophic dinoflagellate *Oxyrrhis marina*: size selectivity and preference for calcified *Emiliania huxleyi* cells. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 10, 307-313.
- HANSEN, P. J. 1992. Prey size selection, feeding rates and growth dynamics of heterotrophic dinoflagellates with special emphasis on *Gyrodinium spirale*. *Marine Biology*, 114, 327-334.
- HARB, O. S., VENKATARAMAN, C., HAACK, B. J., GAO, L.-Y. & KWAIK, Y. A. 1998. Heterogeneity in the attachment and uptake mechanisms of the Legionnaires' disease bacterium, *Legionella pneumophila*, by protozoan hosts. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 64, 126-132.
- HART, S., SMITH, J. & DRANSFIELD, I. 2004. Phagocytosis of opsonized apoptotic cells: roles for 'old-fashioned'receptors for antibody and complement. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 135, 181-185.
- HATZIS, C., SRIENC, F. & FREDRICKSON, A. 1994. Feeding heterogeneity in ciliate populations: effects of culture age and nutritional state. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 43, 371-380.
- HAYWARD, R., SALIBA, K. J. & KIRK, K. 2006. The pH of the digestive vacuole of *Plasmodium falciparum* is not associated with chloroquine resistance. *Journal* of cell science, 119, 1016-1025.
- HE, C., HU, Y., YIN, L., TANG, C. & YIN, C. 2010. Effects of particle size and surface charge on cellular uptake and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 31, 3657-3666.
- HERRICK, G. Germline-soma relationships in ciliated protozoa: the inception and evolution of nuclear dimorphism in one-celled animals. seminars in DEVELOPMENTAL BIOLOGY, 1994. Elsevier, 3-12.
- HOBBIE, J. E. 1994. The state of the microbes: A summary of a symposium honoring Lawrence Pomeroy. *Microb Ecol,* 28, 113-6.
- HOFFMANN, E. K., RASMUSSEN, L. & ZEUTHEN, E. 1974. Cytochalasin B: Aspects of phagocytosis in nutrient uptake in *Tetrahymena*. *Journal of Cell Science*, 15, 403-406.

- HOFFMANN, R. & MICHEL, R. 2001. Distribution of free-living amoebae (FLA) during preparation and supply of drinking water. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 203, 215-219.
- HOGG, S. 2013. Essential microbiology, John Wiley & Sons.
- HOLDERBAUM, D., HALL, G. & EHRHART, L. A. 1986. Collagen binding to Staphylococcus aureus. Infection and immunity, 54, 359-364.
- HOLDERBAUM, D., SPECH, T., EHRHART, L., KEYS, T. & HALL, G. 1987. Collagen binding in clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 25, 2258-2261.
- HORWITZ, M. A. 1983. The Legionnaires' disease bacterium (*Legionella pneumophila*) inhibits phagosome-lysosome fusion in human monocytes. *J Exp Med*, 158, 2108-26.
- HORWITZ, M. A. & SILVERSTEIN, S. C. 1980. Influence of the *Escherichia coli* capsule on complement fixation and on phagocytosis and killing by human phagocytes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 65, 82.
- HUYNH, K. K., ESKELINEN, E. L., SCOTT, C. C., MALEVANETS, A., SAFTIG, P. & GRINSTEIN, S. 2007. LAMP proteins are required for fusion of lysosomes with phagosomes. *The EMBO journal*, 26, 313-324.
- IRIBERRI, J., AYO, B., SANTAMÁRIA, E., BARCINA, I. & EGEA, L. 1995. Influence of bacterial density and water temperature on the grazing activity of two freshwater ciliates. *Freshwater Biology*, 33, 223-231.
- IRIBERRI, J., AZUA, I., LABIRUA-ITURBURU, A., ARTOLOZAGA, I. & BARCINA, I. 1994. Differential elimination of enteric bacteria by protists in a freshwater system. *J Appl Bacteriol*, 77, 476-83.
- ISHIDA, M., AIHARA, M., ALLEN, R. & FOK, A. 1997. Acidification of the young phagosomes of *Paramecium* is mediated by proton pumps derived from the acidosomes. *Protoplasma*, 196, 12-20.
- ISHIDA, M., ALLEN, R. D. & FOK, A. K. 2001. Phagosome formation in *Paramecium*: roles of somatic and oral cilia and of solid particles as revealed by video microscopy. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 48, 640-646.
- JACOBS, M. E., DESOUZA, L. V., SAMARANAYAKE, H., PEARLMAN, R. E., SIU, K. W. & KLOBUTCHER, L. A. 2006. The *Tetrahymena thermophila* phagosome proteome. *Eukaryot Cell*, 5, 1990-2000.
- JAHRAUS, A., EGEBERG, M., HINNER, B., HABERMANN, A., SACKMAN, E., PRALLE, A., FAULSTICH, H., RYBIN, V., DEFACQUE, H. & GRIFFITHS, G. 2001. ATP-dependent membrane assembly of F-actin facilitates membrane fusion. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12, 155-70.
- JANSSEN, K.-P. & SCHLEICHER, M. 2001. *Dictyostelium discoideum*: a genetic model system for the study of professional phagocytes: Profilin, phosphoinositides and the Imp gene family in *Dictyostelium*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, 1525, 228-233.
- JENSEN, M. S. & BAINTON, D. F. 1973. Temporal changes in pH within the phagocytic vacuole of the polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leukocyte. *The Journal of cell biology*, 56, 379-388.
- JEZBERA, J., HORNAK, K. & ŠIMEK, K. 2005. Food selection by bacterivorous protists: insight from the analysis of the food vacuole content by means of fluorescence in situ hybridization. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 52, 351-63.
- JIANG, W., SAXENA, A., SONG, B., WARD, B. B., BEVERIDGE, T. J. & MYNENI, S. C. 2004. Elucidation of functional groups on gram-positive and gram-negative bacterial surfaces using infrared spectroscopy. *Langmuir*, 20, 11433-11442.
- JIANG, Y., OLIVER, P., DAVIES, K. E. & PLATT, N. 2006. Identification and characterization of murine SCARA5, a novel class A scavenger receptor that is expressed by populations of epithelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281, 11834-11845.

- JOHANNES, R. E. 1964. Phosphorus Excretion and Body Size in Marine Animals: Microzooplankton and Nutrient Regeneration. *Science*, 146, 923-4.
- JOHN, E. & DAVIDSON, K. 2001. Prey selectivity and the influence of prey carbon: nitrogen ratio on microflagellate grazing. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, 260, 93-111.
- JOHNSEN, H. L. & HORVITZ, H. R. 2016. Both the apoptotic suicide pathway and phagocytosis are required for a programmed cell death in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *BMC biology*, 14, 1.
- JONSSON, P. R. 1986. Particle size selection, feeding rates and growth dynamics of marine planktonic oligotrichous ciliates (Ciliophora: Oligotrichina). *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 33, 265-277.
- JÜRGENS, K. & DEMOTT, W. R. 1995. Behavioral flexibility in prey selection by bacterivorous nanoflagellates. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 40, 1503-1507.
- JÜRGENS, K., MASSANA, R. & KIRCHMAN, D. 2008. Protist grazing on marine bacterioplankton. *Microbial ecology of the oceans*, 2, 383-442.
- JÜRGENS, K. & MATZ, C. 2002. Predation as a shaping force for the phenotypic and genotypic composition of planktonic bacteria. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 81, 413-34.
- JÜRGENS, K. & ŠIMEK, K. 2000. Functional response and particle size selection of Halteria cf. grandinella, a common freshwater oligotrichous ciliate. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 22, 57-68.
- KANG, J. Y. & LEE, J.-O. 2011. Structural biology of the Toll-like receptor family. Annual review of biochemistry, 80, 917-941.
- KATSUI, N., TSUCHIDO, T., TAKANO, M. & SHIBASAKI, I. 1981. Effect of preincubation temperature on the heat resistance of *Escherichia coli* having different fatty acid compositions. *Microbiology*, 122, 357-361.
- KAWAI, E., AKATSUKA, H., IDEI, A., SHIBATANI, T. & OMORI, K. 1998. Serratia marcescens S-layer protein is secreted extracellularly via an ATP-binding cassette exporter, the Lip system. *Molecular microbiology*, 27, 941-952.
- KERRIGAN, A. M. & BROWN, G. D. 2010. Syk-coupled C-type lectin receptors that mediate cellular activation via single tyrosine based activation motifs. *Immunological reviews*, 234, 335-352.
- KHAN, N. & PANJWANI, N. Pathogenesis of Acanthamoeba keraritis: Carbohydratemediated recognition system and secretion of proteinases. FASEB JOURNAL, 2000. FEDERATION AMER SOC EXP BIOL 9650 ROCKVILLE PIKE, BETHESDA, MD 20814-3998 USA, A1546-A1546.
- KIMMANCE, S. A., ATKINSON, D. & MONTAGNES, D. J. 2006. Do temperature–food interactions matter? Responses of production and its components in the model heterotrophic flagellate *Oxyrrhis marina*. *Aquatic microbial ecology*, 42, 63-73.
- KING, C., FIELDS, B., SHOTTS, E. & WHITE, E. 1991. Effects of cytochalasin D and methylamine on intracellular growth of *Legionella pneumophila* in amoebae and human monocyte-like cells. *Infection and immunity*, 59, 758-763.
- KINK, J. A., MALEY, M. E., PRESTON, R. R., LING, K. Y., WALLEN-FRIEDMAN, M. A., SAIMI, Y. & KUNG, C. 1990. Mutations in paramecium calmodulin indicate functional differences between the C-terminal and N-terminal lobes in vivo. *Cell*, 62, 165-74.
- KLAAS, M. & CROCKER, P. R. 2012. Sialoadhesin in recognition of self and non-self. Semin Immunopathol, 34, 353-64.
- KLOBUTCHER, L. A., RAGKOUSI, K. & SETLOW, P. 2006. The *Bacillus subtilis* spore coat provides "eat resistance" during phagocytic predation by the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103, 165-170.
- KLONIS, N., TAN, O., JACKSON, K., GOLDBERG, D., KLEMBA, M. & TILLEY, L. 2007. Evaluation of pH during cytostomal endocytosis and vacuolar catabolism of haemoglobin in *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Biochemical Journal*, 407, 343-354.

- KOBZIK, L. 1995. Lung macrophage uptake of unopsonized environmental particulates. Role of scavenger-type receptors. *The Journal of Immunology*, 155, 367-376.
- KODAMA, Y. & FUJISHIMA, M. 2005. Symbiotic Chlorella sp. of the ciliate Paramecium bursaria do not prevent acidification and lysosomal fusion of host digestive vacuoles during infection. *Protoplasma*, 225, 191-203.
- KOTIRANTA, A., HAAPASALO, M., KARI, K., KEROSUO, E., OLSEN, I., SORSA, T., MEURMAN, J. H. & LOUNATMAA, K. 1998. Surface structure, hydrophobicity, phagocytosis, and adherence to matrix proteins of *Bacillus cereus* cells with and without the crystalline surface protein layer. *Infection and immunity*, 66, 4895-4902.
- KOVAL, S. & HYNES, S. 1991. Effect of paracrystalline protein surface layers on predation by *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus*. *Journal of bacteriology*, 173, 2244-2249.
- KOVAL, S. F. 1993. Predation on bacteria possessing S-layers. *Advances in Bacterial Paracrystalline Surface Layers.* Springer.
- KRIEGER, M. 1994. Structures and functions of multiligand lipoprotein receptors: macrophage scavenger receptors and LDL receptor-related protein (LRP). *Annual review of biochemistry*, 63, 601-637.
- LADENBURGER, E.-M. & PLATTNER, H. 2011. Calcium-release channels in *Paramecium*. Genomic expansion, differential positioning and partial transcriptional elimination. *PLoS One,* 6, e27111.
- LAMBERTSEN, L., STERNBERG, C. & MOLIN, S. 2004. Mini-Tn7 transposons for site-specific tagging of bacteria with fluorescent proteins. *Environmental microbiology*, 6, 726-732.
- LASKY, L. A., SINGER, M. S., YEDNOCK, T. A., DOWBENKO, D., FENNIE, C., RODRIGUEZ, H., NGUYEN, T., STACHEL, S. & ROSEN, S. D. 1989. Cloning of a lymphocyte homing receptor reveals a lectin domain. *Cell*, 56, 1045-1055.
- LAU, H. Y. & ASHBOLT, N. J. 2009. The role of biofilms and protozoa in *Legionella* pathogenesis: implications for drinking water. *J Appl Microbiol*, 107, 368-78.
- LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. 1984. A functional biology of free-living protozoa, Univ of California Press.
- LAYBOURN-PARRY, J., JAMES, M. R., MCKNIGHT, D. M., PRISCU, J., SPAULDING, S. A. & SHIEL, R. 1997. The microbial plankton of Lake Fryxell, southern Victoria Land, Antarctica during the summers of 1992 and 1994. *Polar Biology*, 17, 54-61.
- LEE, C.-Y., HERANT, M. & HEINRICH, V. 2011. Target-specific mechanics of phagocytosis: protrusive neutrophil response to zymosan differs from the uptake of antibody-tagged pathogens. *J Cell Sci*, 124, 1106-1114.
- LEE, J. W. 1942a. The effect of pH on food-vacuole formation in *Paramecium*. *Physiological Zoology*, 15, 459-465.
- LEE, J. W. 1942b. The effect of temperature on food-vacuole formation in *Paramecium. Physiological Zoology*, 15, 453-458.
- LEE, S., WISNIEWSKI, J. C., DENTLER, W. L. & ASAI, D. J. 1999. Gene knockouts reveal separate functions for two cytoplasmic dyneins in *Tetrahymena thermophila*. *Mol Biol Cell*, 10, 771-84.
- LI, C., XU, K. & LEI, Y. 2011. Growth and grazing responses to temperature and prey concentration of *Condylostoma spatiosum*, a large benthic ciliate, feeding on *Oxyrrhis marina*. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 64, 97-104.
- LIFSHITZ, Z., BURSTEIN, D., PEERI, M., ZUSMAN, T., SCHWARTZ, K., SHUMAN, H. A., PUPKO, T. & SEGAL, G. 2013. Computational modeling and experimental validation of the *Legionella* and *Coxiella* virulence-related type-IVB secretion signal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110, E707-E715.

- LISCHKE, B., WEITHOFF, G., WICKHAM, S. A., ATTERMEYER, K., GROSSART, H.-P., SCHARNWEBER, K., HILT, S. & GAEDKE, U. 2016. Large biomass of small feeders: ciliates may dominate herbivory in eutrophic lakes. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 38, 2-15.
- LOMAS, M. & GLIBERT, P. 1999. Interactions between NH+ 4 and NO- 3 uptake and assimilation: comparison of diatoms and dinoflagellates at several growth temperatures. *Marine Biology*, 133, 541-551.
- LÖNNBRO, P., NORDENFELT, P. & TAPPER, H. 2008. Isolation of bacteriacontaining phagosomes by magnetic selection. *BMC cell biology*, 9, 35.
- LU, Y., CAO, L., EGAMI, Y., KAWAI, K. & ARAKI, N. 2016. Cofilin contributes to phagocytosis of IgG-opsonized particles but not non-opsonized particles in RAW264 macrophages. *Microscopy*, 65, 233-242.
- LYNN, D. H. 2008. The ciliated protozoa: characterization, classification, and guide to the literature, Springer Science & Business Media.
- MANIAK, M. 2003. Fusion and Fission Events in the Endocytic Pathway of *Dictyostelium. Traffic,* 4, 1-5.
- MARÉE, A. F., KOMBA, M., FINEGOOD, D. T. & EDELSTEIN-KESHET, L. 2008. A quantitative comparison of rates of phagocytosis and digestion of apoptotic cells by macrophages from normal (BALB/c) and diabetes-prone (NOD) mice. *Journal of applied physiology*, 104, 157-169.
- MARTEL, C. M. 2006. Prey location, recognition and ingestion by the phagotrophic marine dinoflagellate *Oxyrrhis marina*. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 335, 210-220.
- MARTEL, C. M. 2009. Nitrogen-deficient microalgae are rich in cell-surface mannose: potential implications for prey biorecognition by phagotrophic protozoa. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 40, 86-89.
- MARTIN, J. P., FLECK, J., MOCK, M. & GHUYSEN, J. M. 1973. The wall peptidoglycans of *Neisseria perflava, Moraxella glucidolytica, Pseudomonas alcaligenes* and *Proteus vulgaris* strain P18. *The FEBS Journal*, 38, 301-306.
- MARTINEZ-POMARES, L. 2012. The mannose receptor. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 92, 1177-1186.
- MATSUO, J., OGURI, S., NAKAMURA, S., HANAWA, T., FUKUMOTO, T., HAYASHI, Y., KAWAGUCHI, K., MIZUTANI, Y., YAO, T. & AKIZAWA, K. 2010. Ciliates rapidly enhance the frequency of conjugation between *Escherichia coli* strains through bacterial accumulation in vesicles. *Research in microbiology*, 161, 711-719.
- MATZ, C., BOENIGK, J., ARNDT, H. & JÜRGENS, K. 2002. Role of bacterial phenotypic traits in selective feeding of the heterotrophic nanoflagellate *Spumella* sp. *Aquatic microbial ecology*, 27, 137-148.
- MATZ, C. & JÜRGENS, K. 2001. Effects of hydrophobic and electrostatic cell surface properties of bacteria on feeding rates of heterotrophic nanoflagellates. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 67, 814-820.
- MATZ, C. & JÜRGENS, K. 2003. Interaction of nutrient limitation and protozoan grazing determines the phenotypic structure of a bacterial community. *Microb Ecol*, 45, 384-98.
- MATZ, C. & JÜRGENS, K. 2005. High motility reduces grazing mortality of planktonic bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol,* 71, 921-9.
- MAY, R. C. & MACHESKY, L. M. 2001. Phagocytosis and the actin cytoskeleton. *Journal of cell science*, 114, 1061-1077.
- MCCARREN, J. & BRAHAMSHA, B. 2007. SwmB, a 1.12-megadalton protein that is required for nonflagellar swimming motility in *Synechococcus. Journal of bacteriology*, 189, 1158-1162.
- MCCARREN, J., HEUSER, J., ROTH, R., YAMADA, N., MARTONE, M. & BRAHAMSHA, B. 2005. Inactivation of swmA results in the loss of an outer cell

layer in a swimming *Synechococcus* strain. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 187, 224-230.

- MEANS, T. K., MYLONAKIS, E., TAMPAKAKIS, E., COLVIN, R. A., SEUNG, E., PUCKETT, L., TAI, M. F., STEWART, C. R., PUKKILA-WORLEY, R. & HICKMAN, S. E. 2009. Evolutionarily conserved recognition and innate immunity to fungal pathogens by the scavenger receptors SCARF1 and CD36. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206, 637-653.
- MEDIE, F. M., SALAH, I. B., HENRISSAT, B., RAOULT, D. & DRANCOURT, M. 2011. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex mycobacteria as amoeba-resistant organisms. *PLoS One*, 6, e20499.
- MEDINA, G., FLORES-MARTIN, S., FONSECA, B., OTTH, C. & FERNANDEZ, H. 2014. Mechanisms associated with phagocytosis of *Arcobacter butzleri* by *Acanthamoeba castellanii. Parasitology research*, 113, 1933-1942.
- MEENA, L. S. 2010. Survival mechanisms of pathogenic *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37Rv. *The FEBS journal*, 277, 2416-2427.
- MESSNER, P. & SLEYTR, U. B. 1991. Bacterial surface layer glycoproteins. *Glycobiology*, 1, 545-551.
- MIEEN, H. B. 1963. Soil Protozoa and Earthworm Nutrition. Soil Science, 95, 407-409.
- MIRELMAN, D., ALTMANN, G. & ESHDAT, Y. 1980. Screening of bacterial isolates for mannose-specific lectin activity by agglutination of yeasts. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 11, 328-331.
- MITCHELL, J. A., FITZGERALD, K. A., COYLE, A., SILVERMAN, N. & CARTWRIGHT, N. 2006. TOLLing away in Brazil. Nature Publishing Group.
- MITCHISON, T. J. & CRAMER, L. P. 1996. Actin-based cell motility and cell locomotion. *Cell*, 84, 371-9.
- MITRA, B. N., YASUDA, T., KOBAYASHI, S., SAITO-NAKANO, Y. & NOZAKI, T. 2005. Differences in morphology of phagosomes and kinetics of acidification and degradation in phagosomes between the pathogenic *Entamoeba histolytica* and the non-pathogenic *Entamoeba dispar*. *Cytoskeleton*, 62, 84-99.
- MOLMERET, M., HORN, M., WAGNER, M., SANTIC, M. & ABU KWAIK, Y. 2005. Amoebae as training grounds for intracellular bacterial pathogens. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 71, 20-8.
- MONGER, B. & LANDRY, M. 1990. Direct-interception feeding by marine zooflagellates: the importance of surface and hydrodynamic forces. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 123-140.
- MONGER, B. & LANDRY, M. 1991. Prey-size dependency of grazing by free-living marine flagellates. *Marine ecology progress series*, 239-248.
- MONGER, B. C., LANDRY, M. R. & BROWN, S. L. 1999. Feeding selection of heterotrophic marine nanoflagellates based on the surface hydrophobicity of their picoplankton prey. *Limnology and oceanography*, 44, 1917-1927.
- MONTAGNES, D., ROBERTS, E., LUKEŠ, J. & LOWE, C. 2012. The rise of model protozoa. *Trends in microbiology*, 20, 184-191.
- MONTÁGNES, D. J., BARBOSA, A. B., BOENIGK, J., DAVIDSON, K., JÜRGENS, K., MACEK, M., PARRY, J. D., ROBERTS, E. C. & ŠIMEK, K. 2008. Selective feeding behaviour of key free-living protists: avenues for continued study. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 53, 83-98.
- MONTAGNES, D. J. & FRANKLIN, M. 2001. Effect of temperature on diatom volume, growth rate, and carbon and nitrogen content: reconsidering some paradigms. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 46, 2008-2018.
- MONTAGNES, D. J., KIMMANCE, S. A. & ATKINSON, D. 2003. Using Q10: can growth rates increase linearly with temperature? *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 32, 307-313.
- MUELLER, M., RÖHLICH, P. & TÖRÖ, I. 1965. Studies on feeding and digestion in protozoa. VII. Ingestion of polystyrene latex particles and its early effect on acid

phosphatase in *Paramecium* multimicronucleatum and *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. *The Journal of Protozoology*, 12, 27-34.

- MÜLLER, H. & GELLER, W. 1993. Maximum growth rates of aquatic ciliated protozoa: the dependence on body size and temperature reconsidered. *Archiv fur Hydrobiologie*, 126, 315-315.
- MULLER, M. & TÖRÖ, I. 1962. Studies on feeding and digestion in protozoa. III. Acid phosphatase activity in food vacuoles of *Paramecium multimicronucleatum*. *The Journal of Protozoology*, 9, 98-102.
- MULLER, W. A., STEINMAN, R. M. & COHN, Z. A. 1980a. The membrane proteins of the vacuolar system I. Analysis of a novel method of intralysosomal iodination. *The Journal of cell biology*, 86, 292-303.
- MULLER, W. A., STEINMAN, R. M. & COHN, Z. A. 1980b. The membrane proteins of the vacuolar system. II. Bidirectional flow between secondary lysosomes and plasma membrane. *The Journal of cell biology*, 86, 304-314.
- NAGAI, H. & KUBORI, T. 2011. Type IVB secretion systems of Legionella and other Gram-negative bacteria. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2.
- NAGATA, T. & KIRCHMAN, D. L. 1992. Release of macromolecular organic complexes by heterotrophic marine flagellates. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 83, 233-240.
- NEWSOME, A. L., BAKER, R. L., MILLER, R. D. & ARNOLD, R. R. 1985. Interactions between *Naegleria fowleri* and *Legionella pneumophila*. *Infect Immun*, 50, 449-52.
- NILSSON, J. R. 1972. Further studies on vacuole formation in Tetrahymena pyriformis *GL*., Cr Trav Lab Carlsberg.
- NILSSON, J. R. 1977. On food vacuoles in *Tetrahymena pyriformis* GL. *The Journal of Protozoology*, 24, 502-507.
- NILSSON, J. R. 1979. Phagotrophy in *Tetrahymena*. *Biochemistry and physiology of protozoa*, 2, 339-379.
- NISHI, T. & FORGAC, M. 2002. The vacuolar (H+)-ATPases--nature's most versatile proton pumps. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 3, 94-103.
- OH, Y.-K. & SWANSON, J. A. 1996. Different fates of phagocytosed particles after delivery into macrophage lysosomes. *The Journal of cell biology*, 132, 585-593.
- PACE, M. L. & BAILIFF, M. D. 1987. Evaluation of a fluorescent microsphere technique for measuring grazing rates of phagotrophic microorganisms. *Marine ecology progress series. Oldendorf*, 40, 185-193.
- PALECANDA, A., PAULAUSKIS, J., AL-MUTAIRI, E., IMRICH, A., QIN, G., SUZUKI, H., KODAMA, T., TRYGGVASON, K., KOZIEL, H. & KOBZIK, L. 1999. Role of the scavenger receptor MARCO in alveolar macrophage binding of unopsonized environmental particles. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 189, 1497-1506.
- PAROD, R. J. & BRAIN, J. D. 1983. Uptake of latex particles by macrophages: characterization using flow cytometry. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 245, C220-C226.
- PARRY, J. D., HEATON, K., DRINKALL, J. & JONES, H. L. J. 2001. Feasibility of using GFP-expressing *Escherichia coli*, coupled with fluorimetry, to determine protozoan ingestion rates. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 35, 11-17.
- PATEL, P. C. & HARRISON, R. E. 2008. Membrane ruffles capture C3bi-opsonized particles in activated macrophages. *Molecular biology of the cell*, 19, 4628-4639.
- PATTERSON, D. J. 1996. *Free-living freshwater protozoa: a colour guide,* United States, Manson Publishing LTD.
- PATTERSON, D. J., NYGAARD, K., STEINBERG, G. & TURLEY, C. M. 1993. Heterotrophic flagellates and other protists associated with oceanic detritus throughout the water column in the mid North Atlantic. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 73, 67-95.

- PAUWELS, A.-M., TROST, M., BEYAERT, R. & HOFFMANN, E. 2017. Patterns, Receptors, and Signals: Regulation of Phagosome Maturation. *Trends in Immunology*.
- PAYNE, N. R. & HORWITZ, M. A. 1987. Phagocytosis of *Legionella pneumophila* is mediated by human monocyte complement receptors. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 166, 1377-1389.
- PEISER, L., MAKEPEACE, K., PLÜDDEMANN, A., SAVINO, S., WRIGHT, J. C., PIZZA, M., RAPPUOLI, R., MOXON, E. R. & GORDON, S. 2006. Identification of *Neisseria meningitidis* nonlipopolysaccharide ligands for class A macrophage scavenger receptor by using a novel assay. *Infection and immunity*, 74, 5191-5199.
- PERUŃ, A., BIEDROŃ, R., KONOPIŃSKI, M. K., BIAŁECKA, A., MARCINKIEWICZ, J. & JÓZEFOWSKI, S. 2016. Phagocytosis of live versus killed or fluorescently labeled bacteria by macrophages differ in both magnitude and receptor specificity. *Immunology and cell biology*.
- PHILIPS, J. A., RUBIN, E. J. & PERRIMON, N. 2005. Drosophila RNAi screen reveals CD36 family member required for mycobacterial infection. *Science*, 309, 1251-1253.
- PICKUP, Z. L., PICKUP, R. & PARRY, J. D. 2007a. A comparison of the growth and starvation responses of *Acanthamoeba castellanii* and *Hartmannella vermiformis* in the presence of suspended and attached *Escherichia coli* K12. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 59, 556-63.
- PICKUP, Z. L., PICKUP, R. & PARRY, J. D. 2007b. Effects of bacterial prey species and their concentration on growth of the amoebae *Acanthamoeba castellanii* and *Hartmannella vermiformis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 73, 2631-4.
- PICKUP, Z. L., PICKUP, R. & PARRY, J. D. 2007c. Growth of Acanthamoeba castellanii and Hartmannella vermiformis on live, heat-killed and DTAF-stained bacterial prey. FEMS Microbiol Ecol, 61, 264-72.
- PIRT, S. 1965. The maintenance energy of bacteria in growing cultures. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 163, 224-231.
- PITT, A., MAYORGA, L. S., STAHL, P. D. & SCHWARTZ, A. L. 1992. Alterations in the protein composition of maturing phagosomes. *J Clin Invest*, 90, 1978-83.
- PLATT, N., DA SILVA, R. P. & GORDON, S. 1998. Recognizing death: the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 8, 365-372.
- PLATT, N. & GORDON, S. 1998. Scavenger receptors: diverse activities and promiscuous binding of polyanionic ligands. *Chemistry & biology*, 5, R193-R203.
- PLATTNER, H. 2015. Calcium signalling in the ciliated protozoan model, Paramecium: Strict signal localisation by epigenetically controlled positioning of different Ca 2+-channels. *Cell calcium*, 57, 203-213.
- PORTER, K. G. & FEIG, Y. S. 1980. The use of DAPI for identifying and counting aquatic microflora. *Limnology and oceanography*, 25, 943-948.
- POUDYAL, N., BARAL, R., GYAWALI, N., GURUNG, R. & AMATYA, R. 2011. Intestinal infection with multiple parasites including *Balantidium coli*. *Health Renaissance*, 9, 45-46.
- PREER JR, J. The hereditary symbionts of *Paramecium aurelia*. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology, 1975. 125-144.
- RABINOVITCH, M. 1995. Professional and non-professional phagocytes: an introduction. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 5, 85-87.
- RAGHU NADHANAN, R. & THOMAS, C. J. 2014. Colpoda secrete viable Listeria monocytogenes within faecal pellets. Environ Microbiol, 16, 396-404.
- RASMUSSEN, L. 1976. Nutrient uptake in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. Carlsberg Research Communications, 41, 143-167.

- RASMUSSEN, L. & MODEWEG-HANSEN, L. 1973. Cell multiplication in *Tetrahymena* cultures after addition of particulate material. *Journal of cell science*, 12, 275-286.
- RESTREPO, S., ENCISO, J., TABIMA, J. & RIAÑO-PACHÓN, D. M. 2016. Evolutionary history of the group formerly known as protists using a phylogenomics approach. *Revista de la Academia Colombiana de Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Naturales,* 40, 147-160.
- RIBBLETT, S. G., PALMER, M. A. & WAYNE COATS, D. 2005. The importance of bacterivorous protists in the decomposition of stream leaf litter. *Freshwater Biology*, 50, 516-526.
- RICHARDS, D. M. & ENDRES, R. G. 2014. The mechanism of phagocytosis: two stages of engulfment. *Biophysical journal*, 107, 1542-1553.
- RICKETTS, T. & RAPPITT, A. F. 1976. Endocytosis, digestive vacuolar movement and exocytosis on refeeding starved *Tetrahymena pyriformis* GL-9. *Protoplasma*, 87, 221-236.
- RICKETTS, T. R. 1971. Periodicity of endocytosis in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. *Protoplasma*, 73, 387-396.
- RIVERA, F., RAMIREZ, E., BONILLA, P., CALDERON, A., GALLEGOS, E., RODRIGUEZ, S., ORTIZ, R., ZALDIVAR, B., RAMIREZ, P. & DURAN, A. 1993. Pathogenic and free-living amoebae isolated from swimming pools and physiotherapy tubs in Mexico. *Environ Res*, 62, 43-52.
- ROBERTŠ, E. C., ZÚBKOV, M. V., MARTIN-CERÉCÉDA, M., NOVARINO, G. & WOOTTON, E. C. 2006. Cell surface lectin-binding glycoconjugates on marine planktonic protists. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 265, 202-7.
- ROBERTS, R., BARBIERI, M., ULLRICH, J. & STAHL, P. 2000. Dynamics of rab5 activation in endocytosis and phagocytosis. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 68, 627-632.
- ROGERS, L. D. & FOSTER, L. J. 2008. Contributions of proteomics to understanding phagosome maturation. *Cell Microbiol*, 10, 1405-12.
- ROHR, U., WEBER, S., MICHEL, R., SELENKA, F. & WILHELM, M. 1998. Comparison of free-living amoebae in hot water systems of hospitals with isolates from moist sanitary areas by identifying genera and determining temperature tolerance. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 64, 1822-4.
- ROSE, J. M. & CARON, D. A. 2007. Does low temperature constrain the growth rates of heterotrophic protists? Evidence and implications for algal blooms in cold waters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52, 886-895.
- ROSE, J. M., VORA, N. M., COUNTWAY, P. D., GAST, R. J. & CARON, D. A. 2009. Effects of temperature on growth rate and gross growth efficiency of an Antarctic bacterivorous protist. *The ISME journal*, 3, 252-260.
- ROSENTHAL, R., BLUNDELL, J. & PERKINS, H. 1982. Strain-related differences in lysozyme sensitivity and extent of O-acetylation of gonococcal peptidoglycan. *Infection and immunity*, 37, 826-829.
- ROSER, M., FISCHER, D. & KISSEL, T. 1998. Surface-modified biodegradable albumin nano-and microspheres. II: effect of surface charges on in vitro phagocytosis and biodistribution in rats. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 46, 255-263.
- RUPPER, A., GROVE, B. & CARDELLI, J. 2001. Rab7 regulates phagosome maturation in *Dictyostelium. Journal of cell science*, 114, 2449-2460.
- SAIJO, S., FUJIKADO, N., FURUTA, T., SOO-HYUN, C., KOTAKI, H., SEKI, K., SUDO, K., AKIRA, S., ADACHI, Y. & OHNO, N. 2007. Dectin-1 is required for host defense against Pneumocystis carinii but not against *Candida albicans*. *Nature immunology*, 8, 39.
- SALIBA, K. J., ALLEN, R. J., ZISSIS, S., BRAY, P. G., WARD, S. A. & KIRK, K. 2003. Acidification of the malaria parasite's digestive vacuole by a H+-ATPase and a H+-pyrophosphatase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278, 5605-5612.

- SANO, T., MURAMATSU, N. & KONDO, T. 1986. Phagocytosis of microcapsules by guinea-pig polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *Journal of microencapsulation*, 3, 265-273.
- SÁRA, M. & SLEYTR, U. B. 2000. S-layer proteins. *Journal of bacteriology*, 182, 859-868.
- SARAIVA, E., ANDRADE, A. & DE SOUZA, W. 1987. Involvement of the macrophage mannose-6-phosphate receptor in the recognition of *Leishmania mexicana amazonensis*. *Parasitology research*, 73, 411-416.
- SATTLER, N. 2012. Role of the scavenger receptor class B members LmpA, LmpB and LmpC during phagocytosis and phagosome maturation. University of Geneva.
- SCHLIMME, W., MARCHIANI, M., HANSELMANN, K. & JENNI, B. 1997. Gene transfer between bacteria within digestive vacuoles of protozoa. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 23, 239-247.
- SCHUSTER, F. & POLLAK, A. 1978. Ultrastructure of Cercomonas sp., a free-living ameboid flagellate. *Archiv für Protistenkunde*, 120, 206IN1-212IN4.
- SCOTT, J. R. & BARNETT, T. C. 2006. Surface proteins of gram-positive bacteria and how they get there. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, 60, 397-423.
- SHANNON, S. P., CHRZANOWSKI, T. H. & GROVER, J. P. 2007. Prey food quality affects flagellate ingestion rates. *Microb Ecol*, 53, 66-73.
- SHEPHERD, V., FREEZE, H., MILLER, A. & STAHL, P. 1984. Identification of mannose 6-phosphate receptors in rabbit alveolar macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 259, 2257-2261.
- SHERR, B. F., SHERR, E. B. & BERMAN, T. 1983. Grazing, growth, and ammonium excretion rates of a heterotrophic microflagellate fed with four species of bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 45, 1196-201.
- SHERR, B. F., SHERR, E. B. & FALLON, R. D. 1987. Use of monodispersed, fluorescently labeled bacteria to estimate in situ protozoan bacterivory. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 53, 958-65.
- SHERR, B. F., SHERR, E. B. & MCDANIEL, J. 1992. Effect of protistan grazing on the frequency of dividing cells in bacterioplankton assemblages. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 58, 2381-2385.
- SHERR, B. F., SHERR, E. B. & PEDROS-ALIO, C. 1989. Simultaneous measurement of bacterio-plankton production and protozoan bacterivory in estuarine water. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 54, 209-219.
- SHERR, B. F., SHERR, E. B. & RASSOULZADEGAN, F. 1988. Rates of digestion of bacteria by marine phagotrophic protozoa: temperature dependence. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 54, 1091-5.
- SHERR, E. B. & SHERR, B. F. 1994. Bacterivory and herbivory: Key roles of phagotrophic protists in pelagic food webs. *Microb Ecol,* 28, 223-35.
- SHERR, E. B., SHERR, B. F. & MCDANIEL, J. 1991. Clearance rates of < 6 mu m fluorescently labeled algae(FLA) by estuarine protozoa: Potential grazing impact of flagellates and ciliates. *Marine ecology progress series. Oldendorf*, 69, 81-92.
- SHIMAOKA, T., NAKAYAMA, T., KUME, N., TAKAHASHI, S., YAMAGUCHI, J., MINAMI, M., HAYASHIDA, K., KITA, T., OHSUMI, J. & YOSHIE, O. 2003. Cutting edge: SR-PSOX/CXC chemokine ligand 16 mediates bacterial phagocytosis by APCs through its chemokine domain. *The Journal of Immunology*, 171, 1647-1651.
- SIEBURTH, J. M. 1984. Protozoan bacterivory in pelagic marine waters. *Heterotrophic activity in the sea.* Springer.
- SILHAVY, T. J., KAHNE, D. & WALKER, S. 2010. The bacterial cell envelope. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 2, a000414.
- SILVERSTEIN, R. L. & FEBBRAIO, M. 2009. CD36, a scavenger receptor involved in immunity, metabolism, angiogenesis, and behavior. *Science signaling*, 2, re3.

- SIMARRO, P. P., CECCHI, G., FRANCO, J. R., PAONE, M., DIARRA, A., RUIZ-POSTIGO, J. A., FEVRE, E. M., MATTIOLI, R. C. & JANNIN, J. G. 2012. Estimating and mapping the population at risk of sleeping sickness. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 6, e1859.
- ŠIMEK, K. & CHRZANOWSKI, T. H. 1992. Direct and indirect evidence of sizeselective grazing on pelagic bacteria by freshwater nanoflagellates. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 58, 3715-20.
- SIMKOVSKY, R., DANIELS, E. F., TANG, K., HUYNH, S. C., GOLDEN, S. S. & BRAHAMSHA, B. 2012. Impairment of O-antigen production confers resistance to grazing in a model amoeba–cyanobacterium predator–prey system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences,* 109, 16678-16683.
- SIMKOVSKY, R., EFFNER, E. E., IGLESIAS-SÁNCHEZ, M. J. & GOLDEN, S. S. 2016. Mutations in novel lipopolysaccharide biogenesis genes confer resistance to amoebal grazing in *Synechococcus elongatus*. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, AEM. 00135-16.
- SLEIGH, M. A. 1989. Protozoa and other protists, London, Edward Arnold.
- SMITH, C. D., BERK, S. G., BRANDL, M. T. & RILEY, L. W. 2012. Survival characteristics of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* pathotypes and *Helicobacter pylori* during passage through the free-living ciliate, *Tetrahymena* sp. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 82, 574-583.
- SMITH, H. E. 1982. Oral apparatus structure in the microstomal form of *Tetrahymena* vorax. *Transactions of the American Microscopical Society*, 36-58.
- SONI, K. A., BALASUBRAMANIAN, A. K., BESKOK, A. & PILLAI, S. D. 2008. Zeta potential of selected bacteria in drinking water when dead, starved, or exposed to minimal and rich culture media. *Current microbiology*, 56, 93-97.
- SOUZA, G. M., MEHTA, D. P., LAMMERTZ, M., RODRIGUEZ-PARIS, J., WU, R., CARDELLI, J. A. & FREEZE, H. H. 1997. *Dictyostelium* lysosomal proteins with different sugar modifications sort to functionally distinct compartments. *J Cell Sci*, 110 (Pt 18), 2239-48.
- STAHL, P. D. 1992. The mannose receptor and other macrophage lectins. *Current opinion in immunology*, 4, 49-52.
- STARINK, M., KRYLOVA, I. N., BÄR-GILISSEN, M.-J., BAK, R. P. & CAPPENBERG, T. E. 1994. Rates of benthic protozoan grazing on free and attached sediment bacteria measured with fluorescently stained sediment. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 60, 2259-2264.
- STRACHAN, I. 1980. Feeding and population ecology of Acanthocyclops bicuspidatus (sensu stricta)(claus) in Esthwaite water, Cumbria. University of Lancaster.
- STRAILE, D. 1997. Gross growth efficiencies of protozoan and metazoan zooplankton and their dependence on food concentration, predator-prey weight ratio, and taxonomic group. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 42, 1375-1385.
- STROM, S., BRIGHT, K., FREDRICKSON, K. & BRAHAMSHA, B. 2017. The Synechococcus cell surface protein SwmA increases vulnerability to predation by flagellates and ciliates. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 62, 784-794.
- STROM, S. L. 2001. Light-aided digestion, grazing and growth in herbivorous protists. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 23, 253-261.
- STROM, S. L., BRAHAMSHA, B., FREDRICKSON, K. A., APPLE, J. K. & RODRÍGUEZ, A. G. 2012. A giant cell surface protein in *Synechococcus* WH8102 inhibits feeding by a dinoflagellate predator. *Environmental microbiology*, 14, 807-816.
- STROM, S. L. & LOUKOS, H. 1998. Selective feeding by protozoa: model and experimental behaviors and their consequences for population stability. *Journal* of *Plankton Research*, 20, 831-846.
- STRYER, M. 1981. Biochemistry2nd edn, San Francisco
- W. H. Freeman & Co.

- STUART, L. M., DENG, J., SILVER, J. M., TAKAHASHI, K., TSENG, A. A., HENNESSY, E. J., EZEKOWITZ, R. A. B. & MOORE, K. J. 2005. Response to *Staphylococcus aureus* requires CD36-mediated phagocytosis triggered by the COOH-terminal cytoplasmic domain. *J Cell Biol*, 170, 477-485.
- STUART, L. M. & EZEKOWITZ, R. A. B. 2005. Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. *Immunity*, 22, 539-550.
- SUZUKI, Y., OHNISHI, K., HIRABAYASHI, T. & WATANABE, Y. 1982. *Tetrahymena calmodulin*. Characterization of an anti-tetrahymena calmodulin and the immunofluorescent localization in Tetrahymena. *Exp Cell Res*, 137, 1-14.
- SWANSON, J. A. & HOPPE, A. D. 2004. The coordination of signaling during Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 76, 1093-1103.
- SWANSON, M. & ISBERG, R. 1993. Formation of the Legionella pneumophila replicative phagosome. Infectious agents and disease, 2, 224.
- TARAO, M., JEZBERA, J. & HAHN, M. W. 2009. Involvement of cell surface structures in size-independent grazing resistance of freshwater *Actinobacteria*. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 75, 4720-4726.
- TAYLOR, P. R., GORDON, S. & MARTINEZ-POMARES, L. 2005a. The mannose receptor: linking homeostasis and immunity through sugar recognition. *Trends in immunology*, 26, 104-110.
- TAYLOR, P. R., MARTINEZ-POMARES, L., STACEY, M., LIN, H.-H., BROWN, G. D. & GORDON, S. 2005b. Macrophage receptors and immune recognition. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 23, 901-944.
- TAYLOR, W. D. 1977. Growth responses of ciliate protozoa to the abundance of their bacterial prey. *Microb Ecol,* 4, 207-14.
- THOMPSON, S. A. 2002. Campylobacter surface-layers (S-layers) and immune evasion. *Annals of periodontology*, 7, 43-53.
- THURMAN, J., DRINKALL, J. & PARRY, J. D. 2010a. Digestion of bacteria by the freshwater ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 60, 163-174.
- THURMAN, J., PARRY, J. D., HILL, P. J. & LAYBOURN-PARRY, J. 2010b. The filterfeeding ciliates Colpidium striatum and *Tetrahymena pyriformis* display selective feeding behaviours in the presence of mixed, equally-sized, bacterial prey. *Protist*, 161, 577-88.
- TJELLE, T. E., LØVDAL, T. & BERG, T. 2000. Phagosome dynamics and function. *Bioessays*, 22, 255-263.
- TWINING, B. S. & FISHER, N. S. 2004. Trophic transfer of trace metals from protozoa to mesozooplankton. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 49, 28-39.
- UNDERHILL, D. M. & GOODRIDGE, H. S. 2012. Information processing during phagocytosis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 12, 492-502.
- UYEMURA, M. 1936. Biological studies of thermal waters in Japan. *Ecological Review* Mount Hokkada Botanical Laboratory, 2, \ 1.
- VAN KESSEL, K. P., BESTEBROER, J. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. 2014. Neutrophilmediated phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Frontiers in immunology*, 5.
- VAN LOOSDRECHT, M., LYKLEMA, J., NORDE, W., SCHRAA, G. & ZEHNDER, A. 1987. The role of bacterial cell wall hydrophobicity in adhesion. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 53, 1893-1897.
- VAN OSS, C. 1978. Phagocytosis as a surface phenomenon. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 32, 19-39.
- VERNI, F. & GUALTIERI, P. 1997. Digestive process of the raptorial feeder ciliate Litonotus lamella (Rabdophora, Litostomatea) visualized by fluorescence microscopy. *Micron*, 28, 447-451.
- VIEIRA, O. V., BOTELHO, R. J. & GRINSTEIN, S. 2002. Phagosome maturation: aging gracefully. *Biochem J*, 366, 689-704.
- VIEIRA, Ö. V., BUCCI, C., HARRISON, R. E., TRIMBLE, W. S., LANZETTI, L., GRUENBERG, J., SCHREIBER, A. D., STAHL, P. D. & GRINSTEIN, S. 2003.

Modulation of Rab5 and Rab7 recruitment to phagosomes by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 23, 2501-2514.

- VINCENT, W. F. & JAMES, M. R. 1996. Biodiversity in extreme aquatic environments: Lakes, ponds and streams of the Ross Sea sector, Antarctica. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 5, 1451-1471.
- VISAI, L., SPEZIALE, P. & BOZZINI, S. 1990. Binding of collagens to an enterotoxigenic strain of *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and immunity*, 58, 449-455.
- VOGEL, G., THILO, L., SCHWARZ, H. & STEINHART, R. 1980. Mechanism of phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium discoideum*: phagocytosis is mediated by different recognition sites as disclosed by mutants with altered phagocytotic properties. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 86, 456-465.
- VOLLMER, W. 2008. Structural variation in the glycan strands of bacterial peptidoglycan. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 32, 287-306.
- VOLLMER, W., BLANOT, D. & DE PEDRO, M. A. 2008. Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 32, 149-167.
- VOLLMER, W. & TOMASZ, A. 2000. The pgdA gene encodes for a peptidoglycanNacetylglucosamine deacetylase in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 20496-20501.
- WANG, L., WANG, Q. & REEVES, P. R. 2010. The variation of O antigens in gramnegative bacteria. *Endotoxins: Structure, Function and Recognition.* Springer.
- WANG, Y. & GOREN, M. B. 1987. Differential and sequential delivery of fluorescent lysosomal probes into phagosomes in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *The Journal of cell biology*, 104, 1749-1754.
- WATANABE, Y. K., TAMOTSU, MIYAMOTO, M. & SASAKAWA, S. 1984. Interactions of microcapsules with human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *Chemical and pharmaceutical bulletin*, 32, 2788-2794.
- WEISSE, T., KARSTENS, N., MEYER, V. C., JANKE, L., LETTNER, S. & TEICHGRÄBER, K. 2001. Niche separation in common prostome freshwater ciliates: the effect of food and temperature. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 26, 167-179.
- WEISSE, T., STADLER, P., LINDSTRÖM, E. S., KIMMANCE, S. A. & MONTAGNES, D. J. 2002. Interactive effect of temperature and food concentration on growth rate: a test case using the small freshwater ciliate Urotricha farcta. Limnology and Oceanography, 47, 1447-1455.
- WELBURN, S. C., FÈVRE, E. M., COLEMAN, P. G., ODIIT, M. & MAUDLIN, I. 2001. Sleeping sickness: a tale of two diseases. *Trends in parasitology*, 17, 19-24.
- WHITNACK, E., BISNO, A. & BEACHEY, E. 1981. Hyaluronate capsule prevents attachment of group A streptococci to mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Infection and immunity*, 31, 985-991.
- WHO 2015. World malaria report 2015, World Health Organization.
- WILDSCHUTTE, H., WOLFE, D. M., TAMEWITZ, A. & LAWRENCE, J. G. 2004. Protozoan predation, diversifying selection, and the evolution of antigenic diversity in *Salmonella*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 10644-10649.
- WILKS, S. A. & SLEIGH, M. A. 2004. Lectin binding sites on *Euplotes mutabilis* (Tuffrau, 1960) and the implications for food particle selection. *European journal of protistology*, 40, 153-162.
- WILLIAMS, N. E., TSAO, C. C., BOWEN, J., HEHMAN, G. L., WILLIAMS, R. J. & FRANKEL, J. 2006. The actin gene ACT1 is required for phagocytosis, motility, and cell separation of *Tetrahymena* thermophila. *Eukaryot Cell*, 5, 555-67.
- WINIECKA-KRUSNELL, J. & LINDER, E. 2001. Bacterial infections of free-living amoebae. *Research in Microbiology*, 152, 613-619.
- WOLF, A. J. & UNDERHILL, D. M. 2014. Phagocytosis. *Macrophages: Biology and Role in the Pathology of Diseases.* Springer.

- WOOTTON, E. C., ZUBKOV, M. V., JONES, D. H., JONES, R. H., MARTEL, C. M., THORNTON, C. A. & ROBERTS, E. C. 2007. Biochemical prey recognition by planktonic protozoa. *Environ Microbiol*, 9, 216-22.
- WRIGHT, C. S. 1984. Structural comparison of the two distinct sugar binding sites in wheat germ agglutinin isolectin II. *Journal of molecular biology*, 178, 91-104.
- WRIGHT, S. D. 1999. Toll, a new piece in the puzzle of innate immunity. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 189, 605-609.
- XINYAO, L., MIAO, S., YONGHONG, L., YIN, G., ZHONGKAI, Z., DONGHUI, W., WEIZHONG, W. & CHENCAI, A. 2006. Feeding characteristics of an amoeba (*Lobosea*: *Naegleria*) grazing upon cyanobacteria: food selection, ingestion and digestion progress. *Microb Ecol*, 51, 315-25.
- XU, L., SHEN, X., BRYAN, A., BANGA, S., SWANSON, M. S. & LUO, Z.-Q. 2010. Inhibition of host vacuolar H+-ATPase activity by a Legionella pneumophila effector. *PLoS pathogens*, 6, e1000822.
- YAMADA, T., MURAMATSU, N. & KONDO, T. 1993. Phagocytosis of monosaccharide-binding latex particles by guinea-pig polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition,* 4, 347-355.
- YATES, R. M., HERMETTER, A. & RUSSELL, D. G. 2005. The kinetics of phagosome maturation as a function of phagosome/lysosome fusion and acquisition of hydrolytic activity. *Traffic,* 6, 413-20.
- YOO, Y. D., JEONG, H. J., KANG, N. S., SONG, J. Y., KIM, K. Y., LEE, G. & KIM, J. 2010. Feeding by the newly described mixotrophic dinoflagellate *Paragymnodinium shiwhaense*: feeding mechanism, prey species, and effect of prey concentration. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 57, 145-158.
- ZANI, I. A., STEPHEN, S. L., MUGHAL, N. A., RUSSELL, D., HOMER-VANNIASINKAM, S., WHEATCROFT, S. B. & PONNAMBALAM, S. 2015. Scavenger receptor structure and function in health and disease. *Cells*, 4, 178-201.
- ZHANG, F., SOUTHWICK, F. S. & PURICH, D. L. 2002. Actin-based phagosome motility. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 53, 81-8.
- ZHAO, X., LIU, L., HEGAZY, A. M., WANG, H., LI, J., ZHENG, F., ZHOU, Y., WANG, W., LI, J. & LIU, X. 2015. Mannose receptor mediated phagocytosis of bacteria in macrophages of blunt snout bream (*Megalobrama amblycephala*) in a Ca 2+dependent manner. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 43, 357-363.
- ZIPPERLE JR, G. F., EZZELL JR, J. W. & DOYLE, R. J. 1984. Glucosamine substitution and muramidase susceptibility in *Bacillus anthracis*. *Canadian journal of microbiology*, 30, 553-559.
- ZITA, A. & HERMANSSON, M. 1997a. Determination of bacterial cell surface hydrophobicity of single cells in cultures and in wastewater in situ. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 152, 299-306.
- ZITA, A. & HERMANSSON, M. 1997b. Effects of bacterial cell surface structures and hydrophobicity on attachment to activated sludge flocs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63, 1168.
- ZUBKOV, M. & SLEIGH, M. 1999. Growth of amoebae and flagellates on bacteria deposited on filters. *Microbial ecology*, 37, 107-115.
- ZWIRGLMAIER, K., SPENCE, E., ZUBKOV, M. V., SCANLAN, D. J. & MANN, N. H. 2009. Differential grazing of two heterotrophic nanoflagellates on marine Synechococcus strains. Environmental microbiology, 11, 1767-1776.